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1 PERFORMANCE REPORT 
 

The purpose of this section of the Annual Report is to provide a summary of the 
purpose and activities of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust 
(BSUH), the Trust’s priorities and objectives for 2020/21, the key risks to achieving 
these objectives and how we have performed in relation to these during the year. 

1.1 Welcome from Chief Executive and Chair  
For all of us, 2020/21 has been a year like no other. The far-reaching impacts of the 
pandemic have spread like the virus itself, affecting almost every aspect of our 
personal and professional lives. 

The coronavirus crisis has been testing, tiring and at times traumatic, particularly for 
the thousands of people working in our hospitals. 

Covid-19 is a vicious illness. Struggling to breathe is a horrific symptom. More than 
20% people admitted to hospital with the disease die. 

The tragedy of their loss is particularly difficult for families who cannot spend as 
much time as they would wish with their loved one because the virus is so 
contagious. 

Staff too must contend with the trauma of such high mortality and bear the burden of 
being the patient’s only contact and comfort as their symptoms worsen.  

Our teams have cared for the most severely unwell patients from behind an 
impersonal veil of protective equipment that masks smiles, makes every task more 
difficult and communication harder. 

At the same time, around 10% of our workforce contracted Covid-19. Many continue 
to experience debilitating symptoms associated with Long Covid and the toll on 
mental health and wellbeing has proved high.  

Despite this, the dedication shown by our staff throughout the year has been truly 
exceptional.  

Their response to the crisis has been incredible and we are extraordinarily proud of 
everything they have achieved.  

We must remember, pandemic pressures at work have not been experienced by 
staff in isolation. They are compounded by legitimate concerns we have all carried 
for our family and friends this past year. 

The virus separated us from our loved ones, support networks and all the social 
activities that help boost our wellbeing.  

COVID brought us much closer together 

While Covid forced us apart as never before, professionally it has also brought us 
much closer together. 
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Indeed, as we draw these reflections, we are writing as chief executive and chairman 
not of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals (BSUH) but University Hospitals 
Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, created on 1 April 2021. 

It was the Covid crisis, and the closer collaboration and team-working it 
necessitated, that ultimately convinced us to pursue a merger with Western Sussex 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT). 

After nearly four years of shared leadership, our joint response to the emergence of 
a highly infectious novel coronavirus made clear the benefits of drawing on the best 
of both Trusts.  

Colleagues, teams and departments from BSUH and WSHFT rallied together to 
expand our wealth of expertise and do battle with the virus 

The crisis showcased what our staff excel at; an unwavering commitment to patient 
care, resilience, adaptability, teamwork and, in particular, innovation. 

In just a few short weeks, the layout of our hospitals was transformed into Covid red 
and green areas as we introduced stringent new infection control measures. 

Every service reassessed the way patients accessed care and adapted their working 
practices as we learned more and more about the disease and its transmission. 

We rapidly developed new procurement and supply functions, developed workforce 
hubs to redeploy staff and introduced virtual consultations for hundreds of thousands 
of patients. 

All this was achieved in a matter of weeks as wave one struck, peaking in mid-April 
2020.  

A set of fresh challenges 

These important measures to keep our patients and staff safe need to stay in place 
as long as Covid-19 is circulating in our communities. 

This, in turn, presents its own set of fresh challenges. In response to a national 
directive, all non-urgent hospital activity was paused during wave one, causing 
waiting lists to increase dramatically. 

As the summer months returned to us a sense of normality, our greatest concern 
was for the thousands of people whose care had been disrupted in the preceding 
months. 

The scale of the challenge was, and continues to be, unprecedented.  

Long waiting lists are made worse by infection prevention protocols that reduce how 
many patients we can see at the very time we need to expand capacity. 

As the country ate out to help out in August 2020, we continued to draw on the 
expertise of our people to deliver care in new ways to ensure we could see as many 
people as safely as possible. 
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More than 162,000 virtual appointments were held for outpatients, therapies and 
fracture clinics and ‘virtual waiting rooms’ were set up to reduce the need for patients 
to attend hospital in person. 

By October, thanks to the incredible resilience and ingenuity of our staff we were 
back to providing more than 90% of our pre-Covid hospital activity. 

The threat of winter loomed large, however, and concerns about a second wave 
were soon realised as a new variant, first detected in Kent, began to ravage 
communities in Sussex. 

The second wave 

Hospital admissions climbed sharply and in January 2021 they peaked at more than 
double what we had experienced in the first wave.  

As the country locked down for a third time and Covid cases exploded, the teamwork 
and ingenuity of our staff brought us back from the brink. 

We expanded critical care departments and converted dozens of wards into new 
isolation areas for infectious patients. 

Hundreds of staff worked additional shifts or were redeployed into new areas and 
departments to assist wherever the need was greatest.  

For example, colleagues from paediatrics, outpatients and therapies supported staff 
in critical care, A&E and inpatient wards.  

We also saw colleagues from all over the organisation helping set up and run our 
vaccination hubs and some staff even returning to practice from retirement to assist 
in the Trust’s response.  

The hubs were incredible, providing a much-needed dose of optimism at an 
incredibly bleak time.  

Tragically, many more patients lost their lives during the second wave - again, in 
very difficult circumstances for them, their families and our staff. 

The cruelty of Covid will be its legacy. But so too will be the disruption and delay the 
pandemic has caused to the care of hundreds of thousands of people in need of 
non-Covid hospital services.  

While urgent treatment, trauma and cancer care continued, many so called ‘less 
urgent’ procedures were postponed – but, for all those waiting, we know their health 
remains a most urgent concern. 

Addressing their needs is now our first priority. The challenge, however, is immense. 
For every hospital in the country, waiting lists have never been longer and demand 
continues to rise. 

Our staff are exhausted and emotionally drained. But the creation of our new 
organisation gives us fresh impetus to put our patients first and innovate in order to 
meet the challenge head on. 
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We are drawing on the best from both legacy Trusts and bringing together our 
clinical teams to problem-test and devise fresh solutions.  

Their ingenuity was key to our Covid response and it remains pivotal to our recovery. 
Our 20,000 staff are our greatest asset.  

We are confident that their exemplary commitment to clinical excellence showcased 
throughout 2020/21 will ensure University Hospitals Sussex recovers services for 
patients as swiftly as possible. 

 

 
Dame Marianne Griffiths       Alan McCarthy MBE DL                  
Chief Executive     Chair 
Date   18 June 2021    Date 18 June 2021 
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1.2 UHSussex: Becoming One Trust 
 

In April 2021 after a long period of collaborative working, Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) merged with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (WSHFT) to form University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation 
Trust (UHSussex).  

The Trust is one of the largest in the country, providing hospital services from five 
main locations including Brighton, Haywards Heath, Worthing, Shoreham and 
Chichester. University Hospitals Sussex employs around 20,000 staff, caring for 1.8 
million people in Sussex, with a budget of £1.2 billion. 

 

1.3 About the Trust 
Prior to our merger with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on 1 April 
2021, Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) was an acute 
teaching hospital Trust working across four hospitals on two main sites, as well as 
providing services from a number of satellite sites.  

• Royal Sussex County Hospital, Brighton (RSCH) 
• Princess Royal Hospital, Haywards Heath (PRH) 
• Sussex Eye Hospital, Brighton 
• Royal Alexandra Children’s Hospital, Brighton 

We provided District General Hospital services to our local populations in and around 
Brighton and Hove, Mid Sussex and the western part of East Sussex and more 
specialised and tertiary services for patients from across Sussex and the south east 
of England.  

The 3Ts hospital redevelopment project is currently underway at Brighton which will 
provide state-of-the-art accommodation for more than 40 wards and departments 
upon completion. The three-stage project will improve patient experience across its 
services and will support the Trust’s roles as a district general hospital, specialist 
tertiary centre, teaching hub and major trauma centre. 

The Royal Sussex County Hospital is our centre for emergency and tertiary care, 
providing specialist and tertiary services include neurosciences, arterial vascular 
surgery, neonatal, paediatrics, cardiac, cancer, renal, infectious diseases and HIV 
medicine.  

The Princess Royal Hospital has a 24/7 Emergency Department for its local 
population and is also our centre for elective surgery.  

The Trust also provides services from satellite sites across Sussex, including 
Brighton General Hospital, Hove Polyclinic, Lewes Victoria Hospital, the Park Centre 
for Breast Care and a renal dialysis satellite services in Bexhill, East Sussex.  

Central to our ambition is our role as an academic centre, provider of high-quality 
teaching, and a host hospital for cutting edge research and innovation. We work in 
partnership with Brighton and Sussex Medical School, Health Education England, 
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Kent, Surrey and Sussex Postgraduate Deanery and the Universities of Brighton and 
Sussex. 

BSUH - a year in numbers 
 

• 8,873 Substantive staff members 
• 1,429 active bank staff 
• Around 412 volunteers 
• 514,194 Outpatient appointments  
• 162,382 Virtual appointments 
• 98,977 Inpatients treated 
• 153, 725 A&E attendances  
• 17,624 Children’s A&E attendances  
• 4,769 Babies delivered 

COVID-19  
 
2020-2021 was a year like no other. The latter part of the 2019 -20 financial year 
was spent preparing for the pandemic which required our hospitals to rapidly 
reconfigure its provision in order to respond to the crisis.  

Our preparation for Covid-19 started in January before the first positive case was 
announced on the 31st January 2020.  

We admitted our first Covid patient on 9 March 2020, just four days after the first 
death was announced in the UK. In response to growing community cases and 
increasing numbers of hospitalised patients, BSUH rapidly:  

• stopped all non-emergency elective surgery  
• followed national guidance to discharge patients when ready  
• increased virtual appointments to keep people at home 
• increased critical care capacity after advice to “double and then double 

again” 
• secure 24/7 mental health provision to keep people out of A&E  
• divided our hospitals into “red” and “green” areas to treat Covid and non-

Covid patients separately  
• redeployed staff from halted services to support where needed and 

created the workforce hub to find and fill gaps.  

Elective surgeries were paused on 20th March 2020 as staff redeployed to Covid 
areas and made room for the surge in Covid patients.  

Electives were resumed over the summer period but paused again from 12th January 
2021 to prepare for the second wave.  

Overall, 17,960 elective and non-urgent operations were carried out over the course 
of the year compared to 30,232 completed in 2019-20. Despite a much higher surge 
in Covid patients during the second wave, our teams maintain more elective care 
during this period. 
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During December 2020 and January 2021 the number of patients we were treating 
with Covid-19 sharply increased to more than double that of the wave 1 peak. The 
Wave 1 peak was on the 8th April 2021 with 112 Covid patients in our hospitals. The 
Wave 2 peak was on 15th January 2021 with 256 Covid patients (including 45 in 
critical care). 

COVID in numbers 2020- 21 
 

• 2,014 COVID patients treated 
• 233 COVID patients cared for in intensive and critical care units  
• 1,543 COVID patients discharged/recovered (76.6%) 
• 440 COVID patients sadly died (21.8%) 
• 17,960 elective operations were performed in 2020-21 despite high COVID 

numbers 
• 162,382 virtual appointments held 

Vaccination 
 
On 8 December, 2020, The Royal Sussex County Hospital was selected as one of 
the first 50 Hospital Hubs in the country, administering the Pfizer vaccine to 
outpatients aged over 80 and colleagues at highest risk of catching Covid or 
developing complications from the virus.  

The event represented a turning point in the country’s pandemic response and 
journalists from Sky captured the event for national broadcast. 

As with the pandemic response, the set-up of the hospital hub brought together 
colleagues many different departments. Our teams created new clinical spaces, set 
up new IT systems, established new booking processes and developed new patient 
pathways. The team worked at speed to provide a safe, sustainable vaccination 
service, the model for which was adopted by partner organisations across the region. 

Colleagues and patients vaccinated on day one spoke of their relief to be gaining a 
level of protection from the virus and the positive step forward the vaccination 
programme represented.  

Four weeks later, the Princess Royal Hospital in Haywards Heath was among the 
first hospital hubs in the country to start administering the Oxford / AstraZeneca 
vaccine. 

Since we first opened the vaccination hub, we have administered 41,398* doses to 
healthcare workers and patients across Sussex from vaccination hubs in Brighton 
and Haywards Heath.  

• First doses administered 29,503*  
• Second doses administered 11,895* 
• Total vaccinations administered 41398* 

*Figures correct up to 31 March 2021. 
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Merger – the creation of University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust 
 
Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT) and Brighton and 
Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (BSUH) have been working together for four 
years under a joint management contract that expired on 31 March 2021.  

During this time, BSUH became the fastest improving acute hospital Trust in 
England, emerging from special measures and earning a Care Quality Commission 
rating of Good overall and Outstanding for caring. WSHFT meanwhile maintained its 
own Outstanding status and also became the first non-specialist acute Trust to 
achieve Outstanding ratings in all key inspection areas.  

As the end of the joint management contract approached and having worked 
increasingly closely together to respond to the global Covid-19 pandemic, the Trust 
board explored options for an ongoing relationship. We looked at developing a group 
structure, in which the two Trusts would operate independently alongside each other 
while remaining under a single leadership. 
 
However, as a result of regulatory and financial changes within the NHS and the 
recent successful joint-working between the Trusts, it became clear the best 
interests of patients and staff would be better served by pursuing a full merger.   
 
We developed a strategic outline case, which was approved by NHSEI in September 
2020. Six months of intense planning ensued as we followed a rigorous process to 
assess the case for change to enable us to complete the formal merger on 1 April 
2021 as the joint management contract expired. 
 
Benefits 
 
The case for the merger was strong. We identified a broad range of benefits that 
would advantage patients, staff and communities across Sussex, including:  

• Building on our Outstanding reputation and delivering excellent care to the 
communities in Sussex 

• Strengthening leadership, governance and structures, enabling us to move 
forward quickly and keep improving care for patients 

• Creating greater ‘economies of scale’ as a larger and more influential NHS 
Trust 

• Increase our potential to use the same processes and equipment to 
support the smoother running of services 

• Creating more career opportunities across our hospitals for our people 
• Continuing our closer collaboration and sharing of resources as we restore 

services and manage our ongoing response to the COVID pandemic 
• Improving continuity of care and better access to services 
• Increasing support for services under pressure due to national challenges, 

such as increasing demand, workforce availability and financial pressures. 
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The new Trust would employ nearly 20,000 people across five main hospital sites in 
Sussex, with an operating budget of more than £1 billion. It would run seven 
hospitals in Chichester, Worthing, Shoreham, Haywards Health and Brighton and 
Hove, as well as numerous community and satellite services.  

It would be responsible for all district general acute services for patients across 
Brighton and Hove, West Sussex, Mid Sussex and parts of East Sussex. It would 
also provide specialised and tertiary services across Sussex and parts of the South 
East, including neuroscience, arterial vascular surgery, neonatology, specialised 
paediatric, cardiac, cancer, renal, infectious diseases and HIV medicine services. 

The driving force behind our plans was our ambition to continually improve the care 
we provide.  

Our clinical boundaries 

Against a backdrop of our pandemic response, we undertook to develop the full 
business case for merger while protecting frontline staff and services. We committed 
to not making any immediate changes to our clinical services as a result of the 
merger. We also published a set of clinical boundaries that would guarantee security 
of services including continuing to invest in: 

• Access to emergency medical care and A&E services 24 hours a day, 
seven days a week on the Princess Royal, Royal Sussex County, St 
Richard’s and Worthing Hospital sites 

• Maternity services at the Princess Royal, Royal Sussex County, St 
Richard’s and Worthing Hospital sites 

• A teaching hospital in conjunction with Brighton and Sussex medical 
school 

• Outpatient, day case and rapid diagnostic services across the Trust 
including on our non-acute sites 

• Tertiary service provision as part of a network of tertiary care providers 
across the regional and nationally 

• Trauma services as part of a Trauma Network that includes a Major 
Trauma Centre on the Royal Sussex County Hospital site along with all the 
supporting services this requires 

• A wide range of cancer services across Sussex, including the Sussex 
Cancer Centre on the Royal Sussex County Hospital site 

• A specialist centre for paediatric are, combined with a neonatal intensive 
care service and paediatric cancer services from the Royal Alexandra 
Children’s Hospital 

• Hyper Acute Stroke Units and other stroke services as part of a Sussex-
wide stroke provision 

• Specialist renal care, including dialysis and other services for East and 
West Sussex 

• The system-wide benefits of the 3Ts development in line with Sussex 
Integrated Care System Long Term Plan. 
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Engagement and feedback 

With NHSEI’s approval of our outline business case, we sought to gather the views 
of staff, patients, public and partners, launching an online survey in October 2020. 
The survey asked for thoughts on the vision and values of the proposed Trust as well 
as hopes and fears and opinions on a selection of name options. The survey 
attracted responses from more than 3,000 employees across WSHFT and BSUH as 
well as more than 700 responses from patients, partners and public. 

The responses were highly consistent and led to the identification of six new Trust 
values: compassion, communication, teamwork, respect, professionalism and 
inclusion. 

The survey feedback also helped us define a series of vision statements in line with 
our five strategic themes:  

• Sustainability - Living within our means providing high quality services 
through optimising the use of our resources. 

• People - To be the employer of choice and have the most highly engaged 
staff within the NHS. 

• Patient - Providing outstanding, compassionate care for our patients and 
their families, every time. 

• Quality - Excellent outcomes ensuring no patient comes to harm and no 
patient dies who should not have. 

• Systems and partnerships - Delivering timely, appropriate access to acute 
care as part of a wider integrated care system. 

There was also a great deal of consistency amongst the responses to the concerns 
and benefits questions, with staff identifying key benefits as: improved continuity of 
care, better career development opportunities and strong, consistent leadership. 
They raised concerns around job security, terms and conditions and the size of the 
Trust.   

Similarly, the public hoped the merger would lead to better care, better access and 
reduced travel, but were concerned about the bigger geography, reduction in 
services and the implications for staffing.  

Finally, the survey asked respondents to select their preferred option for the name of 
the new Trust. Due to the importance of our partnership relationships and based on 
survey and other feedback, the Trusts agreed that the new, merged Trust would be 
called University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust.  

Developing our full business case and clinical strategy 

Following the survey, our dedicated merger team worked to develop our full business 
case, while we continued to work with teams to launch our clinical strategy 
development programme.  

Our new five year clinical strategy will identify where we can make the best 
improvements for our patients and develop new services that ensure fewer people in 
Sussex have to travel elsewhere for high quality hospital care. We will work closely 
with the rest of the Sussex Health and Care Partnership to realise the strategy. 
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This clinical strategy work also cements our commitment to continuing to invest in all 
the services we currently provide, including emergency, specialist, tertiary and 
trauma care. We are committed to developing our vibrant local hospitals and 
maintaining the services we know local people treasure, such as A&E and maternity 
care. By coming together as one Trust, we will have the experience, expertise, funds 
and influence to safeguard and improve hospitals services in Sussex. 

Approval 

On 9 March 2021, NHSEI issued its risk rating for the merger, with an overall rating 
of Amber/ Green and describing the strategic reasons for the merger as both ‘clear’ 
and ‘strongly supported’.  

On 18 March 2021, the Trust boards and the WSHFT Council of Governors (CoG) 
met to review the business case and vote on the proposal to submit the official 
application to merge. Both the boards and the CoG approved the proposal to apply 
to merge and the application was submitted to NHSEI on 19 March 2021. 

On 22 March 2021, we received a letter from the Secretary of State for Health and 
Social Care providing support for the proposal to merge.  

On 24 March 2021 we received approval from NHSEI to proceed with the merger. 

On 1 April 2021 our new Trust, University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, 
was formed. 

 

1.4 Performance Analysis 
1.4.1 The Patient First approach 

In 2017/18 a long-term approach to transforming hospital services for the better, 
described as Patient First, was introduced to BSUH. Whether it’s small steps or 
complex change, Patient First is a continuous process of improvement led by front-
line staff empowered to initiate and lead positive change. 

Our people are given the training, the tools and the freedom to work out where the 
opportunities are; and the skills and support to make change happen and to make it 
sustainable. 

The Patient First triangle was created to explain the different layers of Patient First. 
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The patient is at the apex of the triangle to make it explicit that everything we do 
should contribute to improving the experience and outcomes of the people in our 
care. This is the True North of the organisation – the one constant to which we must 
always set out direction of travel in order to achieve our vision. 

Patient First has four strategic themes that guide the initiatives we put in place 
across the hospitals: 

• Our people 

• Quality improvement 

• Sustainability 

• Systems and partnerships 

Each of the strategic themes has a number of breakthrough objectives that will 
take us furthest and fastest towards our overall True North. This means that: 

• Our True North focus around the PATIENT is on patient satisfaction 

• Around OUR PEOPLE, it’s about improving staff engagement 

• In QUALITY IMPROVEMENT, it’s reducing mortality and avoiding harm 

• For SUSTAINABILITY, it’s on managing our budget 

• And for SYSTEMS AND PARTNERSHIPS, it’s improving patient flow. 

True North Domain Metric Objective Executive Lead 

Patient Friends and 
Family Test 

Family & Friends 
Recommend Rate 
>96% 

Carolyn Morrice  

(Chief Nurse) 

Sustainability Budget 
Management  Breakeven 

Karen Geoghegan  

(Chief Financial Officer) 

People Staff engagement 
score 

Top 20%  in the 
country 

Denise Farmer 

(Chief Workforce Officer) 

Quality Avoiding harm 
99% harm-free care 
on Patient Safety 
Thermometer 

Carolyn Morrice  

(Chief Nurse) 

Quality Preventable 
mortality 

HSMR among best 
20% in the country 

George Findlay 

(Chief Medical Officer) 

Systems & Partnerships Patient flow 
A&E waits under four 
hours for 95% of 
attenders  

Pete Landstrom 

(Chief Delivery Officer) 
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The Patient First triangle also illustrates the strong foundations on which the 
programme must be built and for BSUH these are improving quality, underpinned by 
financial sustainability, the best leadership, culture and workforce. In addition, we 
need to play our part our in local Sustainability and Transformation Programme 
(STP) – a programme of work across Sussex and East Surrey to develop shared 
proposals, across all health and care organisations, to improve services.  And 
ensure we progress our 3Ts redevelopment of the Royal Sussex County Hospital 
site. 

The delivery of the Patient First programme is supported by five pillars, which 
support the strategic themes and will help us achieve our objectives: 

1. Kaizen office – Kaizen is a concept that, loosely translated, means 
continuous improvement. It is about getting front-line staff to approach 
problem-solving and route cause analysis from a different, ceaselessly 
inquisitive perspective. 

2. Patient First Improvement Systems (PFIS) – the PFIS is the Lean 
management programme designed to develop our people’s ability to solve 
problems and improve performance. During the programme, teams receive 
specialist training to introduce tools and techniques that will help eliminate 
waste from everyday processes and begin to improve them on a continuing 
basis. Whilst Covid-19 had an impact on our ability to provide PFIS training 
we are pleased that wards and divisions applied PFIS tools and techniques as 
they made rapid changes and tested their efficacy ensuring high quality care 
and safe practices were implemented.  2021/22 will see the relaunch of our 
PFIS team training 

3. Capability – The Patient First Capability Programme provides the skills and 
training necessary to help teams understand and use the principles and tools 
available through Patient First. 

4. Improvement projects – our improvement approach involves using “Lean” 
principles. Lean is a systematic method of illuminating waste from a process. 
In a hospital setting, examples of waste could include moving patients from 
department to department or ward to ward unnecessarily, holding more 
supplies than we actually need, or delays in discharge or diagnostic tests. 

5. Strategy deployment –where theory becomes reality. Strategy deployment is 
the process through which we identify and review the True North objectives 
for each strategic theme and cascade these throughout the organisation. It 
provides a framework to enable staff at all levels to be clear about our 
priorities and align their improvement efforts to them, enabling us to track our 

Systems & Partnerships Patient flow 

Referral-to-treatment 
time less than 18 
weeks for 92% of 
patients  

Pete Landstrom 

(Chief Delivery Officer) 
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progress, and embed an improvement, coaching, and delivery culture 
throughout the organisation. 

1.4.2 Trust True North Objectives   

The Patient – True North objective: an overall score of over 96% for patient 
satisfactions when measured through the Friends and Family Test. 

Our long-term objective is to achieve an overall Friends and Family Test (FFT) score 
in excess of 96%. In the medium term, in working to achieve this goal, we want to 
increase the number of occasions where patients report a positive experience at the 
time of their discharge.  

FFT data submission was suspended from March 2020 due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, on instruction by NHS England.  Data submission resumed from 
December 2020 for all acute Trusts and the first three months’ data will be published 
in 2021.   

In March 2021 the FFT recommend score for Brighton and Princess Royal Hospitals 
Emergency Departments was 88.3%.  The inpatient score was 92.1%. Of note, the 
Trust’s response rates are strong when judged against the national average and the 
Emergency Department response rate is higher than the national average in 
2019/20. 

 

Our People – True North objective: to be in the top 20% in the country for staff 
engagement. 

Improving staff engagement is the strategic objective for the People domain of 
Patient First and our long-term objective is to achieve a staff engagement score 
within the top 20% in the country. In the medium term, we want to increase the 
number of staff who would recommend the Trust as a place to work.  

2020/21 has required different approaches to staff engagement to be adopted.  
However, the introduction and extensive use of MS Teams across the organisation 
provided an opportunity to engage with staff more widely.    Weekly Executive-led 
briefings were held throughout the year to update staff on the impact of the 
pandemic on the hospitals and how this was being managed.  This was 
supplemented with preparations in readiness for the Trust’s planned merger with 
Western Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust from 1st April 2021.    The use of 
technology has enabled staff to engage on important topics and to post questions of 
importance to them.   ‘Live’ attendance at the weekly briefings now exceeds circa 
1,000 participants and provides a platform for staff unable to attend to catch up on 
the events at a later date.    

A series of workshops and surveys with staff in the autumn informed the development 
of a set of refreshed organisational values for University Hospitals Sussex NHS 
Foundation Trust and the People Strategy for 2021/22. 

‘I would recommend my organisation as a place to work’ is a question within the 
annual NHS Staff Survey and the Trust has increased year on year from the worst 
Trust score in 2016 (46.6%) to 60.3% in 2020.  The national average for the NHS 
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Staff Survey has increased significantly in 2020 from 62.9% in 2019 to 66.9% in 
2020.  Given the context within which the staff survey was conducted (Sep-Dec 
2020), this is very encouraging The Trust has a comprehensive plan to further 
improve scores by identifying key focus areas gathered as part of the annual survey, 
internal merger survey and focus group workshops and by using a targeted 
approach to drive correlated low scoring questions at Divisional level.   

 

Quality Improvement – True North objective: to be in the top [best] 20% of trusts for 
preventable mortality and provide 99% harm free care. 

Reducing preventable mortality 

Although standardised mortality ratio’s like HSMR and SHMI are not designed to 
model pandemic activity, mortality rates have been continuously monitored during 
the past 12 months. A review of mortality in 2020 highlighted that:  

• 1547 patients died in BSUH during 2020, of these 234 (15%) died within 28 
days of having a positive swab for Covid-19 

• The annual number of deaths in 2020 was lower than the previous five years 
with 53 fewer deaths in 2020 compared to 2019 

• The number of deaths in March and April were higher than predicted and the 
rate of crude mortality was also higher in these months 

• Deaths in July and October were lower than predicted 
• The proportion of male deaths as a result of Covid-19 was statistically 

significantly high at 63%  
• 65% of the Covid-19 deaths occurred in patients aged 80 or above, this 

compares to 55% of the non Covid-19 deaths 
• In total 140 patients died in the first wave of Covid-19 
• In the 12 months to December 20 the rolling SHMI was 108.3 
• In the 12 months to January 21 the rolling HSMR was 96.3 

We continue to maintain focus on improving our recognition and management of 
deteriorating patients, in addition to improving our learning from deaths through 
structured judgment reviews. 

Avoiding harm 

The national initiative for measuring the rate of harm free care concluded in March 
2020 and work continues in developing a national new measure that will include falls, 
pressure ulcer, catheter acquired infections and preventable hospital acquired 
infections. This has been delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  

In 2020/21 a new Harm Free Care Group was set up to ensure that we learn fully 
from all falls and pressure ulcers, and deliver continuous improvements in care as a 
result of this learning. 

During 2020-21 the adult inpatients falls rate was 3.71 falls per 1000 bed stay days, 
which was marginally higher than the previous year’s rate of 3.68. The last available 
national data for falls reported a rate of 6.6 falls per 1000 bed days. 
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The rate of acquired pressure ulcers was 1.09 per 1000 bed days, exactly the same 
rate as in 2019-20. 

Also the National Infection Prevention Board Assurance Framework was used to 
monitor our compliance and practice against the national best standards. 

  

Sustainability – True North objective: to deliver high quality healthcare in a 
sustainable way. 

Our long-term sustainability objective is to live within our budget. In the medium 
term, we had committed to financial plans that reduce our deficit and we have 
achieved this in each of the last four financial years. In 2020/21 the Trust responded 
to the challenging environment presented by the Covid-19 pandemic and delivered a 
financial year end position of £4k surplus, surpassing the target of breakeven. The 
foundations developed and embedded over the last four years, together with 
opportunities presented by combining with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust to form University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, have 
allowed University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust to submit a breakeven 
plan for 2021/22. The plan is to continue to meet the target of breakeven for the year 
and support recovery of elective services; as intended by the new interim financial 
framework. 

 

Systems and Partnerships – True North objective: to have 95% of A&E patients 
waiting less than four hours to be admitted or discharge and to reduce referral to 
treatment below 18 weeks for 92% of patients.  

Our long-term systems and partnerships objectives are to have 95% of A&E patients 
waiting less than four hours and to achieve a referral to treatment (RTT) time below 
18 weeks for 92% of patients. In the medium term, we are concentrating our 
improvement efforts on reducing the numbers of patients who visit A&E and wait 
over four hours and then aren't eventually admitted to hospital, and are committed to 
ensuring no patients wait more than 52 weeks for elective treatments. 

As with all NHS Trusts these aims were materially impacted by the Coronavirus in 
2020/21. 

The Trust reduced its routine elective capacity in accordance with National clinical 
guidelines, but maintained care for patients with the most urgent clinical needs, and 
responded to significant numbers of Covid patients. As a result of the reduction in 
elective capacity the Trust performance for RTT reduced to 57.2% by March 2021. 

In A&E the Trust saw, treated, admitted or discharged 86.3% of patients within 4 
hours across the year (the performance includes Brighton Station Walk in Centre, 
and Lewes Victoria and Uckfield MIU attendances). The Trust has worked 
collaboratively with partners, continued to develop our estate to support A&E and 
continued to enhance our internal process improvements which will continue to 
mature and deliver improvements into 2021/22. 
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Risk Management 

The Trust has an established risk management framework, which has been judged 
by the Trust’s internal auditors as effective.  This framework incorporates a Board 
Assurance Framework (BAF) which is used to record and track the management of 
the Trust’s strategic risks.  Each strategic risk has an executive lead and is overseen 
by a specific Committee of the Board. Throughout the year regular reporting of these 
risks has been provided through the Board Committees to the Board and at each 
Board meeting the Board confirmed the Board Assurance Framework fairly 
represented the Trust’s strategic risks.  The Board also confirmed the Trust’s risk 
appetite statements which are used to drive the respective risk’s target scores.  
During the year the BAF records that the Trust has been managing 13 significant 
risks, and at the year end the Trust had five highly scored key risks remaining these 
related to 

• Being unable to deliver ongoing efficiencies and flex our resources in an agile 
way resulting in an increasing or unmanaged deficit and inefficient, 
unaffordable and unsustainable services; 

• Being unable to consistently meet the health, safety and wellbeing needs of 
our staff as we recover and restore services in line with Covid-19 restrictions;  

• Being unable to develop and maintain collaborative relationships with partner 
organisations based on shared aims, objectives, and timescales leading to an 
adverse impact on our ability to operate efficiently and effectively within our 
health economy; 

• Being unable to define and deliver the strategic intentions, plans and optimal 
configuration that will enable our services to be sustainable, leading to an 
adverse impact on their future viability; and 

• Being unable to deliver and demonstrate consistent compliance with 
operational and NHS constitutional standards resulting in an adverse impact 
on patient care and financial penalties and the Trust’s reputation and the 
reputation of the Trust. 
 

For each of these risks there is a detailed series of actions which will continue 
through 2021/22. The delivery of these actions and the impact on these risks is 
monitored through the appropriate oversight Committee of the Board  
 
The Trust took action during the year which saw its BAF financially related risk 
reduce but the risk relating to the Trust’s ability flex its resources did not reduce to 
the same level reflecting the level of uncertainty over the demands on the Trust to 
deal with the Covid-19 pandemic and the changing financial framework the NHS is 
subject to.   
 
The Trust has taken a number of actions to enhance its processes to support the 
wellbeing of its staff. However, given the relentless pressure the pandemic has 
placed on the Trust’s services and the prolonged period of the national incident the 
Trust has assessed the long term risk to staff wellbeing as increasing.  The Board 
has established a dedicated People Committee will track the effectiveness of its 
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plans to mitigate this risk alongside receiving direct information from staff feedback / 
surveys on the efficacy of the wellbeing programmes developed to support the 
Trust’s staff. 
 
During the year the Trust worked collaboratively with its system partners including 
leading on the Sussex Acute Care Network Collaborative within the Sussex Health 
and Social Care Partnership.  This work has seen the reduction in the respective 
BAF risks but they remain highly scored at the year end. 
 
In respect of the compliance with regard to the key constitutional targets the Trust 
took action and has prioritised the treatment of patients according to their clinical 
needs.  Like the majority of NHS providers, the Trust has taken action to support the 
NHS and the Country with their measures to deal with Covid-19 which has impacted 
on the Trust’s ability to reduce further this risk. 
 
During 2020/21 the Trust has responded positively to the national requirements 
placed on it with regards to countering Covid. The Trust has been supported through 
the established bronze, silver and gold incident control processes which included a 
robust capturing of issues and risks and the follow through on actions to mitigate 
these.  These processes were considered by Internal Audit to be robust and effective 
and have placed the Trust in a strong position to adapt its control environment to 
respond to the changing nature of the county’s and National Health Service 
response to Covid-19.   
 
Further detail in respect of the Trust’s risk management framework can be found in 
the Trust’s annual governance statement which is included in this report. 
 

1.4.3 Regulatory Standards 

BSUH uses a Performance Framework and associated governance to ensure 
sustained delivery of key measures based on the principles of the Balanced 
Scorecard. This framework ensures scrutiny, assurance, and where necessary, 
remedial actions and follow through to compliance recovery. The structure of this 
framework was developed in quarter 4 of 2017/18 and ensures oversight through: 
 

• Directorate review of departmental/ward delivery  
• Divisional Management Board review of associated Directorates  
• Divisional Strategy Deployment Reviews (SDRs) undertaken by the Trust 

Executive 
• Monthly performance review by Finance and Performance Committee and 

Trust Board 
 

Each layer of review and action considers both the key targets and outcomes/ 
objectives used to assess operational performance under the Single Oversight 
Framework, and a wider set of balanced scorecard indicators that have been 
selected to provide a more complete view of operational risks and 
interdependencies. The review process is underpinned by an extensive suite of 



Page 21 

business intelligence tools designed to show outcomes, but also the drivers of 
potential compliance risks such as changing demand profiles. 
 
This governance framework was adjusted as part of Covid prioritisation process as 
the Trust adopted its Gold command framework to respond to the national Covid-19 
pandemic as instructed to do so by NHS England. However, through this period the 
Trust maintained its scrutiny of performance via its established Gold command, and 
continued to submit performance reporting in accordance with National mandated 
standards. The routine governance framework is being restored 2021/22. 
 
The operational performance of BSUH is measured against key access targets and 
outcomes objectives set out in the Single Oversight Framework drawn up by NHS 
Improvement, the regulator of health care organisations. These are:  
 

• A&E maximum waiting time of 4 hours from arrival to admission/transfer/ 
discharge  

• Maximum time of 18 weeks from point of referral to treatment (RTT) in 
aggregate − patients on an incomplete pathway  

• All cancers – maximum 62-day wait for first treatment from:  
 urgent GP referral for suspected cancer  
 NHS cancer screening service referral  

• Maximum 6-week wait for diagnostic procedures  
 

 
 
A&E 
Nationally it has been a challenging environment throughout 2021/20 with 
emergency demand affected by Covid-19. Trust performance for the year was below 
the National target of 95%. As the Trust has come out of the respective waves of the 
pandemic, the Trust has recommenced its programme of work to improve 
performance through recognised improvement methodologies and clinical pathway 
improvements throughout the patient emergency pathway.  
 
Additionally, the Trust has continued to engage and co-ordinate aligned resilience 
plans in the wider Local Health Economy, through the Sussex ICS chaired Local 
A&E Delivery Board, and wider regional acute partners for escalation to target 
reduced delayed transfers of care, to free up bed capacity and enhance patient flow. 
 
Referral To Treatment (RTT) 
The Trust’s RTT performance has been variable across the year with a reported 
performance of 57.2% for March 2021. The impact of Covid-19 National guidance 
regarding the suspension of routine elective cases impacted on RTT throughout 
most of the year, and restoration and recovery has commenced in 2021/22. 
 
 
 

Constitutional Standards Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 2020/21 
YTD

2020/21 
Target

A&E : Four-hour performance 84.0% 91.2% 94.0% 94.4% 93.4% 87.8% 86.4% 83.1% 83.8% 77.2% 76.4% 82.5% 84.9% 95%

Cancer: 62 days  urgent GP ref to trtmnt 79.5% 71.4% 84.6% 88.4% 79.6% 78.4% 80.6% 78.6% 72.5% 78.0% 69.5% 57.7% 75.9% 85%

RTT - 18 week performance 67.0% 59.4% 54.1% 47.8% 44.8% 49.8% 55.0% 57.8% 61.0% 60.5% 58.4% 57.3% 57.2% 57.2% 92%

Diagnostic % 6 Week Waits 15.4% 61.4% 65.3% 52.3% 41.1% 43.9% 34.0% 28.7% 29.4% 35.9% 37.6% 31.8% 26.4% 26.4% <1%
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Cancer 62-day Performance 
The impact of coronavirus in March 2020 and into 2020/21 impacted materially on 
cancer performance. Cancer 62 day performance YTD 2020/21 despite this was 5% 
higher than 19/20, at 76.9%. The Trust experience an increase in 62 day waits as a 
result of the initial wave of Covid to September 2020, but has recovered these long 
waits to pre-Covid levels by March 2021. 
 
A focus on improving the waiting times for diagnostics, in a safe environment will 
also contribute to the improvement in this standard. 
 
Whilst performance dipped at certain periods throughout the year, The Trust activity 
met cancer demand in 2021. 
 
Diagnostic 6-week waiters 
Trust performance fell to an average of 26.4% for March 2021 against the 1% 
national target. The Trust observed significant capacity pressure in imaging 
modalities and endoscopy due to workforce and equipment constraints exacerbated 
by the activity suspension as a result of the national Covid response directions.  
 
Summary of Operational Performance 2020/21 

 
Indicator 
 

 
Standard / 
Threshold 

 
2020/21 

 
2019/20 

 
2018/19 

 
2017/18 

 
2016/17 

18w RTT - Percentage of 
incomplete pathways waiting 
less than 18 weeks  

92% 57.18% 67.8% 80.3% 85.5% 78.0% 

18w RTT - Numbers of over 
52-week waiters during the 
year  

0 4813 463 34 747 1786 

Diagnostic Tests waiting 
longer than six weeks - 
percentage of all waiters  

1% 26.4% 19.95% 14.7% 2.0% 1.9% 

Operations cancelled on the 
day not re-booked within 28 
days  

0 147 190 (to 
Feb) 107 90 54 

Number of urgent operations 
being cancelled for the second 
time  

0 0 2 (to 
Feb) 8 16 14 

A&E - Percentage of patients 
who spent four hours or less in 
A&E  

95% 84.9% 82.3% 84.29% 84.28% 82.69% 

A&E - Numbers of patients 
who have waited >12 hours in 
A&E from decision to admit  

0 16 44 238 146 50 

Cancer: Two week wait 
referral to date first seen  93% 99% 88.9% 87.5% 94.15% 93.3% 

Cancer: Two week wait 
referral to date first seen - 
breast symptomatic  

93% 98.1% 83.8% 91.8% 95.84% 97.18% 

Cancer: 31 day wait from 
diagnosis to first treatment  96% 89.6% 96.0% 97.8% 99.20% 98.1% 

Cancer: 62 day wait for first 
treatment from urgent GP 
referral  

85% 57.7% 68.9% 71.0% 76.62% 76.69% 
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Cancer: 31 day wait for 
second or subsequent 
treatment - surgery  

94% 84.2% 95.0% 98.1% 99.11% 95% 

Cancer: 31 day wait for 
second or subsequent 
treatment - chemotherapy  

98% 100% 99.8% 99.9% 
 99.50% 99.18% 

Cancer: 31 day wait for 
second or subsequent 
treatment - radiotherapy  

94% 99.4% 99.7% 99.2% 99.53% 97.99% 

Cancer: 62 day wait for first 
treatment from referral from 
NHS cancer screening service  

90% 53.5% 72.2% 66.6% 69.95% 76.23% 

Emergency re-admissions 
within 30 days of discharge 
(%)  

10.5% 
8.96% 
(Apr-
Dec) 

8.37% 
(Dec-
Nov) 

8.50% ** 8.56% ** 11.96% 

Stroke: % of patients who 
spend > 90% of time on stroke 
unit  

80% 75.7% 81.45% 84.36% 81.92% 85.71% 

Stroke: % admitted directly to 
stroke unit  90% 40.96% 55.96% 63.21% 63.35% 67.52% 

Stroke: % scanned in less 
than one hours of hospital 
arrival  

50% 62.1% 70.94% 71.88% 70% 67.31% 

Stroke: % of patients scanned 
within 24 hours  100% 98.4% 97.74% 99.65% 100% 98.95% 

Stroke: % of high risk TIA 
cases treated in 24 hours  60% 50.2% 64.91% 75.55% 77.53% 85.31% 

Stroke: % of low risk TIA 
patients seen in seven days  100% 95.3% 98.55% 99.25% 99.48% 98.76% 

Number of falls resulting in 
moderate or severe injury, or 
death  

- 10 28 15 21 19 

Number of cases of MRSA 
bloodstream infections  0 2 5 1 1 2 

Number of C. Difficile 
infections  46 45 49 44 to 

Feb 56 51 

“Never Events” reported 0 6 1 2 4 5 
Summary Hospital Mortality 
Indicator (SHMI)   100 108.37 97.68 93.87 ** 98.19 ** 97.59 ** 

Hospital Standardised 
Mortality Ratio (HSMR) - all 
week  

100 95.11 89.03 96.5 ** 98.4 ** 93.75 ** 

Hospital Standardised 
Mortality Ratio (HSMR) - 
weekends  

100 95.79 91.74 93.33 ** 96.36 ** 102.58 

 
Emergency Caesarean 
Section rate  
 

 
13% 

 
34% 18.02%  

17.5% 
 

17% 
 

14.52% 

Number of single sex 
accommodation breaches  0 161 481  635 661 923 

 
** being below the target / threshold is an indication of good performance 
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1.4.4 Financial Performance 2020/21 

The key highlights for the Trust’s financial performance for the year were:  
 

• Actual performance - against a challenging year responding to the impact of 
Covid-19, the Trust delivered a deficit for the year of £7.98m. After adjusting 
the performance for the impact of impairments and donated asset 
movements, the adjusted a reported performance is £4k surplus. 
 

• Performance - The performance target as agreed with the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) was a breakeven position, which the Trust delivered.   

 
• Capital - expenditure on capital schemes of £131.71m, including £91.07m on 

the 3Ts building development, £10.74m on the backlog and estates, £7.22m 
on Information Technology and £6.67m on replacement equipment. 
 

Summary of the Trust’s 2020/21 financial performance (excluding the charity): 

                 £m 

2020/21 Deficit for the year   (7.98) 
    
Add Back: Impairments      9.21 
 
Remove: Donated Asset Movements     (1.23) 
    
2020/21 Reported Financial Performance     0.004 

 
 

Financial outlook  

On 1st April 2021, Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the 
assets, liabilities and operations of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust, forming University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust through merger by 
acquisition under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. 

The new Trust, University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, has developed a 
revised financial plan reflecting these new arrangements and a target position of 
break-even. Prior to 25th March 2021, both Trusts’ had prepared a preliminary 
financial plan for 2021/22 to also deliver a break-even position. It should be noted 
that in the Full Business Case for the merger, the forecast for 2021/22 was a break-
even position and maintaining a Use of Resource Rating of 1. 

 

Efficiency programme delivery  

Quality-led improvement has remained a key priority for BSUH throughout 20/21, 
and supports the NHS Long Term Plan’s objectives i.e. to develop workforce, 
technology and innovation-led efficiencies.  Improvements to patient experience, 
including safety and effectiveness, means we can deliver consistent high-quality care 
in more cost-effective ways; improving the flow of patients through our hospitals. 
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The impact of Covid-19 from early 2020 onwards limited the Trust’s capacity to 
develop and deliver new efficiency schemes, which meant that the overall size and 
scope of the programme in 2020/21 was smaller than in previous years. However, 
BSUH alongside WSHFT were part of the few Trusts nationally that were able to 
deliver Efficiency Programmes in such challenging circumstances, and exceeded the 
1.1% requirement against budget that was set prior to the pandemic response.  
Overall, £6.2m savings were delivered against the opening plan of £5.35m 

All schemes were subject to rigorous quality and safety checks to ensure quality 
standards were maintained or improved, and that they did not negatively affect the 
Trust’s response to Covid-19 or its capacity to recover and restore non-Covid 
services. Quality impact assessments for each scheme are developed by staff 
working in the relevant areas, and signed off at executive level before 
implementation.  

Our Medicines Management team delivered a significant contribution (£1.52m 
against a plan of £0.92m), through optimisation of medicine usage and switching to 
best value alternatives. Supporting our clinical teams, the Procurement team 
delivered a further £0.85m savings across a range of schemes. 

The Trust’s response to the Covid surges has also enabled significant changes in 
how patients have been cared for, encouraging the adoption of new ways of working 
and patient pathway improvements.  Whilst initiated through pandemic conditions, a 
number of these changes will be evaluated and embedded into clinical and 
operational practice moving forward, sustaining the positive impact on our patients 
where possible.  

Whilst operational teams remained focussed on managing the Covid-19 response in 
early 2021, efficiency planning for the coming year took place where possible to 
minimise impact to front-line staff.  A key opportunity for 2021/22 will also be the 
realisation of benefits following the merger of BSUH and WSHFT, where the 
increased scale of University Hospitals Sussex will enable us to go further and faster 
on improvements to the quality of patient care whilst at the same time enabling 
productivity and efficiency benefits.   

 

Summary 

From a financial perspective 2020/21 was a positive year with the Trust achieving its 
True North objective of ‘delivering high quality healthcare in a sustainable way’ by 
delivering a breakeven position for the year. This performance was achieved whilst 
also responding to the fast changing challenge of the Covid-19 pandemic, which saw 
operational priorities reviewed and adjusted throughout the year in response to the 
changing healthcare needs of the population that the Trust serves. 

University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust has submitted a breakeven plan 
for the period April to September 2021, with the new Trust starting from a financially 
sustainable breakeven position. 
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Going concern 

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the NHS 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the accounts.  For more details, see section 4 of this report on the Trust’s 
financial statements. 

 
1.4.5 Our Capital Plan 

The Trust’s Capital Plan is comprised of two components: strategic capital and 
operational capital.  The strategic capital plan is the budget spent on major projects 
in varying stages of development, primarily: 

• 3Ts development (£91.07m); 

Development of the operational capital plan followed an extensive prioritisation 
process and Board approval in March 2020.  During the year the Trust successfully 
delivered 129 separate investments totalling £40.64m.  These covered a wide range 
of investments linked to clinical divisional priorities (including service developments), 
medical devices, investments in backlog maintenance and in IM&T infrastructure and 
systems.  These investments were also supported by £0.89m of charitable funds 
from the Trust own charity and partner charitable organisations.  Notable 
investments included: 

• Operating theatre refurbishment on the PRH site (£2.64m) 
• Replacement of our fleet of Endoscopy scopes and associated 

decontamination equipment (£1.73m); 
• Replacement and relocation of a CT scanner and x-ray machine on the PRH 

site (£1.09m)  
• Additional capital expenditure as a result of COVID (£2.38m) 
• Replacement of more than 100 items of aging medical equipment (£4.99m); 

and 
• Significant investments in our IM&T infrastructure, hardware and software 

systems (£7.22m). 

 

1.4.6 Environmental Sustainability  

Environmental sustainability, our Green Plan and Net Zero has been highlighted as a 
key priority for the Trust. Looking ahead to 2021/22 we will be tracking progress 
against our Environmental Strategy as a corporate strategic initiative. During 
2020/2021 we have continued to work in partnership with colleagues from 
neighbouring Trusts and put significant effort to formalise and structure our 
Environmental Strategy Steering Group (ESSG).  

The Trust recognises and is signed up to the NHS campaign ‘For a greener NHS’ 
and its two key targets; 
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1. The NHS Carbon Footprint (the carbon emissions the NHS has direct control 
over) aims to be Net Zero by 2040. To achieve this an ambitious 80% 
reduction of carbon emissions by 2028 to 2032 has been defined. 

2. The NHS Carbon Footprint Plus (the carbon emissions the NHS can 
influence) aims to be Net Zero by 2045. With an 80% reduction target of the 
carbon emissions by 2036 to 2039.  

 

The ESSG will oversee the direction and delivery of the Environmental Strategy 
against these two targets. Membership is broad from across all divisions and the 
action work-streams have been shaped around the NHS Carbon Footprint Plus. 
Work-streams set clear actionable objectives which ensure continual improvement, 
effective ongoing management and adaptation and in developing a culture with 
green sustainability at the core and the commitment to meet net zero carbon 
emissions. 

Our aim to increase carbon awareness and literacy amongst our staff, 
empowering and equipping them with the knowledge and tools to implement 
effective change to achieve net zero within their work remits.  

Our approach to deliver will follow key principles 

• Measure  

• Avoid  

• Re-use  

• Alternatives  

• Communicate  

During 2020/21 The Green Group continued to develop and implement the Trust’s 
environmental strategy, adapting to the challenges that Covid-19 placed on 
operational demands and resources. Some highlights include; 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

• Adapting our objectives and plan with the 
targets set out in “Delivering a Net Zero NHS” 
published in October 2020. 

• Overall achieving a 3% reduction in energy 
usage during 2020/2021 with some localised 
areas making greater savings. 

• Commissioned the production of an Umbrella 
Travel Plan by an external consultant to 
undertake a parking review for BSUH and our 
partnering trust WSHFT. The plan establishes 
objectives to encourage sustainable transport 
for staff and public, considering our position and 
impact in the wider community / amongst other 
local businesses and the 3Ts development. The 
plan contains a clear action plan of which 
implementation is underway. 
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• Promotion of active travel alternatives such as 
cycle to work schemes and the use of public 
transport. 

• Conducting a review into the uptake of online 
meeting software and its impact on cross site 
travel.  

• Successfully managed and adapted to meet the 
exponential growth of waste management 
requirements generated through Covid-19. 

• Formulation of a 3Ts BREEAM and net zero 
work-stream to ensure project achieves 
environmental commitment to attain BREEAM 
excellent and that the building design aligns to 
our environmental sustainability goals. 

• Established a clinical work-stream to capture 
existing good practice and projects and 
formalise approach going into 2021/22. Existing 
work includes a review of the carbon footprint 
and process for return of mobility aids, a pilot 
programme for metered dosed inhalers and 
continued regular reporting on volumes of 
anaesthetic gases used highlighting the move 
away from desflurane to gasses with lower 
global warming potential. 

• Began the launch of our Green Ambassador 
engagement programme with 40 sign ups in the 
first week, the GA group will support and the act 
as a communication line between the GSG and 
on the ground operations. Submit project ideas 
as well as highlight areas of existing good 
practice that can be celebrated and potentially 
rolled out elsewhere.  

• Producing Carbon Footprint process document 
for full reporting of our NHS Carbon Footprint 
Plus from 2021. 

 
 

 

1.4.7 Statement on equality and equity of access 

BSUH is committed to offering services that are equitable and provide equality of 
access.  As part of this commitment the Trust within its service change and business 
case process undertakes a review on the equality and equity of access as part of the 
needs assessment and associated service configuration processes. The Trust as 
lead for the Sussex Acute Collaborative Network within the Sussex ICS plays an 
active role with Sussex ICS who, in accordance with Operating Framework 2021/22 
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are embarking on a programme of work to review equity of access by geographic 
and demographic profile of the Trust catchment populations, with the aim to build 
stronger and more collaborative strategies to address health inequalities.  

The Trust has built the voice of the patient into each of its transformation 
programmes to check that any changes improve equality and equity of access.  Also 
the Trust monitors patient and carer feedback as described in the section 1.4.8 
below and uses this to assist in monitoring the equality and equity of access to our 
services and takes steps where feedback highlights deficiencies. 

 

1.4.8 Patient Care 

Care Quality Commission Inspection 
 
In September 2018 the CQC undertook a comprehensive inspection of both the 
Royal Sussex County Hospital in Brighton and the Princess Royal Hospital in 
Haywards Heath. The full findings of their inspection, which were published in 
January 2019, saw the Trust rated as ‘Good’ overall and ‘Outstanding’ for care. 

Following this inspection, the Trust has continued to make progress in delivering 
improvements against the CQC Action Tracker, detailing all actions by division, the 
progress made and the evidence method. This is updated and monitored monthly at 
the Patient Experience and Engagement Group. All the ‘Must do’ actions were 
successfully completed in 2019 and of the 61 wider actions to deliver the learning 
from the inspection across the Trust, 50 of these are complete and 11 are 
progressing in line with the completion dates. 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, in 2020/2021 the CQC made no on site visits to Trust 
premises. They did, however, continue with virtual provider engagement “deepdive” 
reviews via MSTeams.  These engagement reviews have covered the following 
service areas; Diagnostic services; IRMER; Ophthalmology; Emergency care; Covid 
and infection prevention and control; Maternity services, neonatology & the Trust’s 
response to Ockenden; Post Covid restoration and recovery plans and the Trust 
deployment of its Clinical workforce and staff. 

In 2020/21 we continue to further develop a positive relationship with our regulator, 
with monthly informal engagement discussions and open and transparent 
communications. The CQC is due to carry out its first joint engagement review of 
ophthalmology for the new organisation in May.  

Patient Experience   

We constantly strive to give our patients the best possible treatment and care and 
we encourage patient feedback to help inform improvements to our services.  

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) provides a national benchmark for all NHS 
hospitals.  All adult, day case and paediatric inpatients, and those attending the 
Emergency Department (ED) together with 30% of outpatients, are asked the 
following question:  “Overall how was your experience.”  
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Patients can respond with one of six options ranging from ‘very good’ to ‘very 
poor’.  The results are reported to the Trust Board each month.  Further to the 
mandatory question we also ask patients to provide comments on why they gave 
that particular score.   

From 1st April 2018 (FFT) data has been collected electronically across all areas of 
the Trust.  This feedback is collected via SMS (text message on a mobile phone) or 
Interactive Voice Message (IVM via landlines if mobile number not available). In 
2020/21 50,471 patients have provided feedback in this way, despite a reduction in 
patient activity due to Covid-19.  

The SMS and IVM system allows patients to provide considered responses once 
they have left hospital premises and without the involvement of healthcare 
professionals, meaning less bias in the feedback provided. The increased response 
rate has resulted in a far wider range of themes being reported, which can be 
analysed and quickly acted upon.  All departments and wards have online access to 
a live dashboard of their results, detailing comments and voice recordings, through 
the collection service.  Patients can also view the FFT score monthly, on the Trust’s 
website, NHS Choices and NHS England’s website.   

The Trust continued to collect FFT data for local use during 2020/21 which, together 
with the free text comments, has been used to support improvement projects across 
the Trust, in line with the Patient First Improvement System (PFIS).   
 
2020/21 Inpatient FFT results 

Month Response Rate Recommend Rate 
Dec-20 26.5% 93.3% 
Jan-21 23.6% 94.1% 
Feb-21 24.8% 92.7% 
Mar-21 25.3% 92.1% 

 
2020/21 Emergency Department FFT results  

Month Response Rate Recommend Rate  
Dec-20 14.8% 85.1% 
Jan-21 20.8% 90.3% 
Feb-21 20.0% 89.0% 
Mar-21 23.6% 88.3% 

 
2020/21 Outpatient FFT results were (response rate not recorded) 

Month Recommend Rate 
Dec-20 94.0% 
Jan-21 92.8% 
Feb-21 93.4% 
Mar-21 94.2% 
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2020/21 Maternity FFT results  

Month Response Rate Recommend Rate 
Dec-20 13% 94.6% 
Jan-21 15.7% 94.4% 
Feb-21 10% 95.1% 
Mar-21 12% 94.1% 

 

Patient feedback 

We constantly strive to give our patients the best possible treatment and care and 
we encourage patient feedback to help inform improvements to our services.  

Since April 2018 all concerns received by the Trust are categorised and managed as 
informal or formal concerns.  This means that all concerns raised, whether in writing 
or verbally, are acted upon by either the Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) 
or the Complaints team.   

4376 informal and formal concerns were received by Brighton and Princess Royal 
hospitals in 2020/21.  This shows a 25% reduction from the previous year due to the 
significant reduction in activity due to Covid-19.   

46% (2005) of the concerns raised were managed formally and 79.2% were closed 
within 25 working days.  This represents a 2.2% increase from 2019/20.   

The remaining 54% (2371) of concerns raised were managed informally, 98.1% of 
which were closed within 25 working days.   

There was an 11% reduction in the number of informal concerns received from the 
previous year and the PALS team was redeployed to a variety of roles, using their 
specific skills and knowledge to support communication with patients, their relatives 
and representatives during this fast changing and difficult time.   

Formal concerns  

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total number of formal 

concerns 1792 1716 1915 2038 2005 

 

Informal concerns  

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total number of 

informal concerns 3089 3099 4154 3818 2371 

 

Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman 

In 2020/21 0.15% of all formal complaints received were accepted for investigation 
by the Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman.  Of these, one remains open 
and two were closed - not upheld.    
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Learning from informal and formal concerns  

The Trust is committed to learn and respond for feedback provided. Below is a 
summary of some of the changes we made as result of listening to feedback: 

 

Compliments 

Despite the reduction in activity, patients and families continued to share their thanks 
and appreciation for care provided at our hospitals during 2020/21.   

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total number of 

plaudits 364 988 1618 1390 1472 

 

Below are a small number of plaudits provided to our staff 

My thank you to you, is that the Princess Royal and its staff is an amazing place; my 
daughter and son were both born there, we’ve had a few minor knocks and illnesses since 
and the service you always give is first rate. 
 
I just wanted you and your staff to know that I was extremely impressed with the efficiency 
and speed that my appointment was handled.  The contact from the hospital to make the 
appointment was done so quickly - a great relief to me. Even though the appointment on 
the day was delayed I was kept fully informed of the delay - which did not cause me any 
problems.  The Registrar and the Nurse were extremely polite, professional and helpful. I 
could not have expected better treatment from them. 
 

You said (learning 
and improvement 
needed) 

We did (learning and change made) 

Postnatal difficulty 
in feeding and 
weight loss   

Following concerns raised about this issue postnatal ward care 
policy now contains specific advice regarding frenulotomy, 
highlighting specific examination for the condition and referral if 
there are significant feeding difficulties in the presence of tongue-
tie.   

Macmillan support 
and advice at the 
Princess Royal 
Hospital  

Introduction of a week day Macmillan service providing support to 
patients at PRH. There is also room is now available in the urology 
outpatient department for patients receiving a likely cancer 
diagnosis.   

Unwitnessed fall on 
care of the elderly 
ward  

Implementation of ‘Baywatch’ - medical, nursing and therapy teams 
now work together to ensure that a bay is never left unattended and 
a member of staff will always remain in the bay to observe 
patients.  This message is reinforced regularly at the safety huddles 
and is monitored by the Ward Manager and Matron. A nurse’s 
station has also been introduced to each of the bays so that nurses 
do not have to leave unnecessarily.  New stock trolleys have also 
been introduced to ensure each bay has stock items needed for 
personal care again, reducing the need for staff to leave. At the 
beginning of every shift, as part of the daily safety briefing at 
handover, all patients at risk of falling are highlighted to ensure 
every member of staff knows which patients are most at risk of 
falling.   
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I would just like to say a huge thank you to staff and volunteers at Sussex House. I had my 
jab yesterday. The whole process was made very easy and was extremely well organised 
from beginning to end.  
 
Just wanted to say a huge thank you to all staff and volunteers for the fantastic work you 
do… and the complete love and dedication of the staff at the Trevor Mann Unit. 
 
I would just like to convey my sincere gratitude and thanks for the service I received, from 
the ambulance personnel up to the consultant and the tea lady .everybody was most kind 
and courteous, and waiting time was minimal ,thank you all  there cheers to the NHS. 

 

Engagement  

Despite the Covid-19 pandemic community engagement continued during 2020/21.  
This included 3Ts way finding focus groups and an engagement event - attended by 
over 50 members of the public, Healthwatch, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) 
and Possabilty People – to make patients aware of the Patient Knows Best service 
and provide an opportunity for them to comment on the system before its launch. 

In 2020/21 BSUH strengthened it partnerships with commissioners, other NHS 
providers, local authorities and VCS organisations to plan and provide coordinated 
care and communication across the Sussex Integrated Care System. 

Patient Experience during COVID-19 

Covid-19 necessitated a shift in emphasis from responding to patient feedback to 
proactively creating positive experiences.  A number of initiatives were introduced to 
enable our patients stay in contact with their families and loved ones following 
feedback via wards and PALS. 

Letters to Loved Ones was set up for Families and friends of patients so they could 
send their personal messages and letters to loved ones in hospital to ensure that 
they were still able to contact despite restricted visiting. 

Further to this, donated mobile devices and tablets were distributed to patients who 
did not have access to a mobile device so they could speak with their loved ones 
and keep them updated. 

Families who had loved ones who were too unwell to use a mobile device were 
sharing feedback of the distress they felt not being able to visit.   Hearts for Comfort 
was initiated to help connect patients and their loved ones, a pair of hearts is shared 
between the patient and their family provided comfort whilst they were separated 
from their loved ones.  

 

1.4.9 Our People 

BSUH NHS Trust is the proud employer of almost 9000 people. Each and every one 
of those people enables us to provide high quality care to the people of Brighton and 
Hove and East and West Sussex. Below is an analysis of our staff one a whole time 
equivalent basis rather than the number directly employed, the column other relates 
to staff who work for the Trust through our internal staff back.  
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Recruitment 2020/21  

In line with national efforts during the Covid-19 pandemic, the focus has been to 
recruit safely at pace and scale using the NHS Employer’s Fast-Track process, 
focusing on domestic recruitment, international recruitment and encouraging staff to 
return to practice via “the NHS needs you” campaign.   

During 2020/21 the Trust has successfully recruited 1582 external applicants to a 
number of professional areas broken down as follows: 

Registered Allied Health Professionals 194 
Facilities & Estates 175 
Admin & Clerical 249 
Non Registered Allied Health Professionals 108 
Registered Nursing 264 
Non Registered Nursing 592 
Grand Total 1582 

 

During the second wave, in order to capitalise on the “Nightingale effect”, the NHS 
has had a renewed recruitment drive with a series of targeted recruitment campaigns 
with the aim to reduce Health Care Worker/ Assistant Posts. The Trust is on target to 
reach its Health Care Support Worker/ Assistant recruitment objective by April 2021. 

In addition to local recruitment, there has been a large focus on international 
recruitment, recruiting qualified Nursing Staff from a number of countries from Africa 
& Asia including South Africa, India & the Philippines. A number of other countries 
are being explored in conjunction with our recruitment agencies and NHSE/I in order 
to meet our recruitment targets by October 2021.  

Trust complies with all the requirements of NHS Employment Standards and ensures 
that all necessary checks and clearances are carried out prior to employing an 
individual.   

 

1.4.10 Research and Innovation 2020 - 21 

The National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) which co-ordinates and funds 
much of the clinical research in the UK made the decision early in the pandemic to 
temporarily halt all projects, and concentrate its resources on a select number of 
urgent public health research studies and clinical trials.    As such the core focus of 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals’ research team during 2020-21 was on the 
delivery of clinical research to support the diagnosis, prevention and treatment of 
Covid-19.   

We started the year with 168 active clinical trials and research projects, 127 of these 
were still recruiting new patients across our hospital sites Brighton and Haywards 
Heath.   By April the vast majority of these studies were put on hold as services were 
suspended; only opening again for a brief period between August and December.   

During the year the Trust opened 16 clinical trials and research projects that focused 
on Covid-19. Along with most acute hospitals we participated in the main national 
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platform trials such as Recovery and REMCAP, which enabled the rapid testing of a 
range of drugs to assess benefits to patients in addition to the usual care. Brighton 
was also selected to run some of the more specialist trials. It was one of only 4 sites 
in the UK to recruit to the trial that led to regular use of the drug Remdesivir as a 
treatment patients hospitalised with Covid-19.  Brighton was also the lead site, with 
Professor Martin Llewelyn as the Chief Investigator for the UK’s first study that’s 
primary objective was the prevention of Covid-19. In November the site was one of 
15 selected to deliver the Janssen Covid-19 vaccine trial in the UK. Set against a 
back drop of a national vaccine roll out most of the R&D team were set about 
identifying, screening and enrolling 342 volunteers into the trial, which will run for two 
years.   

By the end of the year, 2026 patients, volunteers and staff had been enrolled in 
Covid-19 trials. Despite other studies only actively recruiting for 4 months of the year 
a further 776 patients were recruited to 70 of the trials that were running across the 
portfolio.  These were attending our services for cancer, cardiovascular disease, HIV 
& sexual health, renal, gastroenterology, hepatology, ophthalmology and paediatric 
medicine.   

Working in partnership with academics and industry from across the UK and rest of 
the world our high quality research has, more than ever during the pandemic, helped 
to advance understanding of how diseases work, leading to the development of new 
treatments and therapies, improving care for patients both now and in the future. It is 
known that patients cared for in a research study and more generally those treated in 
a research-active environment have better outcomes, which is why it’s a core part of 
what we do in in terms of putting the patient first.  

In this report we also wish to acknowledge and thank the many patients, staff and 
members of the public who gave up a considerable amount of their time and took 
personal risks to their own health, in order to volunteer vaccine studies and other 
projects that offered no direct benefit.  

 

1.4.11 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR)   

BSUH continues to be committed to developing and maintaining prepared and 
resilient services by taking a proactive approach to Emergency Preparedness, 
Resilience and Response (EPRR). 

The NHS England Core Standards for Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and 
Response (EPRR) are the minimum standards which NHS organisations and 
providers of NHS funded care must meet to ensure they are able to respond to a 
wide range of incidents and emergencies that could affect health or patient care and 
ensure the Trust has plans in place to continue the delivery of critical services during 
periods of disruption, such as a critical incident, a business continuity incident or 
major incident as defined by the NHS England Emergency Preparedness Resilience 
and Response (EPRR) guidance. 

All NHS Trusts are required to undertake an annual EPRR assurance assessment 
and report the outcome to commissioners and NHS England for approval. 
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Due to the impact of the Coronavirus (Covid-19) Pandemic, the 2020 Emergency 
Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR) Assurance process was reviewed 
by the national director of EPRR, NHS England and NHS Improvement, the revised 
process was determined to require:  

• an updated assurance position of any organisation rated partially compliant or 
non-compliant in the 2019/20 assurance process; 

• assurance that a thorough and systematic review of the response to the first 
wave of the Covid-19 pandemic has been undertaken and the learning 
embedded; and 

• confirmation that any key learning identified as part of this process is actively 
informing wider winter preparedness activities for your system. 

 
Whilst also responding to the Covid-19 emergency the Resilience Team have 
managed to continue with the standard EPRR work, keeping plans reviewed and up 
to date as per the work plan and continuing critical training. BSUH has steadily 
improved its assurance rating, year on year, and in doing so BSUH has improved its 
overall assurance position and was able to demonstrate substantial compliance 
against the assurance framework for 2020.   

During 2020/2021 The Resilience Team also:  

• Supported the Trust’s response to the Covid-19 Pandemic;  
• Ensured our Covid19 incident room was staffed 7 days a week and managed 

all internal and external data submissions; 
• Continued to support BSUH Services and Divisions in updating their service 

level business continuity plans; 
• actively planned for an EU Exit, attending regular EU Exit meetings and 

undertaking EU Exit table top exercises and the provision of information to the 
Department of Health and Social Care;  

• continued to support our adult Emergency Departments in ensuring we 
continue to maintain our capability to respond to a Chemical, Biological, 
Radiological, or Nuclear attack or accidental exposure to a hazardous 
material;  

• continued to support and contribute to the work of Sussex Resilience Forum 
and remain a key member of Sussex Local Health Resilience Partnership; 
and 

• Trained a number of staff as loggists and incident support staff enhancing the 
Trust’s internal capacity in these areas. 

 

1.4.12 BEST OF BSUH  

April 2020 – Card Medic 

Inspired by the experience of a critically ill patient with Covid-19, Dr Rachel Grimaldi, 
an anaesthetist at RSCH created an innovative and simple new resource which 



Page 37 

improved the care of critically unwell Covid-19 patients. Dr. Grimaldi developed an 
app with electronic flashcards to help clinicians communicate with Covid patients. 
Just three weeks after its launch ‘Cardmedic’ was already being used in 50 countries 
across the world and has had an incredibly positive impact on patient experience. 
The App was featured on BBC South East evening news as an example of 
innovation during the crisis. 

May 2020 – BBC visit ICU at the County 

Doctors and nurses working in the critical care unit at the County Hospital Brighton 
gave special access to the BBC South East news team to speak about life inside a 
critical care unit caring for some of the most seriously ill Covid-19 patients. The team 
spoke to BBC South East on Wednesday 13 May about what it has been like for 
them over the past seven weeks. The interview was shown on BBC South East 
Today on 14 May. 

June 2020 – Clean hands save lives: the Brighton-Lusaka Health link 

Brighton pharmacists worked alongside pharmacy colleagues in Lusaka, Zambia, to 
enhance infection prevention by sharing the skills and knowledge needed to make 
alcohol-based hand rub funded by the Commonwealth Pharmacy Association (CPA) 
and Tropical Health Education Trust (THET). Following on from this work, the group 
received an additional grant to expand their work to the three remaining university 
hospitals in Zambia and produced an educational video as a tool to share the 
knowledge across the Commonwealth. With Covid-19 starting to have an increasing 
impact in Africa at this time, this important project helped to reduce the spread of 
infection and ultimately save lives. 

July 2020- Community support 

As staff continued to respond to the pandemic they were supported and cheered on 
by members of the community and public sector. As the nation applauded key 
workers from their doorsteps, police, fire and ambulance crews attended PRH 
hospital and RSCH to clap for carers. Local schools, charities and organisations 
rallied around to provide care packages, parking, groceries and scrubs for health and 
care staff in the area. 

The BSUH Charity launched a Help BSUH Hospitals campaign which raised more 
than £93,450 in the first year. 

August 2020 – 109 days in ICU 

A patient who received lifesaving treatment for Covid-19 in hospital was finally 
discharged home after a record 109 days in Intensive Care in Brighton. The patient 
went on to raise over £3,500 for the BSUH Charity. 

September 2020 

Our multi-disciplinary Organ Donation specialist team shared the extraordinary story 
of a patient who sadly died at the RSCH but donated her organs to save another 
person’s life during Organ Donation week. This helped to shine a light on the 
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importance of registering donation decisions on the NHS Organ Donor Register 
following a national campaign last year. 

October 2020 

In October 2020, we announced our plans to merge with Western Sussex Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust and invited our staff and people living locally to share their 
thoughts about the new Trust's vision and values, as well its aspirations for the 
future, by completing a short survey. Nearly 4,000 people shared their views on the 
new organisation’s vision and values, their hopes and concerns, and gave their 
feedback on a selection of naming options. 

November 2020 

Record numbers of staff participate in the BSUH flu campaign receive their free NHS 
flu jab ahead of winter. Ultimately, 80% of the workforce is vaccinated against flu 
during the campaign. 

December 2020 

Vaccinations begin at the RSCH. Bidge Garton, one of our longest service 
volunteers who has worked in the A&E department at RSCH for 35 years, was 
among the first to receive her vaccination.  

In January, the Astra Zeneca jab arrived at PRH and the vaccination hub, staffed by 
teams from BSUH and Sussex Partnership NHS Trust, becomes the first hospital to 
commence vaccinations with the Oxford Astra-Zeneca vaccine.  

January - Siren Study 

Public Health England’s SIREN (SARS-CoV-2 Immunity & Reinfection Evaluation) 
study published its findings. After performing regular antibody and PCR tests on 
20,787 healthcare workers from 102 NHS Trusts since the study commenced in 
June. At BSUH, we had 250 active participants in the study and a further 250 from 
WSHFT. The BSUH lab analysed samples from 130 participants at QVH. 

The study found antibodies from past Covid-19 infection provide 83% protection 
against reinfection for at least five months and that reinfections in people with 
antibodies were rare. 

Early evidence also suggested a small number of people with antibodies may still 
be able to carry and transmit Covid-19 highlighting the importance of infection 
control standards to be maintained.  

February 2021 

Personnel from the Armed Forces and RAF join the ranks of hospital porters and 
discharge teams to provided assistance to frontline staff. 

March 2021 

The merger of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals and Western Sussex 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was given the green light, heralding the dawn of a 
new future for healthcare in Sussex. The merger will see the best of both Trusts 
brought together to create a new, larger organisation called University Hospitals 

https://www.organdonation.nhs.uk/uk-laws/organ-donation-law-in-england/
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Sussex NHS Foundation Trust (UHSussex) which will further improve hospital 
services for patients in Sussex 
 
1.4.13 Our Charity 

BSUH Charity is one of more than 250 NHS Charities that exist across the UK to 
support their local hospitals. Our charity exists to help patients of BSUH NHS Trust 
access the best possible care. 

As the Trust’s own dedicated charity, BSUH Charity supports fundraising for all 
wards and departments. This includes our four hospitals: the Royal Sussex County 
Hospital, the Royal Alexandra Children’s Hospital, the Sussex Eye Hospital and the 
Princess Royal Hospital.  

Supporter donations are used to enhance the care and services provided to BSUH 
patients. 

BSUH Charity vision: Improving the experience of every patient 

Our core priorities remain: 

• Creating more patient friendly environments 
• Providing equipment for diagnosis and treatment 
• Supporting staff development to provide even better care 
• Advancing our understanding through research projects 

 
Supporting staff and patients through Covid-19… 

2020 was a year dominated by Covid-19. On 30 March 2020, BSUH Charity 
launched our ‘Help BSUH Hospitals Fight Covid-19’ campaign, in response to the 
pandemic. The fund was set up to support BSUH staff, as they worked round the 
clock to care for patients.  

We also benefitted from donations to the national NHS Charities Together Covid-19 
appeal, which received a massive boost from the fundraising efforts of Sir Captain 
Tom Moore.  

We were overwhelmed and gratified by the outpouring of community support, and 
these donations, along with the central funding support, enabled us to truly make 
things better for our staff and patients, for example:  

 The ‘Heroes’ Lounge’ communal staff room was officially opened at The 
Princess Royal Hospital, as a direct result of public donations to our Covid-19 
fund, and based on feedback from staff. Over £50k was spent on creating a 
comfortable, calm space for staff to relax with colleagues, and work is 
underway on a second communal staff room, for staff at Royal Sussex 
County. 

 Staff who stay overnight at Sussex House benefitted from a £32k 
refurbishment of the on-call rooms. The rooms have been refreshed with 
new carpets, furniture and a coffee machine, to provide more welcoming 
accommodation for staff who have to stay away from home.  

 Over £100k was spent on upgrades to staff spaces across the Trust. We 
improved the environment at 139 areas, such as clinical staff kitchens and 
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break rooms. New items such as microwaves, fridges, tables and chairs, TVs 
and toasters were provided.   

 Staff at Sussex Eye Hospital were able to purchase the equipment needed to 
carry out additional safety tests around the infection risk posed by Covid-19 
during cataract surgery. 

 Donations to our Covid-19 campaign funded some additional external 
supervision for the Palliative Care Team, so they were able to discuss any 
Covid-19 issues affecting them at work with a trusted impartial supervisor. 

 The HELP staff support service was expanded, thanks to a £62k boost from 
BSUH Charity. This led to increased staff access to HELP counselling and 
decompression debriefs, supported by an external telephone counselling 
service. 

 Two mannequins were purchased for the manual handling trainers at The 
County and The Princess Royal Hospital. Usually, the trainers invite one of 
their students to play the role of a patient, but with restrictions in place due to 
Covid-19, this isn't possible. The mannequins allow them to demonstrate best 
practice more safely. 

Other ways the Charity has supported BSUH patients: 

 Over £300k of Charity funds were used to pay for a new mobile breast 
screening unit, for the Brighton, Hove and East Sussex Breast Screening 
Service. Patients will benefit directly from the new unit, and its state of the art 
Mammography equipment will allow images of the highest quality, in terms of 
sharpness and detail. 

 Onward Arts is BSUH’s permanent Arts Programme. The Charity has 
provided funding for a fixed term / secondment post for an Arts Project 
Manager, who will coordinate the arts at BSUH, focusing on improving 
existing healthcare environments, and the wellbeing of staff through arts 
engagement.  

BSUH Charity Fundraising 

In a year when face to face fundraising wasn’t possible, a significant amount of 
virtual fundraising has continued, in support of BSUH staff and patients. There are so 
many fabulous examples but here are a just a few: 

 A lovely schoolboy raised over £1,500 for BSUH Charity, with a sponsored 
walk around his garden. Inspired by Sir Captain Tom Moore, he took on a 
massive 200 lap challenge! His Mother told us, "[He] was genuinely really 
moved by the passing of Sir Captain Tom Moore and he wanted to 'carry on 
his work' and raise money for our local hospital." 

 Another wonderful supporter hosted two online pet shows, where people 
could enter pictures of their pets, into various categories such as ‘sweetest 
dog’ or ‘most elegant equine’. Celebrity Vet, ‘Marc the Vet’ judged the 
competitions.  

 A collective of DJs from in and around Brighton, hosted two, ten-hour online 
dance parties for us, raising a total of £2,335. Each DJ took to their decks at 
home, to spin some uplifting house music, to really get people dancing around 
their lounge! The whole event was streamed via Mixcloud.  
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 An ‘internationally acclaimed singer, pianist and songwriter’, who lives in Hove 
has been putting on a series of musical performances, live from his shed. He 
decided to dedicate the final twenty performances of the ‘Stilgoe In The Shed’ 
series to staff at BSUH NHS.  Amazingly he has now raised over £18k and 
told us: 

“Having recently been looked after by the brilliant staff at The 
Royal Sussex Hospital in Brighton, I want to do my part to help 
the NHS go above and beyond, as they deal with the pandemic. 
The staff at BSUH NHS Trust do a phenomenal job looking 
after our community.” 

 Led by one of the players from Horsham Football club, his local footballing 
community each ran 5km for BSUH Charity, raising an unbelievable £50k 
between them.  

We are hugely grateful to all our supporters, new and old, who have given so 
generously over the past 12 months both in terms of financial donations and all the 
kind gifts of goods, foods, creams and so many other things that have helped the 
Trust staff through this challenging year. 

Partner charities 

We are grateful for the work our partner charities do to raise funds for 
BSUH hospitals and patients. 

Our partner charities are listed below. 

• Early Birth Association (Reg Charity No 286727) 
• Friends of Brighton and Hove Hospitals (Reg Charity No 209414) 
• League of Friends of the Princess Royal Hospital (Reg Charity No 257130) 
• League of Friends of the Hurstwood Park Neuro Centre (Reg Charity No 

263171) 
• Rockinghorse (Reg Charity No 1018759) 
• Sussex Cancer Fund (Reg Charity No 1147195) 
• Sussex Stroke and Circulation Fund (Reg Charity No 297807) 
• The Sussex Heart Charity (Reg Charity No 11209) 

 

 

  

http://earlybirth.co.uk/
http://www.hospitalfriends-brighton.org.uk/
http://www.prhfriends.org/
http://www.hurstwoodparkleagueoffriends.org.uk/
http://www.rockinghorse.org.uk/
http://www.sussexcancerfund.co.uk/
https://www.sscfund.org/
https://sussexheartcharity.org/
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2 ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 
2.1 Corporate Governance Report 

2.1.1 Directors’ Report 
 
Our Board of Directors 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 
 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Alan McCarthy, Chairman from 01-10-18 (Term of Office to 30-09-21) 

Chair of the Executive Appointments and Remuneration Committee  

Chair of 3Ts Oversight and Assurance Committee  

Patrick Boyle Deputy Chair from 01-01-19 (Term of Office to 19-01-24)  

Chair of the Finance and Performance Committee 

Mike Rymer (Term of Office to 31-05-2021) 

Chair of the Quality Assurance Committee 

Kirstin Baker (Term of Office to 31-03-22) 

Chair of the Audit Committee 

Lizzie Peers (Term of Office to 11-05-23) 

Chair of Charitable Funds Committee 

Jackie Cassell (Term of Office to 31-10-22) 

 Non-Executive Director 

 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 

Dame Marianne Griffiths, Chief Executive 

Dr George Findlay, Chief Medical Officer and Deputy Chief Executive 

Karen Geoghegan, Chief Financial Officer 

Pete Landstrom, Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer 

Denise Farmer, Chief Workforce and Organisational Development Director  

Carolyn Morrice, Chief Nurse  

Jayne Black, Chief Operating Officer (on secondment to NHSE/I from 1/01/2021) 

Katy Jackson, Interim Chief Operating Officer (from 1/01/2021 to 31/03/2021) 
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2.1.2 How the Trust is governed 
 
The Trust is governed in accordance with its establishment order and Standing 
Orders, Scheme of Reservation, Scheme of Delegation, Standing Financial 
Instructions.  

In seeking to ensure appropriate governance arrangements the Trust Board must 
critically appraise its systems, processes, skills and reporting mechanisms. The 
Trust’s governance arrangements need to take into account guidance from the 
Department of Health, NHS Improvement and NHS Providers on integrated 
governance.  

The Board revised its governance arrangements across 2020/21 to ensure they 
remained appropriate when dealing with the national pandemic.  This saw in wave 
one of the pandemic a refocusing of the Quality Assurance Committee to focus on 
assurance on the Trust’s processes for dealing with Covid patients.  As the Trust 
moved from wave one to restoration the Committee revised its focus again to 
encompass its wider assurance role.  During the second wave rather than repurpose 
the Quality Assurance Committee complementary GOLD executive briefings were 
provided to the Non Executives supplemented by weekly Chief Executive information 
exchanges.   

As part of the merger with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust the 
Boards of both Trust’s reviewed their current Board Committee governance 
arrangements.  The review resulted in a revised Committee structure seeing five 
Committees being established aligned to the Trusts’ five patient first pillars.  The 
Committees retain their oversight of allocated BAF risks but will also have capacity 
within their respective work programmes to provide enhanced assurance to the 
Board over the Trust’s delivery of their stated True Norths, Breakthrough Objectives, 
Corporate Projects and Strategic Initiatives.  This is detailed further in the ‘Board 
Committees’ section of this report. 

 
 
The Board 
 
The Chair and Non-Executive Directors are appointed through an NHS Improvement 
led appointments process. 

The Directors of the Trust for the period of this report are shown in the table below 
together with their attendance at Board meetings for the period. 

The Trust has 6 independent Non-Executive Directors, one of whom is nominated by 
the Universities of Brighton and Sussex, in addition to the Chairman. 

The Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee appoint the Trust Executive 
Directors. 

All these appointments are subject to annual appraisal. The Chairman is appraised 
by NHS Improvement; the Non-Executive Directors by the Chairman; the Chief 
Executive by the Chairman; and Executive Directors by the Chief Executive. 
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All members of the Board complete a Fit and Proper Person declaration on 
appointment and then annually thereafter, in addition to other employment checks. 
 
How the Board Operates 
 
The Board has agreed a scheme of reservation and delegation which sets out those 
decisions which must be taken by the Board and those which may be delegated to 
the Executive or to Board sub-committees.  

The Board sets the Trust’s strategic aims and provides active leadership of the Trust. 
It is collectively responsible for the exercise of its powers and the performance of the 
Trust, for ensuring compliance with the Trust’s Provider Licence, relevant statutory 
requirements and contractual obligations, and for ensuring the quality and safety of 
services. It does this through the approval of key policies and procedures, the annual 
plan and budget for the year, and schemes for investment or disinvestment above 
the level of delegation.   

The Non-Executive Directors play a key role in taking a broad, strategic view, 
ensuring constructive challenge is made and supporting and scrutinising the 
performance of the Executive Directors, whilst helping to develop proposals on 
strategy. 

Board meetings follow a formal agenda which includes an update from the Chief 
Executive, a structured integrated performance report that reflects the Trust’s 
performance against its True North priorities, and where appropriate information on 
its breakthrough objectives, strategic initiatives and corporate projects and reports 
from each Board Committee Chair. Complementing these items are specific reports 
covering Strategic and Operational items including; patient safety and experience, 
infection prevention and control, safer staffing information along with wider workforce 
matters.  Through the robust reporting through the Board Committee Chair the Board 
is updated on a range of clinical governance, financial and non-financial 
performance, together with performance against quality indicators set by the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), NHS Improvement and by the Executive. These 
performance measures include metrics covering infection control targets, patient 
access to the Trust, waiting times, length of stay, complaints data and the results of 
the Friends and Family Test.  The Board receives also receives information in 
respect of compliance with its provider licence.  

During the year the trust held 5 Public Board Meetings, and 12 Private Board 
Meetings. In addition, there was an Annual General Meeting held in September 
2020. 

In addition, subject specific seminars were held with the Board and Governors, 
covering topics such as the Trust’s clinical strategy, the Management Contract 
between WSHFT and BSUH and the development of a sustainable group structure 
for WSHFT and BSUH, the Trust’s sustainability strategy. 
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Attendance at the Board of Directors Meetings 

Attendance at Public Board meetings 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name 6 Aug 20 
 

1 Oct 20 
 

 
3 Dec 20 

 
4 Feb 21  

 
^19 Mar 21 

 
Total 

Alan McCarthy      5/5 

Patrick Boyle      4/5 

Joanna Crane*      4/5 

Lizzie Peers      5/5 

Kirstin Baker      4/5 

Mike Rymer      5/5 

Jackie Cassell      4/5 

Dame Marianne 
Griffiths      5/5 

Pete Landstrom      2/5 

George Findlay      4/5 

Karen Geoghegan      4/5 
Jayne Black (Chief 
Operating Officer  
to 31/12/20) 

   On secondment from 1 
Jan 2021 2/3 

Carolyn Morrice       5/5 

Denise Farmer      2/5 
Katy Jackson (Interim 
Chief Operating Officer 
from 01/01/21) 

Commenced in post on 1 Jan 2021   1/2 

Clare Stafford*      2/5 

Rob Haigh*      3/5 

Julie Bacon*      3/5 

*  non-voting members of the Board 
^Extraordinary Public Board Meeting 
Due to the national guidance on public gatherings and social distancing the Public Board in 
June 2020 was cancelled and then subsequent meetings were undertaken by MS Teams.     
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Attendance at Private Board meetings 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

# Extraordinary Board of Trustees meeting 
^ Extraordinary Private Board 
* non-voting members of the Board 

 
 
 
 
 

Name Apr Jun Aug Oct Oct# Dec^ Dec Feb Total 

Alan McCarthy 
(Chair)         8/8 

Patrick Boyle          8/8 

Joanna Crane         8/8 

Lizzie Peers         8/8 

Kirstin Baker**         7/8 

Mike Rymer         7/8 

Jackie Cassell         7/8 

Marianne 
Griffiths         7/8 

Pete 
Landstrom**         7/8 

George Findlay         6/8 

Karen 
Geoghegan         7/8 

Denise 
Farmer**         6/8 

Carolyn Morrice         7/8 

Jayne Black 
(Chief Operating 
Officer  
to 31/12/20) 

       

on 
seco
ndm
ent 

6/7 

Katy Jackson 
(Interim Chief 
Operating 
Officer from 
01/01/21) 

Commenced in post on 1 Jan 2021  1/1 

Rob Haigh*         6/8 

Clare Stafford*         5/8 

Julie Bacon* 
Not 
in 

post 
       7/7 
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Attendance at EXTRAORDINARY Joint Private Board Meetings in Common with 
WSHFT meetings 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  (Meetings taken place to enable 
transactional items relating to the Merger to be progressed.)  

Name Jun Jun Jul Oct Oct* Nov Nov Nov Jan Jan Feb 
Total 

Alan McCarthy 
            11/11 

Patrick Boyle            11/11 

Joanna Crane            11/11 

Lizzie Peers*            11/11 

Kirstin Baker            6/11 

Mike Rymer            10/11 

Jackie Cassell            8/11 

Dame Marianne 
Griffiths            9/11 

Pete Landstrom            6/11 

George Findlay            9/11 

Karen 
Geoghegan            11/11 

Jayne Black 
(Chief Operating 
Officer  
to 31/12/20) 

        On secondment 
from 1 Jan 2021 6/8 

Katy Jackson 
(Interim Chief 
Operating Officer 
from 01/01/21) 

Commenced in post from 1 Jan 2021    3/3 

Denise Farmer            7/11 

Carolyn Morrice            9/11 

* In attendance 
 
Complementing both the Public and Private Board meetings were a number of Board 
Workshops again held with BSUH to review and provide input into the transactional merger 
processes. 
 

Board of Directors Committee structure 
 
The Board Committees structure, under the Management Contract from the 1st April 
2017, was designed as follows.  Each committee is chaired by a Non-Executive 
Director, with strong Executive and Non-Executive membership and reporting 
directly to the Board of Directors.  
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The structure ensures that all governance domains and the business of the Trust are 
adequately assured.  
 

 

 

During the merger planning the Boards of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals 
NHS Trust and Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust the Boards 
reviewed their current Board Committee governance arrangements. Both Boards 
had adopted a similar structure to that shown above, with a Finance and 
Performance and Quality Assurance committee providing key assurance oversight 
on behalf of the Board.   The merger review resulted in a revised Committee 
structure being established for 2021/22 seeing five key assurance Committees, 
outside that provided by the Audit Committee, being established. Each Committee is 
aligned to the Trusts’ five patient first pillars.  Whilst each Committee retains their 
oversight of allocated BAF risks they will also have capacity within their respective 
work programmes to provide enhanced assurance to the Board over the Trust’s 
delivery of their stated True Norths, Breakthrough Objectives, Corporate Projects 
and Strategic Initiatives.  The revised governance structure is shown below:-  
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Audit Committee 
 
The existence of an independent Audit Committee is the central means by which the 
Trust Board ensures effective control arrangements are in place. The Audit 
Committee membership is solely made of Non-executive directors in line with the 
NHS Code of Governance.  

The Audit Committee independently reviews, monitors and reports to the Board on 
the attainment of effective control systems and financial reporting processes.  

Register of Members’ attendance at Audit Committee meeting for the period 
01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name Apr June Jul Oct Jan Total 

Kirstin Baker  
(Non-Executive Director and Committee Chair)      5/5 
Lizzie Peers 
(Non-Executive Director)      5/5 
Patrick Boyle 
(Non-Executive Director)      5/5 
Mike Rymer 
(Non-Executive Director)      3/5 
Joanna Crane * 
Non-Executive Director)      3/5 

*  not a formal member of the Committee  
 

The Chief Financial Officer, Chief Workforce and Organisational Development 
Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Local Counter Fraud Services, Internal and External 
Auditors are regular attendees at meetings of the Committee. The Committee 
requests other senior Trust officers to attend for specific items. The Committee is 
supported by the Company Secretary. 

The Trust retained its External Auditors, Ernst and Young, for the year.  

The Trust does not have its own internal audit. The Trust’s Internal Audit Services 
are provided for BDO. The Trust’s Local Counter Fraud Service is maintained in-
house.  

The Audit Committee Agenda is based upon an agreed annual work-plan. In order to 
maintain independent channels of communication, the members of the Audit 
Committee hold a private meeting collectively with External Audit, Internal Audit and 
Counter Fraud ahead of each Audit Committee. This provides all parties the 
opportunity to raise any issues without the presence of management. 

The Audit Committee is responsible to the Board for reviewing the adequacy of the 
governance, board assurance and risk management and internal control processes 
within the Trust. In carrying out this work the Audit Committee obtains assurance 
from the work of the Internal Audit, External Audit and Counter Fraud Services. 

The Audit Committee review the financial year-end Annual Report, Annual Accounts 
and Annual Governance Statement with the External Auditor prior to Board approval 
and sign off. 
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The Audit Committee agrees the schedule of Internal Audit reviews and receives the 
reports of those audits and tracks the implementation of recommendations at each of 
its meetings.  

 
Quality Assurance Committee 
 
The Quality Assurance Committee supports the Board in ensuring that the Trust’s 
management of clinical and non-clinical processes and controls are effective in 
setting and monitoring good standards and continuously improving the quality of 
services provided by the Trust. 
 
Register of Members’ attendance at Quality Assurance Committee meeting for 
the period 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name May Jun July Sep Dec Mar Total 

Mike Rymer  
(Non-Executive Director and Committee Chair)       6/6 

Joanna Crane  
(Non-Executive Director)       6/6 

Lizzie Peers 
(Non-Executive Director)       6/6 

Jackie Cassell 
(Non-Executive Director)       6/6 

Alan McCarthy # 
(Trust Chairman)       4/6 

Patrick Boyle # 
(Non-Executive Director)       2/6 

Kirstin Baker  # 
(Non-Executive Director)       1/6 

George Findlay  
(Chief Medical Officer and Deputy Chief Executive)       5/6 

Carolyn Morrice 
(Chief Nurse from 28/10/2019)       5/6 

Jayne Black  
(Chief Operating Officer to 31/12/20)      

On 
seco
ndm
ent 

2/5 

Katy Jackson 
(Interim Chief Operating Officer from 01/01/21) Commenced on 1 Jan 2021  1/1 

Rob Haigh 
(Medical Director)       6/6 

Anne Middleton* 
(Director of Quality)       6/6 

Julie Bacon* 
Strategic HR Advisor) Not in post     2/4 

# In attendance not formally a member of the Committee 
*In attendance 

 

Finance and Performance Committee 

The Finance and Performance Committee supports the Board to ensure that all 
appropriate action is taken to achieve the financial objectives of the Trust through 
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regular review of financial strategies and performance, investments, and capital and 
estates plans and performance. 
 
The Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive of the Trust and all Non-Executive 
and Executive Directors are invited to attend. 
 
Register of Members’ attendance at the Finance and Performance Committee 
meeting for the period 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Jan Feb Mar Total 

Patrick Boyle  
(Non-Executive  
Director & 
Committee Chair) 

           10/11 

Alan McCarthy # 
(Chairman)            9/11 
Mike Rymer 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

           10/11 

Joanna Crane # 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

           5/11 

Lizzie Peers* (Non-
Executive Director)            10/11 
Kirstin Baker 
(Non-Executive 
Director) 

           7/11 

Dame Marianne 
Griffiths (Chief 
Executive) 

           4/11 

Karen Geoghegan 
(Chief Financial 
Officer) 

           11/11 

George Findlay  
(Chief Medical 
Officer and Deputy 
Chief Executive) 

           7/11 

Jayne Black (Chief 
Operating Officer to 
31/12/20) 

        On 
secondment 6/8 

Katy Jackson 
(Interim Chief 
Operating Officer 
from 01/01/21) 

Commenced on 1 Jan 2021    2/3 

Carolyn Morrice 
(Chief Nurse)            9/11 
Ben Stevens* 
(Director of 
Performance) 

Not requested to attend for 
these meetings       6/6 

Clare Stafford* 
(Finance Director)            10/11 
Rob Haigh* 
(Trust Medical 
Director) 

           6/11 

# In attendance not formally a member of the Committee    
* In attendance 
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Charitable Funds Committee 
 
The purpose of the Charitable Funds Committee is to monitor progress and performance 
against the strategic direction of the Trust’s charity fundraising activity as determined by the 
Board as corporate Trustee; to approve and monitor expenditure of charitable funds in line 
with specified priority requirements; and to monitor the management of the Trust’s 
investment portfolio ensuring that the Trust at all times adheres to Charity Law and to best 
practice in governance and fundraising. 

Register of Members’ attendance at the Charitable Funds Committee meeting 
for the period 01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name Jul Oct Jan Total 

Lizzie Peers 
(Non-Executive Director and Committee Chair)    3/3 

Patrick Boyle 
(Non-Executive Director)    2/3 

Clare Stafford 
(Finance Director)    3/3 

Carolyn Morrice * 
(Chief Nurse)    2/2 

Mike Rymer ** 
(Non-Executive Director)    1/3 

Joanna Crane 
(Non-Executive Director Advisor)    3/3 

*Committee member from October 2020 
** Non-members, in attendance 
 
 
3Ts Committee 
 
The purpose of the 3Ts Committee is to provide assurance on the progress of this 
key project.  

Register of Members’ attendance at the 3Ts Committee meeting for the period 
01 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 

Name Apr May Jun Jul Sep Oct Nov Jan Feb Total 
Alan McCarthy 
(Chairman and 
Committee Chair) 

         9/9 

Kirstin Baker  
(Non-Executive Director          7/9 

Lizzie Peers 
(Non-Executive Director)          8/9 

Mike Rymer * 
(Non-Executive Director)          3/9 

Patrick Boyle* 
(Non-Executive Director)          5/9 

Joanna Crane* 
(Non-Executive Director)          9/9 

Pete Landstrom  
(Chief Delivery and 
Strategy Officer) 

         5/9 
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Name Apr May Jun Jul Sep Oct Nov Jan Feb Total 
Karen Geoghegan  
(Chief Financial Officer)          8/9 

George Findlay 
(Chief Medical Officer 
and Deputy Chief 
Executive) 

         7/9 

Gary Beacham (Interim 
3Ts Director from June 
2020) 

         9/9 

Duane Passman 
(Director of 3Ts)  Left the Trust in May 2020 1/9 

Peter Larsen-Disney 
(Clinical Director of 3Ts)          4/9 

Ian Arbuthnot* 
(Director of IM&T)          6/9 

Robert Cairney* 
(Group Director of 
Capital Development & 
Property) 

         4/9 

Vince Chalmers* 
(Associate Director of 
Finance) 

Commenced with  the Trust in January 
2021   2/9 

* Non-members, in attendance 
 
Appointment and Remuneration Committee 
 
The Committee sets the terms and conditions of the Executive Directors. This 
Committee’s membership is Non-Executive Directors only. 
 
In attendance at meetings are the Chief Executive, Chief Workforce and 
Organisational Development Director and the Group Company Secretary.  
 
During the period the Committee did not procure any external advice relating to pay 
and the Trust does not operate performance related pay. 
 
 
2.1.3 Appointments and appraisal 
 
The Chair and Non-Executive Directors are appointed through an NHS Improvement 
led appointments process. 
 
The Chairman, other Non-Executive Directors, and the Chief Executive are 
responsible for deciding the appointment of Executive Directors. 
 
The Chief Executive undertakes an appraisal on the performance of the Executive 
Directors, which are formally reported to the Appointment and Remuneration 
Committee.  The Chair conducts the Chief Executive’s appraisal which is reported in 
the same way. The Chair also undertakes the appraisal of the Non-Executive 
Directors while the Chairs appraisal is undertaken by the regulator, NHS 
Improvement. 
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2.1.4 Pharm@Sea Limited  
 
Pharm@Sea Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Trust and provides an 
Outpatient Dispensing service. As a trading company, subject to an additional legal 
and regulatory regime (over and above that of the Trust), this activity is considered to 
be a separate business segment. A significant proportion of the company’s revenue 
is inter segment trading with the Trust which is eliminated upon the consolidation of 
these group financial statements. 
 
 
2.1.5 Statement of compliance with the NHS Constitution 
 
The Board of Directors takes account of the NHS Constitution in its decisions and 
actions, as they relate to patients, the public and staff. The Board of Directors is 
compliant with the principles and pledges set out in the Constitution. The Trust’s 
agreed plan was to deliver two of the Constitutional Standards relating to Cancer and 
Diagnostics, these were however, these were not finally achieved due to the impact 
of the challenges in dealing with the Covid-19 pandemic and activity being cancelled 
to allow resources to be directed to the treatment of Covid-19 patients.   
 
 
2.1.6 Statement on Directors Disclosures 
 
The Annual Report is required to include a statement that for each individual, who is 
a Director at the time the report is approved, as follows: 
 

• So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of the 
which the (external) auditor is unaware; and 

• The Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a 
director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 
  

The Directors have confirmed the above statement. 
 
 
2.1.7 Declarations of Interest 
 
All Board members have declared their relationship, under the terms of a 
management contract, with BSUH NHS Trust as an ‘Interest’ in order to provide 
transparency on Board decision making. 

The Chair has not declared any significant commitments that require disclosure, 
other than that highlighted above relating to BSUH NHS Trust.   

The Trust holds a register of company directorships and other significant interests, 
held by both directors and governors, which may conflict with their management 
responsibilities. The Audit Committee receives an Annual Report on Board 
Declarations and the process to mitigate any potential conflicts. 
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The register of these interests is made publically available on the Trust’s public 
website this is available https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/our-board/ 

In line with a revision to the standard contract for NHS Services each Trust is 
required to report on the level of staff required to make an annual declaration that 
have made such a declaration. For 2020/21 537 of 538 of the required staff made 
their declaration recognising that the majority of staff made a nil return. The one 
member of staff who did not complete their return was leaving the Trust. 

 

2.1.8 Fraud, bribery and corruption statement 

BSUH is committed to eliminating fraud and corruption within the NHS, freeing up 
public resources for better patient care. To this end, the Trust employs a specialist 
counter-fraud service to provide a comprehensive programme against fraud and 
corruption which is overseen by the Trust’s Audit Committee. 

All anti-fraud and corruption legislation is complied with.  It is a criminal offence to 
give, promise or offer a bribe, and to request, agree to receive, or accept a bribe. A 
bribe may take the form of any financial or other advantage to another person in 
order to induce a person to perform improperly. 

Although the Bribery Act permits modest levels of gifts, hospitality and sponsorship, 
all staff are required to consider on an individual basis whether accepting any gifts, 
hospitality and sponsorship is appropriate, and should they then elect to accept it, to 
declare it in line with the Trust’s Managing Conflicts of Interest policy. 

The same principle applies to declarations of interest, i.e. staff are also required to 
declare any conflicts of interest they may have regarding financial or other ties to 
external organisations.  

It is also important that all of our contractors and agents comply with our policies and 
procedures. 

When entering into contracts with organisations the Trust follows the NHS standard 
terms and conditions of contract for the purchase of goods and supplies. 

We ask all who have dealings with the Trust, as employees, agents, trading partners, 
stakeholders and patients, to help us in our fight against fraud and corruption and to 
contact the counter-fraud service in confidence if they have any concerns or 
suspicions. 

We have increased our anti-fraud surveillance work during the Covid-19 period 
recognising the increased pressure the Trust is under and recognising the 
intelligence provided by the NHS Counter Fraud Authority who through the Local 
Counter Fraud Specialist provide regular and frequent anti-fraud bulletins. 

 

2.1.9 Statement on social responsibility 

BSUH reflects its social responsibility within the way it undertakes its business, this 
is from the recruitment, retention and development of our staff as noted within this 
report in respect of our equality, diversity and inclusion work through to way we 

https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/our-board/
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deliver of services making them accessible and environmentally sustainable again as 
detailed within this report through to our wider responsibility to work with our partners 
with regard to our responsibilities under safeguarding to protect our patients and 
their families and careers.   

 

2.1.10 Corporate Governance Code 
 
The Board is satisfied that it complies with the Corporate Governance Code, this 
view is supported by the well led inspection undertaken by the CQC as well as the 
views of internal and external audit. 
  
 

 
Dame Marianne Griffiths 
Chief Executive    

18 June 2021  
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s Responsibilities as the Accountable 
Officer of the Trust   
 
The Chief Executive of NHS Improvement, in exercise of powers conferred on the 
NHS Trust Development Authority, has designated that the Chief Executive should 
be the Accountable Officer of the trust.  The relevant responsibilities of 
Accountable Officers are set out in the NHS Trust Accountable Officer 
Memorandum. These include ensuring that:  

• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds 
and assets and assist in the implementation of corporate governance  
 

• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the Trust 
 

• the expenditure and income of the trust has been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them 
 

• effective and sound financial management systems are in place, and  
 

• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the 
Secretary of State to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the 
end of the financial year and the income and expenditure, other items of 
comprehensive income and cash flows for the year. 

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Trust’s 
auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
entity’s auditors are aware of that information. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer. 

 

 
Dame Marianne Griffiths  
Chief Executive  

18 June 2021 
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the Accounts 
 
The Directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006 to prepare 
accounts for each financial year.  The Secretary of State, with the approval of HM 
Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the Trust and of the income and expenditure, other items of comprehensive 
income and cash flows for the year.  In preparing those accounts, the Directors are 
required to: 

• apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary 
of State with the approval of the Treasury 

• make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent 
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject 

to any material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts, and 
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and disclose any 

material uncertainties over going concern. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Trust 
and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined 
in the above mentioned direction of the Secretary of State.  They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing the accounts. 

The Directors confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is 
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for 
patients, regulators and stakeholders to assess the NHS Trust’s performance, 
business model and strategy. 

By order of the Board 
 

 
Dame Marianne Griffiths 
Chief Executive  
18 June 2021 

 

 

Karen Geoghegan   
Chief Financial Officer  
18 June 2021  
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Annual Governance Statement 
 

1 Scope of responsibility  
 

1.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which 
I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to 
me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS trust is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Trust Accountable Officer 
Memorandum.  

1.2 The Trust’s Standing Orders and Scheme of Delegated Authority outline the 
accountability arrangements and scope of responsibility of the Board of Directors 
(‘the Board’), Executive Directors and Trust officers. 
 
1.3 The Board receives regular minutes and reports from each of the nominated 
Committees that report into it. The terms of reference of the Committees of the 
Board are regularly reviewed to ensure that governance arrangements continue to 
be fit for purpose. 
 
1.4 The Trust works in close partnership with other Health and Social Care 
organisations in the area, but notably with the Brighton and Hove Clinical 
Commissioning Group. In addition the Trust attends the Brighton and Hove City 
Council, Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
 
1.5 Merger with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

 
1.6 Brighton and Sussex University Hospital NHS Trust continued with the 
management contract arrangements with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust.  These arrangements commenced in April 2017 and have been 
extended from their initial end date of 31st March 2020 to 31st March 2021.  
 
1.7 The Board agreed to merge with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust under section 56a of the NHS Act 2006. As part of the merger preparedness 
the Board agreed a revised Board Governance structure seeing the Board 
committees aligned to the Trust’s patient first domains of patient, quality, people, 
sustainability and systems & partnerships.  This alignment will give a more efficient 
route for the flow of assurance from the operational areas of the Trust to the Board 
over the delivery of the Trust’s stated objectives, vision and values.    
 
1.8 As part of this work revised Committee terms of reference and a scheme of 
delegation were developed and approved by the Board. The Standing Financial 
Instructions for the legacy Trusts were aligned and approved in 2019.  These along 
with the Constitution which was approved by the Board and Council of Governors for 
the enlarged Trust ensures there is a sound system of internal control and assurance 
oversight established for the enlarged Foundation Trust.    



Page 60 

2. The purpose of the system of internal control  
 
2.1 The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims 
and objectives of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust, to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of 
internal control has been in place in Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust for the year ended 31st March 2021 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual report and accounts. 

3. Capacity to handle risk  
 
3.1Trust Board 
 
3.2 The Trust has a Risk Management Strategy and Policy, endorsed by the Board 
of Directors. The Board of Directors recognise that risk management is an integral 
part of good management practice and to be most effective should be embedded in 
the Trust’s culture. This recognition is embodied within the Strategy and Policy as 
this documents the Board’s risk appetite and the processes applied across the Trust 
which see the oversight of the Trust’s key risks assigned to a Board Committee with 
each key risk have a named executive lead.   The Board is committed to ensuring 
that risk management is embedded as part of the Trust’s philosophy, practice and 
planning and is not viewed or practiced as a separate programme and that 
responsibility for implementation is accepted at all levels of the organisation. 
 
3.3 The Board recognised the continued challenges facing the Trust as it manages 
the Covid-19 pandemic and maintained its proactive adaptation of its Board and 
Committee Governance processes which had commenced at the end of 2019/20.  
These changes have seen the continued provision of updates on Covid-19 at each 
Board meeting, the maintenance of through the Quality Assurance Committee 
meetings on the review of quality in line with the Board’s risk appetite.   There has 
been a continued use of technology to deliver both Committee and Board meetings. 
Supporting the Board meetings there is a regular information flow to all Board 
members including the Non Executives to ensure they are aware of any issues and 
actions taken to address these, Within the second wave of the pandemic these were 
enhanced with regular Board (NED) briefings from the Chief Executive 
complemented by wider Executive updates from the Executive Gold meetings.  The 
information flow to the Board Members is provided from the bronze, silver and gold 
command structure established to oversee the development and delivery of the Trust 
Covid-19 incident response plan. 
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3.4 Board Committees  
 
3.5 The Audit Committee has overall responsibility for ensuring effective risk 
management across the Trust. The Audit Committee receive information annually 
from the Trust’s internal auditors and from its own review of the Trust’s Board 
Assurance Framework and through this work supports the Board to be assured over 
the robustness of the Trust’s application of sound risk management processes.  To 
enable the Audit Committee to fulfil its role one Non Executive Member sits on each 
of the other Board Committees providing a clear link to and from the Audit 
Committee’s oversight of the Board Assurance Framework and the work undertaken 
in each Committee in respect of the key risks they have assigned oversight for. 
 
3.6 The other key Board Committees of Finance & Performance and Quality 
Assurance regularly receive and consider the strength of assurance reflected within 
the Board Assurance Framework and the actions being taken to manage risks that 
are outside the Board’s stated risk appetite.  Each Committee reports the outcome of 
their review of the Board Assurance Framework to the next Board meeting.  
 
3.7 The Board has developed its Committee structure for 2021/22 with the 
establishment of the five patient first thematic committees of Patient, Quality, People, 
Sustainability and Systems & Partnerships. Each Committee will report to the Board 
after their meetings continuing to provide assurance aligned to the Trust Board 
Assurance Framework complementing the Board’s Integrated Performance Report.  
 
3.8 Non-executive Directors 
 
3.9 All Committees are chaired by a nominated Non-Executive Director. The Audit 
Committee who play a pivotal role in providing assurance over the risk management 
processes of the Trust has a membership of only Non-Executive Directors.   Through 
the Non-Executive Chairs and the Audit Committee membership all have a 
responsibility to challenge robustly the effective management of risk and to seek 
reasonable assurance of adequate control.  This Non-Executive Director Committee 
chair membership of the Audit Committee continues into the enlarged Trust. 
 
3.10 The Audit Committee maintains an overview of the Board Assurance 
Framework complementing the work of the other two Committees and through the 
receipt of both management assurance and assurance from Internal Audit that the 
underpinning risk management processes operated within the Trust remained 
effective. 
 
3.11 Chief Nurse  
 
3.12 The Chief Nurse is responsible for the strategic development and 
implementation of organisational risk management system and ensuring there is a 
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robust system in place for monitoring compliance with standards and the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC) Registration legal requirements. 
 
3.13 The Chief Nurse is also responsible for managing patient and non-patient 
safety, complaints, patient experience and medical legal matters. 
 
3.14 Chief Finance Officer 
 
3.15 The Chief Finance Officer oversees the adoption and operation of the Trust’s 
Standing Financial Instructions including the rules relating to budgetary control, 
procurement, banking, losses and controls over income and expenditure 
transactions, and is the lead for counter fraud.  
 
3.16 The Chief Finance Officer and the Trust’s Finance Director attend the Trust’s 
Audit Committee, both liaise with internal audit, external audit and counter fraud 
services, who undertake programmes of audit with a risk based approach. 
 
3.17 Risk Management Training and Learning 
 
3.18 Risk management training forms part of the essential training package that all 
staff are required to complete. All new members of staff attend a mandatory 
induction covering key elements of risk management, supplemented by local 
induction. The organisation provides mandatory and statutory training that all staff 
must attend. 
 
3.19 The Trust has established a culture of learning, through the work on the 
implementation of national clinical standards, the delivery of improvements flowing 
from local and national clinical audits and the focus on learning from all incidents. 
The reporting of this work flows to the Board through the work of the Quality 
Assurance Committee and from reports directly to the Board.  This allows the Board 
to see the positive impact that the improvements from this learning has on the 
Trust’s risk profile.   

4 The risk and control framework 
 
4.1 The Board of Directors has established a robust corporate governance 
framework which is detailed within the Annual Report section ‘How the Trust is run’. 
The corporate governance structure is designed to ensure appropriate oversight and 
scrutiny and to ensure good corporate governance practice is followed.   
 
4.2 In support of the Trust’s corporate governance processes the Trust continues to 
apply its clinical divisional governance processes.  Each Clinical Division is led by a 
triumvirate of a Divisional Director of Operations, a Chief of Service and a Head of 
Nursing. Each division reports through the Quality Governance Steering Group to the 
Board’s Quality Assurance Committee.  The Trust’s Internal Auditors reviewed these 
revised processes in the last quarter of 2018/19 and provided positive assurance 
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over the effectiveness of these processes, with a follow up review in 2019/20 
confirming they operated as expected. 
 
4.3 The Trust has a Risk Strategy and Policy that was updated in 2020, with this 
review confirming the stated Trust’s risk appetite and the Trust’s processes for 
identifying, reporting and managing risk.  
 
4.4 Risk management training forms part of the essential training package that all 
staff are required to complete.  All new members of staff attend a mandatory 
induction event which covers key elements of risk management. The Trust provides 
statutory and mandatory training that all staff must attend. 
 
4.5 Risks are raised and captured to a central risk management database known as 
Datix. 
 
4.6 All staff are responsible for responding to incidents, hazards, complaints and 
near misses in accordance with appropriate Trust policies. Local management teams 
oversee local risk registers and the management and escalation, as appropriate, of 
risks. 
 
4.7 The Trust has an established Board Assurance Framework (BAF), through which 
the Board is provided with a mechanism for satisfying itself that its responsibilities 
are being discharged effectively; and informs the Board where the delivery of 
principal objectives are at risk due to a gap in control and/or assurance.  
 
4.8 The BAF remains aligned to the Trust’s True North and Breakthrough Objectives, 
the operation of the BAF has been subject to review by Internal Audit who reported 
positively over its effectiveness to the Audit Committee during the year. 
 
4.9 The BAF records that the Trust has been managing 13 significant risks, and at 
the year end the Trust had five highly scored key risks, these related to 
 

• Being unable to deliver ongoing efficiencies and flex our resources in an agile 
way resulting in an increasing or unmanaged deficit and inefficient, 
unaffordable and unsustainable services; 
 

• Being unable to consistently meet the health, safety and wellbeing needs of 
our staff as we recover and restore services in line with Covid-19 restrictions;  

 
• Being unable to develop and maintain collaborative relationships with partner 

organisations based on shared aims, objectives, and timescales leading to an 
adverse impact on our ability to operate efficiently and effectively within our 
health economy; 
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• Being unable to define and deliver the strategic intentions, plans and optimal 
configuration that will enable our services to be sustainable, leading to an 
adverse impact on their future viability; and 

• Being unable to deliver and demonstrate consistent compliance with 
operational and NHS constitutional standards resulting in an adverse impact 
on patient care and financial penalties and the Trust’s reputation and the 
reputation of the Trust. 
 

4.10 For each of these risks there is a detailed series of actions which will continue 
through 2021/22. The delivery of these actions and the impact on these risks is 
monitored through the appropriate oversight Committee of the Board  
 
4.11 The Trust took action during the year which saw its BAF financially related risk 
reduce but the risk relating to the Trust’s ability flex its resources did not reduce to 
the same level reflecting the level of uncertainty over the demands on the Trust to 
deal with the Covid-19 pandemic and the changing financial framework the NHS is 
subject to.   
 
4.12 The Trust has taken a number of actions to enhance its processes to support 
the wellbeing of its staff. However, given the relentless pressure the pandemic has 
placed on the Trust’s services and the prolonged period of the national incident the 
Trust has assessed the long term risk to staff wellbeing as increasing.  The Board 
with the establishment of a dedicated People Committee will track the effectiveness 
of its plans to mitigate this risk alongside receiving direct information from staff 
feedback / surveys on the efficacy of the wellbeing programmes developed to 
support the Trust’s staff. 
 
4.13 During the year the Trust worked collaboratively with its system partners 
including leading on the Sussex Acute Care Network Collaborative within the Sussex 
Health and Social Care Partnership.  This work has seen the reduction in the 
respective BAF risks but they remain highly scored at the year end. 
 
4.14 In respect of the compliance with regard to the key constitutional targets the 
Trust took action and has prioritised the treatment of patients according to their 
clinical needs.  Like the majority of NHS providers, the Trust has taken action to 
support the NHS and the Country with their measures to deal with Covid-19 which 
has impacted on the Trust’s ability to reduce further this risk. 
 
4.15 During 2020/21 the Trust has responded positively to the national requirements 
placed on it with regards to countering Covid-19. The Trust has been supported 
through the established bronze, silver and gold incident control processes which 
include a robust process for the capturing of issues and risks and the follow through 
on actions to mitigate these.  These processes were considered by Internal Audit to 
be robust and effective and have placed the Trust in a strong position to adapt its 
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control environment to respond to the changing nature of the county’s and National 
Health Service response to Covid-19.   
 
Processes for Managing Cyber Security Risk 
 
4.16 We continue to develop our relationship with NHS Digital and CareCERT, 
ensuring that all of our end-points are enrolled into Microsoft’s Advanced Threat 
Protection (ATP). ATP is a security platform for intelligent protection, detection, 
investigation and response. The Trust also acts on every national CareCERT 
advisory report that we receive to ensure we learn and adapt to any national risk 
assessments. 
 
4.17 The operational teams are working to remove outdated operating systems from 
the environment. We have a further years support from NHS Digital on our 
Windows estate and we continue with our migration to Windows 10. A working plan 
to update our server estate is also in progress working with our application managers 
and 3rd party support companies.   
 
4.18 We continue with our consistent approach of improving our protection by 
carrying out regular penetration tests and remediation plans having previously 
strengthened our firewalls to the outside world.  
 
4.19 We have partnerships working with 3rd parties to improve the Trusts security 
posture. This includes table top exercises, phishing campaigns and education for our 
staff on cyber risk.  
 
4.20 We will have completed our deployment of Imprivata Single Sign On system, 
with all clinical user access now requiring 2 factor authentication coupled with the 
system having better auditing capabilities.   Internal Audit undertook a review of the 
Trust’s processes within this area and supported the Trust with a number of 
recommendations for improvement with these actions reported and tracked at the 
Audit Committee. We continue to undertake regular cyber audits.  
 

Processes for assuring the Board that staffing processes are safe, sustainable 
and effective 
 
4.21 There are a number of ways in which the trust ensures that short, medium and 
long term workforce strategies and staffing systems are in place which assures the 
Board that staffing processes are safe, sustainable and effective.   Informed by our 
clinical strategy and aligned to operational and financial planning, workforce demand 
and supply plans are developed at specialty and divisional level and include 
recruitment, retention and workforce transformation and efficiency plans.   
  
4.22 National Quality Board standards, NICE guidance, NHSE/I guidance and 
recommendations from Royal Colleges and the output of national taskforces on 
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workforce are used to inform the optimum staffing levels required to deliver high 
quality and safe services in an acute hospital environment.   Changes to staffing 
profiles (numbers and skills) are subject to a Quality Impact Assessment at divisional 
level and reviewed by the Chief Medical Officer and Chief Nurse prior to 
implementation. 
 
4.23 Through regular reporting to the Board, workforce and safer staffing reports are 
provided and these are triangulated against quality metrics to ensure our staffing 
processes are safe, sustainable and effective.   
 
4.24 The Trust has an active Guardian for Safe Working Hours who works closely 
with educational and clinical supervisors to ensure that the health, wellbeing and 
safety of junior doctors is maintained.   Well attended monthly forums are in place to 
address issues and concerns raised by junior doctors.  The Guardian provides a 
regular report to the joint local negotiating forum and to the Quality Assurance 
Committee on matters raised and how these are being addressed.   
 
4.25 During 2020/21, the health and wellbeing of staff has been a key priority with an 
extensive number of interventions to support the physical, emotional and financial 
health needs of our workforce.    Regular updates to the Board and committees are 
in place and in future the Chair of the newly established People Committee will be 
the Trust’s Wellbeing Guardian. 
 
4.26 Daily reporting of staffing capacity, including absence, has been in place during 
the pandemic.    A nursing workforce hub, central rota support for doctors and daily 
multi-disciplinary meetings were established at peak times to monitor capacity 
across all staff groups and manage the rapid deployment of staff where 
required.  Reporting through the incident control structure from Bronze to Gold 
command, workforce risks were identified and effectively managed. 
 
4.27 There are robust governance structures in place that oversee the efficiency and 
effectiveness of our staffing systems that ultimately report into the Quality Assurance 
and the Finance and Performance Committees of the board. Maintaining workforce 
capacity and capability to ensure it is safe and appropriate is a key feature of risk 
management at divisional and trust level. 
   
4.28 The Trust has commenced the introduction of electronic systems to capture and 
collate staffing numbers and skill mix for nursing staff and has a similar mechanism 
partially rolled out to medical staff. Electronic systems for managing temporary 
workforce supply provide an additional level of assurance. The Safer Staffing Board 
report will remain six monthly and extend to all other clinical professions.   
 
Processes for managing regulatory risk 

4.29 The Trust’s latest CQC inspection report issued in January 2019, confirms 
that the Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care 
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Quality Commission.  The Trust has an action plan to deal with the improvements 
suggested by the CQC and has specifically committed through a detailed action 
plan shared externally with the CQC and NHS Improvement to address the two 
areas where the CQC have identified regularity improvements are required. 

4.30 The Trust continued to deploy its Patient First programme which ensures that 
there is a continued focus on improvement focusing on improving quality, the patient 
experience and ensuring the trust is sustainable, which are key to the delivery of the 
Trust’s True North and Breakthrough Objectives. 
 
4.31 During the period of this report the Trust regrettably had six Never Events 
and one Prevention of Future Deaths notification from the Brighton Coroner. Never 
Events and Serious Incidents are subject to a thorough internal review to identify 
Root Causes and learning. The Trust applied its processes for undertaking a Root 
Cause Analysis in respect of the Coroner notification.  All Serious Incidents including 
Never Events were reported as required to the Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS 
Improvement and to NHS England.  A full investigation is undertaken and the 
outcome and recommendations reported to the Trust Board for each serious incident 
 
4.32 The trust has maintained and published on its website an up-to-date register 
of interests including gifts and hospitality, for decision-making staff within the past 
twelve months, as required by the ‘Managing Conflicts of Interest in the NHS’ 
guidance. This register is available on the Trust’s website and records the details 
of the Trust senior decision makers, including Board members and Trust Directors. 

4.33 As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension 
Scheme, control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations 
contained within the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring 
that deductions from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the 
Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension 
Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed 
in the Regulations. 

4.34 Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations 
under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. 

4.35 The trust has undertaken risk assessments and has a sustainable development 
management plan in place which takes account of UK Climate Projections 2018 
(UKCP18). The trust ensures that its obligations under the Climate Change Act and 
the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with. 
4.36 The Trust has undertaken a six-facet building condition survey with the delivery 
of the agreed actions reported to the Board, including those relating to improved fire 
safety across the Trust. 
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5. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 
resources 
 
5.1 The Board receives a monthly report from the Chief Financial Officer on financial 
performance. Financial performance is highlighted and reviewed at the Trust 
Executive Committee to ensure that all senior leaders have visibility on the Trust’s 
financial position and the actions required. Financial performance is scrutinised in 
detail at the Finance and Performance Committee. 
 
5.2 The Trust has maintained a robust structure for the identification and delivery of 
efficiency programmes. This is supported by a Programme Management Office and 
oversight provided by an Executive led efficiency and workforce steering group. 
Reports are also provided monthly to the Finance and Investment Committee.  The 
Trust in 2020/21 has met its overall financial plan despite having to deploy significant 
resources to deal with Covid-19.   
 
5.3 The Trust in 2019/20 developed a Medium Term Financial Plan for the next five 
years which will see it deliver a sustainable financial position within this period.       
 

6. Information governance 
 
6.1 In line with standing guidance from NHS Digital on the reporting and 
classification of Data Protection and Security Incidents, the Trust is pleased to 
confirm that it reported no incidents to the Information Commissioner’s Office. 
 
6.2 Each year the Trust completes and submits the Data Security and Protection 
Toolkit to demonstrate its compliance against the National Data Guardian’s National 
Data Security Standards. NHS Digital has set a deadline of 30 June 2021 for 
submission, however the Trust made its submission before 31 March 2021 due to 
the pending merger with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The 
Trust is pleased to confirm that this submission, following an internal audit, was 
agreed that all Standards have been met.  
 

7. Quality Account 
 
7.1 The requirement under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service 
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for 
each financial year has been again suspended the need for these to audited this 
year due to the NHS focus on Covid-19.   
 
7.2 However the Trust established quality improvement priorities for 2020/21 and the 
performance against these quality priorities is reported to Quality Assurance 
Committee. 
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7.3 All service improvements are subject to robust Quality Improvement 
Assessments, the outcome of the initial assessment and subsequent re-
assessments as the projects progress are reported to the Quality Assurance 
Committee who provide oversight of actions being taken in respect to any significant 
changes to the quality risk profile of that service improvement.   
 
7.4 Service changes and Trust polices all include an Equality Impact Assessment 
which identifies any risk of individuals or groups being disadvantaged by that change 
or policy together with actions being taken to mitigate that risk. Such risks are 
captured within the Trust’s risk management processes and mitigating actions are 
closely monitored via the Trust’s divisional governance processes with any 
significant risks escalated to the Trust Executive Committee. 

8. Data Quality and Governance 
 
8.1 The Trust has a comprehensive suite of near real time daily reports, which allow 
detailed patient level review at an operational level, allowing for trend analysis. There 
is an established daily validation process undertaken by clinical leads for patients 
who exceed four hours in department, and approved by the Chief Operating Officer 
or the Deputy Chief Operating Officer each respective day. The Trust capture daily 
A&E breach information on 4 hourly site reports which are cross referenced against 
electronic Patient Administration System (PAS) reporting which helps ensure 
understanding and reconciliation of any discrepancies between daily performance 
(as reported via the Patient Administration system) and that observed by site 
management teams.   
 
8.2 For Referral to Treatment (RTT) performance, there is a comprehensive 
validation process undertaken, underpinned by the patient access policy and RTT 
Rules Suite, whereby month end over 18 week waiters are reviewed at a care group 
level for their accuracy, and the validated cohort of patients are updated daily up to 
the point at which reporting is finalised (approximately 18th of subsequent month). 
This is supported by divisional and corporate weekly meetings where trends and 
anomalies are tracked and rectified.  
 
8.3 For cancer patient level information is reviewed daily as part of Multi-Disciplinary 
Team meetings and tracking processes, captured in detail on the National Somerset 
system, with a range of daily updated performance and operational tracking reports 
to support patient pathway management.  
 
8.4 More widely, the Trust access the national Secondary User System Clinical Data 
Set data quality dashboards which provide a degree of assurance around 
completeness of key administrative data items (patient details) broken down by main 
activity types (A&E, inpatient and outpatient activities) where the Trust has 
performed well above target level in terms of completeness of records.  The data 
quality team proactively undertake data cleansing activities on the Patient 
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Administration System daily, acting on a suite of automated reports and results from 
the trace files sent to the national Personal Demographic Serves (PDS).  The data 
quality reports are shared with the Information Governance Group.  
 
8.5 The Trust developed a data quality kite marking process in 19/20 which visually 
shows the quality of the underlying data across a number of elements, including the 
timeliness of the data, the strength of internal independent validation etc.  This 
process has been applied to the key performance indicators reported to the Trust’s 
Finance and Performance Committee which provides an easy reference point for the 
Committee when discussing the Trust’s reported performance and the decisions it is 
faced with based on the Trust’s reported position. The process is being expanded to 
True North and wider qualitative scorecards, and will influence where the Trust 
focusses further data quality improvements.  This process was suspended during 
2020/21 due to resource impact of Covid-19 information requirements, but is planned 
to be re-commenced during 2021/22. 
 
8.6 The Trust adopted a Gold command business continuity plan as part of the 
Covid-19 response. This required a wealth of daily and weekly information to be 
gathered both Covid related and the indirect impact of Covid-19 on constitutional 
performance, with scrutiny by Silver and Gold commanders each day. This provided 
an extra layer of data quality assurance, triangulated with clinical services. 
 
8.7 As part of Trust merger, the Trust has reviewed current information relating to 
key constitutional standards with WSHFT information teams, so as to be able to 
provide an aggregated view of the planned new Trust from April 2021. This has 
provided a further opportunity to review definitions and align methods of collection to 
improve consistency. 
 
8.8 The Trust undertook Strategy Deployment Reviews (SDRs) at a divisional level 
in 2019/20 which allowed executive level scrutiny of performance trends which 
provides another layer of assurance in terms of performance (and its associated data 
quality). The process adopts a review of key performance metrics, whereby a drop in 
performance trend elicits a structured stratification of reasons for performance 
slippage, and mitigation and recovery actions to recover performance. This is an 
opportunity to cover data quality concerns alongside key operational constraints, or 
demand pressures. This is part of the Trust True North/Patient First governance 
arrangements all of which prioritise patient care, and allow the core operational 
priorities to be aligned and understood from board to floor.  The Trust PFIS 
programme reviews data on a granular level to establish baselines, and monitor 
improvement, the scrutiny of which contributes to maintained high quality data. The 
SDR process was suspended for part of 2020/21 due to a focus being given by the 
Divisions on delivering the national Covid response, however this process will be 
reinstated as part of 2021/22 performance assurance process. 
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9. Review of effectiveness  
9.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the 
executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS trust who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework.  
 
9.2 Head of Internal Audit Opinion   
 
9.3 Internal audit provide an independent and objective opinion on the degree to 
which risk management, control and governance support the achievement of the 
Trust's objectives. 
 
9.4 Based on work undertaken during 2020/21 the Head of Internal Audit has stated 
in their Head of Internal Audit Opinion that they “are able to provide moderate 
assurance that there is a sound system of internal control, designed to meet the 
Trust’s objectives and that controls are being applied consistently” 
 
9.5 In forming their opinion they took into account that, the Trust delivered a 
breakeven position, that the majority of core audits provided moderate or substantial 
assurance in the design of controls, including key audits such as key financial 
systems and data security and protection toolkit.  Throughout all audit work 
completed, we raised only one high priority finding within the Cyber security report 
and we noted that this was in an area of known and managed risk.     
 
9.6 Internal Audit noted there had been an impact on the Trust’s timely closing of 
agreed action in part driven by the Trust’s focus on dealing with the national 
pandemic.  However Internal Audit did not feel this adversely impacted on their 
overall positive moderate opinion.  
 
9.6 Internal Audit also reflected that the Trust has a good record in implementing 
internal audit recommendations. Internal Audit have confirmed that for the remaining 
recommendations action was in progress and these did not pose any unaddressed 
significant risk. 
 
9.7 External Audit  
 
9.8 External Audit report to the Trust on the findings from their audit work, in 
particular their review of the financial statements and the Trust’s economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources.  For 2020/21 an unqualified audit opinion 
has been issued in respect of the financial statements and External Audit had no 
matters to report by exception in respect of the Value for Money Commentary. 
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9.9 Counter-fraud    
 
9.10 The Trust is required under Service Condition 24 of the Standard NHS 
Commissioning Contract to ensure appropriate counter fraud measures are in place.  
 
9.11 The Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS) adopts a risk-based approach to 
counter fraud work, identifying areas of potential vulnerability. Relevant local 
proactive exercises (LPEs) are consequently built into the Trust’s annual counter 
fraud work plan, which is overseen by the Audit Committee. The LCFS helps to 
foster an anti-fraud culture within the Trust through delivery of an ongoing training 
programme across a wide range of staff groups. This features regular presentations 
on counter fraud and on compliance with the UK Bribery Act 2010. The LCFS 
attends each meeting of the Audit Committee to present a report on his work. The 
maintenance of strong systems of financial control and stewardship of public funds 
remains critical during the NHS response to Covid-19.  The Trust has continued with 
its established separate coding processes for Covid-19 costs and their recovery has 
also been subject to review by NHSE/I.  
 
9.12 The LCFS has not identified any significant control weaknesses during their 
work.  Where improvements have been identified then like Internal Audit they make 
recommendations and the delivery of these is tracked and reported to the Audit 
Committee.  
 
9.13 Care Quality Commission 
 
9.14 The Care Quality Commission undertook an inspection of the Trust during 
2018/19 culminating in a report being published in January 2019.  The outcome of 
this inspection saw the Trust rated a “good” overall with care across the Trust rated 
as “outstanding”.  The CQC has undertaken a series of engagement visits to the 
Trust during 2020/21 and have not identified any issues that would change their 
2019 opinion of the Trust. 
 
9.15 External Inspections 
 
9.16 During the year the Trust, following a visit by West Sussex Fire and Rescue 
Service to the Princess Royal Hospital, received a notice to make a number of 
improvements. The required improvements were made in line with the agreed action 
plans to the Trust’s Fire Training and Staff Awareness processes culminating in the 
Fire and Rescue withdrawing their notice.   
  
9.17 External reviews are tracked with their outcome and any associated 
improvement actions reported to the Quality Assurance Committee and the Trust 
Executive Committee.   
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9.18 Board Committees 
 
9.19 The Board and its Committees form an important aspect of control and I have 
been advised during my review by the work of both the Audit Committee, the 
Finance and Performance Committee and the Quality Assurance Committee which 
have met across 200/21. I have also been advised by the first meetings of the 
Patient, Quality, People, Sustainability and Systems and Partnership Committees in 
2021/22 under the Board’s revised governance framework. 
 
9.20 Finance and Performance Committee 
 
9.21 The Finance and Performance Committee which is chaired by a Non-Executive 
Director provides me and the Board with a flow of assurance over the effectiveness 
of the established systems of internal financial control and the systems of internal 
control supporting operational performance delivery and reporting. 
 
9.22 During the year the Committee has received regular reports on the Trust’s 
financial position, the management of its cash position and the delivery of the Trust’s 
capital programme, along with the delivery of the Trust’s efficiency programme and 
reports covering workforce, procurement and IM&T.   The Committee also received 
regular reports on the delivery of the Trusts performance measures and has received 
a series of more in depth reports covering specific aspects of performance.   
 
9.23 These reports have supported the Committee in its assurance flow to the Board 
that these key risks have been managed well during the year. 
 
9.24 Quality Assurance Committee 
 
9.25 The Quality Assurance Committee which is chaired by a Non-Executive Director 
provides me and the Board with a flow of assurance over the effectiveness of the 
established systems of internal control in respect of management of key quality risks. 
 
9.26 During the year the Committee has received regular reports on the Trust’s 
quality performance and quality risks, learning from complaints and investigations 
into untoward incidents along with regular reporting on the outcomes from clinical 
audits.  The Committee have supported the assurance flow to the Board that quality 
key risks have been managed during the year especially that there have been no 
significant patient safety matters arising within the areas where the Trust is poorly 
performing, these being against the 4 hour emergency access standard, the 18 
weeks referral to treatment standard and the cancer pathway standards.   
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9.27 3Ts Committee 
 
9.27 The Trust has established a 3Ts Oversight and Assurance Committee, which is 
chaired by the Trust Chairman provides me and the Board with a flow of assurance 
over the delivery of this significant project.    
 
9.29 The Committee has received regular reports from the 3Ts Director and from the 
Trust’s external advisors.  These reports have supported the Committee with its 
reporting of assurance to the Board across the year.  
 
9.30 Board Assurance Framework 
 
9.31 During the year covered by this report a revised Board Assurance Framework 
reporting framework has been implemented which has seen a structured flow of 
assurance reporting to the Board on the controls managing the Trust’s key risks to 
the delivery of the Trust’s identified True North and associated breakthrough 
objectives. This process plays a key role in articulating where gaps in control exist 
and the tracking of devised actions to mitigate these. 
 
9.32 Wider processes 
 
9.33 My review is also informed by, the Trust’s processes for: 

• monitoring the delivery of improvements flowing from the receipt of the 
outcome of the Annual Staff Survey 

• monitoring the delivery of improvements from the learning identified from 
complaints and the investigation of serious incidents 

• tracking the outcomes from the programme of work undertaken by internal 
and external auditors a well as Counter Fraud 

• monitoring the delivery of improvement flowing from reviews undertaken by 
external bodies  

• delivering improvements from the outcomes of external assurance visits 
including the national Getting It Right First Time reviews across many of the 
Trust’s services.  
 

9.34 These process culminate in reporting to the Board through the revised 
Divisional and Executive governance processes on the state of the Trust’s systems 
of internal control.  
 
9.35 I have drawn on the information provided in this annual report along with that 
outlined above and other performance information available to me. My review is 
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management 
letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the board, the audit 
committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement 
of the system is in place.  
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10. Conclusion   
10.1 I have considered the factors described in the NHS Improvement guidance on 
the 2020/21 annual governance statement in respect of significant issues.  
 
10.2 Whilst during the period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021 and up to the time of 
signing the accounts I have identified challenged areas with respect to the consistent 
achievement of Trust priorities I have not identified any significant internal control 
issues as defined as such within the NHS Annual Reporting Guidance issued by 
NHS Improvement.    
 
10.3 Oversight of the Trust’s management of these challenges continues at the 
Board and through its Committees with each being assured that the Trust has 
established and adapted these, as appropriate whilst dealing with the Covid-19 
challenges, to ensure there remain adequate systems of internal control and where 
control improvements are identified that these are delivered in line with agreed action 
plans.  
 
10.4 Although the Trust has delivered its Financial Plan for the last 3 years I 
recognise there remains significant work to continue to deliver a financially 
sustainable Trust and for the Trust to meet consistently all of the constitutional 
targets the Board recognises that these are dependent on the successful delivery of 
the whole 3Ts programme. These actions have been incorporated into the Trust’s 
Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 
 
 
 
Signed: 
Date: 18 June 2021 

Dame Marianne Griffiths  
Chief Executive                                   
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3  REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT 
 

3.1 Annual statement on remuneration 

It is the responsibility of the Appointment and Remuneration Committee of Non-
Executive Directors to oversee the pay arrangements of Executive Directors, details 
of the Committee can be found within the ‘How the Trust is Run’ section of this 
report.   

BSUH Trust is being operated under the terms of a management contract with 
Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust employment contracts of all 
Executive Directors are held by Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

 

3.2 Senior Managers remuneration policy 

All Directors performance is subject to an annual appraisal, the outcome of which is 
reported to the Appointment and Remuneration Committee by the Chief Executive. 
This is prior to any decision being made on Executive remuneration. 

For the Chief Executive Officer, their appraisal is undertaken by the Chair of the 
Trust with a report then submitted to the Committee. 

The annual appraisal method is chosen as it is an effective way to assess 
performance against a range of performance targets and leadership responsibilities 
and includes feedback from Non-Executive Directors and peers as part of a 360-
degree feedback process. 

In coming to any decision on remuneration, the Committee takes account of the 
circumstances of the Trust, the size and complexity of the role, any changes in the 
Directors portfolio, the performance of the individual and any appropriate national 
guidance. Senior managers are remunerated based on these decisions.  

In considering Senior Managers pay the Committee took note of national benchmark 
data provided by NHS Providers and the requirement to consider any pay above a 
threshold of £150,000 as per cabinet office guidance. 

 

3.3 Future policy table 

Please see in the following table details of the components of the remuneration 
package for senior managers.  This is made up of: 

Components of Senior Managers remuneration: 

Base Salary 

Performance related pay (where appropriate). 

 
Base salaries are set in line with market information and are designed to ensure 
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retention, or recruitment, of the calibre and experience required to deliver the aims of 
the Trust. Salaries are revised annually and uplifted only if: 

• There is demonstrable evidence that an uplift is required to keep in line with 
the market 

• A change in portfolio necessitates an uplift 

The performance related pay scheme is based on the NHS Pay framework for Very 
Senior Managers. The Appointment and Remuneration Committee would, annually, 
consider whether the overall performance of the Trust warrants consideration of a 
performance related element being paid and if so the parameters of such an award. 

 

3.4 Service contracts obligations and Policy on payment for loss of office 

HM Treasury has issued specific guidance on severance payments within ‘Managing 
Public Money’ and special severance payments when staff leave requires Treasury 
approval. 

All contracts are permanent with no fixed end date. There are no contractual 
provisions for payments on termination of contract. 

 

3.5 Statement of consideration of employment conditions elsewhere  

In considering any decision on remuneration the Committee takes note of both the 
organisational and national context. 

 

3.6 Pay multiples (subject to audit)  

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in the financial year 2020/21 
was £290k-295k (2019/20: £300k - £305k). This was 11 times (2019/20: 12) the 
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £26.3k (2019/20: £25.5k). 

In 2020/21, no employees (2019/20: nil) received remuneration in excess of the 
highest-paid director. Remuneration ranged from £18k to £221k, excluding directors 
(2019/20 £16k to £293k). 

The banded salary referenced above includes the total remuneration paid for roles 
undertaken at Western Sussex Hospitals and Brighton and Sussex University 
Hospitals. Taking into account only that part of the Director remuneration that relates 
to Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals, the banded remuneration of the highest 
paid director is £145-150k.  This was 6 times the median remuneration of the 
workforce and in 2020/21, 87 employees received remuneration in excess of this. 
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Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent. 

 

3.7 Salary and Pension entitlements of senior managers (subject to audit) 

The Trust entered into a management contract with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust from 1 April 2017. The Executive Team and Chairman of Western 
Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust are also the Executive Team and Chairman 
of the Trust. The disclosure below shows the full salary and the proportion of salary 
attributable to the Trust in table 1 and table 2 (tables 3 and 4 show prior year 
compartors)  

Expenses incurred by Non-Executive Directors have not been apportioned between 
the two organisations. 

Trust Executive and Non-Executive Directors 2020/21 – Table 1   

 
Column (f) above includes an amount in respect of the increase in pension 
entitlements (column (e)) of each senior manager. It compares the projected pension 
and lump sum at the end of the financial year with the equivalent figures at the start 
of the year, adjusted for inflation and deducting employees’ pension contributions. 
The pension element of the calculation assumes that the individual will receive a 
pension for a twenty-year period.  

Salary Total expenses Bonus L/term bonus Pension Benefit* Total 

Brighton and 
Sussex 

University 
Hospitals 

Remuneration
Bands of £5,000 Nearest £100 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £2,500 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000

a b c d e f g
Marianne Griffiths
Chief Executive

270 - 275 14                     20 - 25 -                    25 - 27.5 320 - 325 145 - 150

George Findlay
Chief Medical Officer

215 - 220 8                       -                    45 - 50 57.5 - 60 325 - 330 130 - 135

Karen Geoghegan
Chief Financial Officer

190 - 195 -                    5 - 10 -                    82.5 - 85 280 - 285 100 - 105

Denise Farmer
Chief Workforce Officer

125 - 130 58                     5 - 10 -                    -                    135 - 140 65 - 70

Peter Landstrom
Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer

160 - 165 39                     5 - 10 -                    32.5 - 35 200 - 205 85 - 90

Carolyn Morrice
Chief Nurse

155 - 160 2                       -                    -                    145 - 147.5 305 - 310 155 - 160

Jayne Black
Chief Operating Officer

160 - 165 -                    -                    -                    0 - 2.5 160 - 165 160 - 165

Alan McCarthy
Chairman

70 - 75 4                       -                    -                    -                    70 - 75 10 - 15

Patrick Boyle
Non-Executive Director

10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Joanna Crane
Non-Executive Director

10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Elizabeth Peers
Non-Executive Director

10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Michael Rymer
Non-Executive Director

10 - 15 3                       -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Kirstin Baker
Non-Executive Director

10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15

Jacqueline Cassell
Non-Executive Director

10 - 15 -                    -                    -                    -                    10 - 15 10 - 15
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The figures for ‘all pension-related benefits (e)’ do not constitute a charge to the 
Trust’s Statement of Comprehensive Income or a taxable benefit for the senior 
managers. The Trust’s contribution to directors’ pensions was 14.38% of salary for 
2020-21 (14.38% in 2019-20).  

In summary, the figures calculated in the “All pension related benefits” column take 
into account several factors, the principal one being the total maximum income that 
the person would receive covering the following 20-year period if they retired at the 
end of the financial year in question.  

The total included within column (f) is skewed as this includes the annual increase in 
cumulative pension entitlement, and not the total payments made to senior 
managers during the financial year. 

Proportion of shared executive salary / cost attributable to the Trust 2020/21 – 
Table 2   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Salary Total expenses Bonus L/term bonus Total 
Bands of £5,000 Nearest £100 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000 Bands of £5,000

Marianne Griffiths
Chief Executive

135 - 140 7                       10 - 15 -                    145 - 150

George Findlay
Chief Medical Officer

105 - 110 4                       -                    20 - 25 130 - 135

Karen Geoghegan
Chief Financial Officer

95 - 100 -                    0 - 5 -                    100 - 105

Denise Farmer
Chief Workforce Officer

60 - 65 29                     0 - 5 -                    65 - 70

Peter Landstrom
Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer

80 - 85 19                     0 - 5 -                    85 - 90

Carolyn Morrice
Chief Nurse

155 - 160 2                       -                    -                    155 - 160

Jayne Black
Chief Operating Officer

160 - 165 -                    -                    -                    160 - 165

Alan McCarthy
Chairman

10 - 15 1                       -                    -                    10 - 15
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Trust Executive and Non-Executive Directors 2019/20 – Table 3  

 
Proportion of shared executive salary attributable to the Trust 2019/20 - Table 
4 

 



Page 81 

Pension benefits include benefits accrued as a result of total pension in the pension 
scheme and not just service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. Pension 
benefits are not therefore able to be split between the Trust and Western Sussex 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Pension Entitlements as at 31st March 2021  

 
Pension Entitlements as at 31st March 2020  

 
The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real 
increase in pension multiplied by 20, less the contributions made by the individual. 
The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease 
due to a transfer of pension rights.  
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Marianne Griffiths
Chief Executive

2.5 - 5 7.5 - 10 55 - 60 165 - 170 0 1,288 0 Nil

George Findlay
Chief Medical Officer

2.5 - 5 -            70 - 75 135 - 140 1,361 1,249 91 Nil

Karen Geoghegan
Chief Financial Officer

2.5 - 5 0 - 2.5 70 - 75 155 - 160 1,377 1,269 86 Nil

Denise Farmer
Chief Workforce Officer

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Peter Landstrom
Chief Delivery and Strategy Officer

2.5 - 5 -            35 - 40 60 - 65 523 479 37 Nil

Carolyn Morrice
Chief Nurse

5 - 7.5 20 - 22.5 50 - 55 155 - 160 1,139 942 181 Nil

Jayne Black
Chief Operating Officer

0 - 2.5 0 - 2.5 60 - 65 185 - 190 1,501 1,439 38 Nil
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This value derived does not represent an amount that will be received by the 
individual. It is a calculation that is intended to provide an estimation of the benefit 
being a member of the pension scheme could provide.    

The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits 
accruing to the individual. 

 

Staff Report 
3.8 Diversity and inclusion policies, initiatives and longer term ambitions  

The Trust recognises that its workforce and patients are core to achieving its 
business and social responsibilities. Our vision is for equality, diversity and inclusion 
to be a 'golden thread' running through, and central to, how we work together to 
provide sustainable, high-quality patient-centred care for all people we serve.  

As one of the largest employers in the area and a major public sector service 
provider, the Trust is duty bound by legislation to ensure everyone receives a fair 
and equitable service.  Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion policies and practices 
are all aimed to support our vision where regardless of their connection with our 
organisation, everyone has a lived experience which is free from discrimination, 
harassment and abuse. 

We take our duties and responsibilities as an inclusive employer in the public sector, 
and more specifically in the NHS, very seriously.  As a public sector organisation 
extra care is taken to monitor decisions that could unfairly affect any particular 
protected characteristic of staff, carers, volunteers, patients and their families.   

In the last year, the impact of the global coronavirus pandemic has been significant 
both on the way in which services are delivered and accessed but also on our 
workforce.     

To meet the demands of the pandemic, the Trust implemented a number of changes, 
some of these are as follows:- 

• Improving the risk assessment process, for both departments and individuals to 
enable effective judgements on the best way to protect both our staff and 
services. This process also enables those at higher risk to be identified and to 
take appropriate actions to ensure health and safety is protected.   These 
processes were continuously strengthened throughout the pandemic. 

• Introducing a risk assessment advisory panel - an independent panel reviewing 
complex individual risk assessment and providing advice and solutions to issues 
highlighted. 

• Commissioning of more SignLive British Sign Language services, allowing BSL 
users to communicate with hospital staff effective 

• Widespread use of ‘virtual clinics’ both telephone and video conferencing 
• Widespread use of working from home for those who could do so and/or where this 

was the safest option available 
• Signficiantly reducing travelling across sites through the use of MS Teams 
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• Expanding the provision of staff health and wellbeing services (emotional, 
physical and financial) that were widely promoted and uptake encouraged.  This 
ranged from comfort packs, pop-up shops and hotel accommodation to Employee 
Assistance programmes with emotional and  financial support. 

• Establishing a bronze, silver and gold Covid-19 command centre - to take 
trustwide decisions on issues affecting capacity and flow in services. 

• Establishing a Covid-19 Workforce hub - to help address questions and 
resourcing of departments. 

 

Staff Polices applied in respect of Equality, Diversity and Inclusion  

Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy applies to all staff including our Executive 
Board members and is equally applied to our Non-Executive Board members. This 
policy is wide-ranging and aims to protect employees from discrimination and 
harassment while promoting equal opportunity and the value of diverse cultures and 
backgrounds within the workforce.  

The Trust’s Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy sets out the Trust’s aims and 
goals.  A copy of the policy can be found on the Trust website.  

To achieve these aims the Trust is committed to: 

• Promoting equality of opportunity for all; 
• Promoting an inclusive environment in which all persons are treated with 

respect;  
• Fulfilling all of its legal obligations under the equality legislation.  

The Trust is committed to addressing longstanding issues of equality and inclusion 
shared across the wider NHS and public sector, and the particular challenges and 
opportunities within BSUH.  This is managed though the Leadership, Culture and 
Workforce (LCW) programme, which was established in 2017/18 and had been led 
by the Trust’s Chief Executive, Dame Marianne Griffiths. 

The Trust Annual Workforce Race Equality Report 2020, can be found at and covers 
the period April 2019 to March 2020, and provides the most recent and 
comprehensive analysis of the Trust equality data.  Data for April 2020 to March 
2021 will be published later during 2021/22.  The 2020/21 Annual Report provides 
some key data against four of our nine Protected Characteristics. 

Sexual Orientation and Trans Status (Gender Identity/Reassignment) 

BSUH has an active LGBTQ+ (Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans/Non-Binary, 
Queer/Questioning) Employee Network.  Due to the Covid-19 Pandemic BSUH did 
not participate in the Stonewall Workplace Equality Index – however the intention is 
to undertake this during year 2021/22. 

The proportion of LGB+ staff (the national NHS Electronic Staff Record (ESR) does 
not currently monitor Trans status) has increased to 8% above the NHS Acute Trust 
average (based on data provided by NHS Digital) 
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Disability 

The proportion of Trust staff declaring (at least one) disability from within the Trust is 
6.3%.  

BSUH now has an active Disability Staff Network (DSN) and they have engaged and 
supported the Trust with the implementation of our Health Passport. 

BSUH has maintained its Level 2 Disability Confident Employer rating.  Key features 
which are reflected in Trust HR policies and operational processes, include the 
guarantee of an interview for applicants with a disability who meet the minimum 
(‘essential’) eligibility criteria for the role.  Staff who become disabled during their 
employment are supported as necessary through Trust employment policies 
including the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy; Health & Wellbeing Policy; and 
the Disability and Reasonable Adjustments Guidelines. 

The Trust continues to have an active programme of work to respond to the national 
Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES).  Further information about the 
standard can be found on NHS   England’s website: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/wdes 

BSUH performance for 2020/21 against the 10 WDES metrics will be included in the 
Annual Equality Report 2020 and can be found on https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/about-
us/equality-diversity-and-human-rights/edi/ 

Race 

BSUH continues to have an active programme of work to respond to the national 
Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES).  The Trust WRES data for 2020 is 
published as part of the Annual Equality Report for 2020/21, the link to our report can 
be found via https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2016/09/WRES-
Report-2020.pdf 

BSUH now has an active Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) network named 
SOAR – relating to the ideals of the network Safe Space, Opportunities, Equity and 
Empowerment and a platform to Amplify Voices, Redress the balance.  The Network 
is working to increase its representation across the Trust and provides a safe space 
to discuss issues relating to ‘lived experiences’ and through these they are working 
with the organisation with its recruitment procedures, policies and reducing 
disparities with the B.A.M E workforce 

BAME Covid-19 Volunteers 

This Staff group was set up to support Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
colleagues throughout the organisation regarding issues directly relating to them 
regarding Covid-19.  Support is provided to colleagues relating to Covid-19 and 
these volunteers provide a listening ear, signposting where appropriate and work 
with the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian and the Inclusion Team. 

3.9 Our People 

BSUH NHS Trust is the proud employer of almost 9,000 people. Each and every one 
of those people enables us to provide high quality care to the people of Brighton and 
Hove and East and West Sussex. Below is an analysis of our staff one a whole time 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/wdes
https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-diversity-and-human-rights/edi/
https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/about-us/equality-diversity-and-human-rights/edi/
https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2016/09/WRES-Report-2020.pdf
https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2016/09/WRES-Report-2020.pdf
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equivalent basis rather than the number directly employed, the column other relates 
to staff who work for the Trust through our internal staff back.  

Staff costs (subject to audit)  

 
 

Average number of employees (WTE basis) (Subject to audit)   

 

Number of senior managers by pay band 

  WTE Heads 
AFC Band 8a 235 257 
AFC Band 8b 106 112 
AFC Band 8c 39 40 
AFC Band 8d 20 21 
AFC Band 9 16 16 
VSM 8 10 
Total 424 456 

2020/21 2019/20
Permanent Other Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Salaries and wages 353,462 - 353,462 318,736 
Social security costs 34,729 - 34,729 32,424 
Apprenticeship levy 1,654 - 1,654 1,554 
Employer's contributions to NHS pension scheme 56,353 - 56,353 53,218 
Temporary staff - 17,163 17,163 15,829 

Total gross staff costs 446,198 17,163 463,361 421,761 
Recoveries in respect of seconded staff - - - - 

Total staff costs 446,198 17,163 463,361 421,761 
Of which

Costs capitalised as part of assets 927 1,067 1,994 980 

Group
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3.10  Gender and Gender Pay Gap Report   

At the end of the March 2021, the makeup of the Trust by gender was 

Gender Split (Headcount) – Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors 
 

  Female % Male % 
Non-executive directors 4 57 3 43 
Executive directors 5 71 2 29 

 
Gender Split (WTE) – Senior Managers & All Staff 
 

 
Female  
% 

Male  
% 

Senior Manager Band 8a to 8d 63.0 37.0 
Band 9 and VSM 46.1 53.9 
All Other Staff 69.1 30.9 
Total 68.7 31.3 

The proportion of female Senior Managers at Band 8a-8d has reduced slightly: from 
67.0% as at 31st March 2020 to 63.0% as at 31st March 2021.  The gender split 
across the workforce as a whole remains unchanged: from 69.0% female in March 
2020 to 68.7% female in March 2021. 
 
Our latest Gender Pay Gap report 2020, highlights that the difference in Mean hourly 
pay for all our Male and Female staff is 16.3% - this is an improvement from last 
year’s reported difference of 17%.  If we look at Agenda for Change (Mean) for Male 
and Female the difference is the same as last year’s -3.8%, whilst the Mean for 
Medical Staff, Male and Female is 11.5% this is down from 15.1% last year. 

Over the last year changes to how Clinical Excellence Awards have been awarded 
has seen a significant difference in the amount of monies being awarded, and a 
lessening in the gap between Male £1,457 and Female £899.  Work is still on-going 
to make the process fairer for all those who participate, we saw a very slight 
decrease in the proportion of Females who received the bonus down from 8.7% to 
8.6%. 

• The main focus over the coming year is to have a Joint Gender Pay Working 
Group covering both East and West of our organisation – which will be led by 
relevant stakeholder, including the Trust’s Medical Directors. 

• Review how the Trust manages women’s career progression after an 
employment break, maternity break etc 

• Monitor application of Trust policies such as flexible work. 
 

The differences in pay for BSUH staff would appear to be due to the choices they 
make, with regards to who takes time to look after family members, younger and 
older, those who choose to work part-time as opposed to discriminatory practices 
within the organisation.  We will continue to monitor, but also highlight regularly to 
our workforce the benefits of all looking to a more flexible way of working 
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All large employers are required to publish the pay and comparison of differences in 
pay for men and women.  This helps to demonstrate on an organisational level if 
there are any disparities and inequalities. 

The Trust’s information on the gender pay gap can be found on our website at 
https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2021/04/Gender-Pay-Gap-Report-
2020-v2.pdf 
 
Also further information on gender pay gap can be found on the cabinet office 
website - https://www.gov.uk/guidance/gender-pay-gap-reporting-overview 

 
 

3.11 Sickness absence 

Sickness absence has continued to be monitored and appropriately managed 
throughout the year, although at the beginning of the year management of such 
issues were relaxed in response to the first wave of the pandemic.  Sickness rates 
are reported monthly as a percentage of absence in month and as a 12 month rolling 
rate.  This highlights the seasonal fluctuations that occur month on month but also 
whether improvement is being made. 
During 2020/21, the 12 month rolling rate has increased by 0.62% to 5.08%.  This is 
split 0.64% due to Covid-19 and 4.44% other. With Covid excluded, sickness 
absence is actually 0.02% down on last year (4.44% vs 4.46%). The percentage of 
short term sickness increased by 0.09%% to 2% and long term sickness also 
increased by 0.53% to 3.08%.    
Over the past year Sickness absence has reduced by 0.2% to 4.4% for Admin & 
Clerical, and held at 4.3% for Scientific, Therapeutic & Technical. Growth has been 
seen in Medical (up 0.5% to 1.7%), Nursing (up 1.1% to 6.1%) and Ancillary support 
(up 1.7% to 9.4%).  

Further information can be obtained using the link https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-
information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates 
The health and wellbeing and impact on staff absence will continue to be a priority 
for 2021/22.   Interventions and programmes will continue to be in place to support 
staff as they recover from the impact of the pandemic. 

 
3.12 Staff Turnover 

Staff Turnover in the Trust has reduced this year by 1.9% to 10.2%.    There have 
been improvements in all staff groups with the exception of the medical staff group. It 
is, however, notable that this is the lowest turnover rate that the Trust has achieved 
since August 2012. 
Noting the potential impact of the pandemic on staff retention in the longer term, staff 
turnover will continue to be one of the key performance indicators used to measure 
of the success of our strategies.   
Further information can be obtained at NHS workforce statistics - NHS Digital 
 
 

https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2021/04/Gender-Pay-Gap-Report-2020-v2.pdf
https://www.bsuh.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2021/04/Gender-Pay-Gap-Report-2020-v2.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/gender-pay-gap-reporting-overview
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-sickness-absence-rates
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-workforce-statistics
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3.13 Expenditure on Consultancy 

The Trust spent £0.2m on external consultancy in 2020/21. This compares to £0.4m 
in 2019/20.   

 

3.14 Off-payroll engagements   

As an organisation subject to Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT) Guidance ‘Managing 
Public Money’, BSUH NHS Trust has a responsibility in safeguarding public interest.  

In May 2012, HMT carried out a review on the tax arrangements of senior public 
sector appointees. The aim of the review was to ascertain the extent of 
arrangements which could allow public sector appointees to minimise their tax 
payments and make appropriate recommendations to address the problem. 

The Trust operates a policy covering off payroll engagements. This policy provides 
guidance to ensure compliance with HMT’s recommendations on tax arrangements 
for the following public-sector appointees:  

• Board members  

• Senior officials with significant financial responsibility  

• Engagements for more than a daily rate of £245  

All existing off-payroll engagements have been subject to a risk-based assessment of 
whether evidence is required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, 
where necessary, assurance has been sought. 

There were no off-payroll engagement for more than £245 per day, between 1st April 
2020 and 31st March 2021.  
 
There were no off-payroll engagements of board members and/or senior officials 
with significant financial responsibility between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021. 
 
3.15 Exit Packages (subject to audit)  

For the year ended 31st March 2021 there were the following exit packages. 
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3.16 Secondments  

Throughout the year the Trust supported 13 staff with their career development 
through secondments to other organisations. For these staff the Trust was 
reimbursed their salaries.  There were no staff seconded for which the Trust received 
no reimbursement. 

In addition, there were 8 staff seconded into the Trust for which the Trust reimbursed 
their employers for their remuneration. There were no staff seconded to the Trust for 
which we made no salary reimbursement.   

In addition to career secondments, the Trust currently has 19 air ambulance staff 
who are redeployed through secondments to Kent Surrey Sussex Air Ambulance 
Service and for which the Trust receives their appropriate salary reimbursement. 

 

3.17 Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017, took 
effect from 1st April 2017. These regulations were laid following the enactment of the 
Trade Union (TU) Act 2016. The Trade Union Act was passed in May 2016; one of 
the elements of this Act is the requirement for employers in the public sector to 
publish information on facility time.  

The purpose of these regulations is to promote transparency and allow for public 
scrutiny of facility time through the requirement of organisation’s to collect and 
publish, on an annual basis, a range of data in relation to their usage and spend of 
TU facility time in respect of their employees who are TU representatives.  

Facility Time is the provision of paid or unpaid time off from an employee’s normal 
role to undertake TU duties and activities as a TU representative. There is a 
statutory entitlement to reasonable paid time off for undertaking union duties. There 
is no such entitlement to paid time off for undertaking activities.  

The facility time (FT) data that organisations are required to collate and publish 
under the 2017 regulations are:  

• Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant 
period  

• How many employees who were relevant union officials during the relevant 
period spent a)0%, b)1 – 50%, c) 51-99% or d)100% of their working hours on 
facility time  

• Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time  
• Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility 

time hours  
  
The Trust is required to publish this information on its website by the 31st July each 
year, our information will be uploaded within that timeframe.  Below is the Trust’s 
latest information, which is for 2019/20. 
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TRADE UNION FACILITY TIME REPORTING 

1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020 

Table 1 – Relevant Union Officials 

Number of employees who were 
relevant union officials during the 
relevant period 

2019-20 (2018-19) 

Full time equivalent employee number 

 

2019-20 (2018-19) 

55 (58) 49 (52) 

  

Table 2 – Percentage of time spent on facility time 
 
How many employees who were relevant union officials employed during the 
relevant period spent their working hours on facility time 
 

Percentage of time 
 

Number of employees 
 
2019-20 (2018-19) 

0% 0 (0) 
1%-50% 55 (58) 
51%-99% 0 (0) 
100% 0 (0) 
 

Table 3 – Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 

The percentage of total pay bill spent on paying employees who were relevant 
union officials for facility time during the relevant period  2019-20 (2018-19) 

Total cost of facility time £33,945.81 (£33,368.86)  
Total pay bill £421,761,000 (£383,241,000)  
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on 
facility time 0.01% (0.01%) 

 

Table 4 – Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total paid facility 
time hours   2019-20 (2018-19) 

18.7% (19.5%) 

 

3.18 NHS STAFF SURVEY 2020 

The annual staff survey was conducted wholly on-line during 2020.  Whilst this 
presented challenges to some staff groups, the response rate remained high at 55%.  
This compares to the new benchmark group extended to include Acute and 
Community Trusts, of 45%.  The table below shows the Trust’s results against each 
of the 10 themes. 
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Table 1: 2020 staff survey resuts 

 

The Trust has maintained the positive improvements made over the last two years, 
with 71 out of 78 questions increasing or maintaining their scores from 2019.  Of 
these, 18% of questions significantly increased in 2020 vs 6% in 2019.  The number 
of staff recommending the Trust as a place to work and for treatment for friends and 
family also increased in 2020 and 73% of questions remained static, showing that 
confidence in the organisation has been sustained through the pandemic.  

Significant improvements were made in two of the key focus areas from 2019/2020: 
to improve Health and Wellbeing opportunities and support and to help staff feel safe 
at work (Safe Environment – Violence).  Team working was the only theme to have 
significantly decreased in 2020, and a plan to address this will be included in our 
staff engagement action plan for 2021.  

  

Benchmarked against our comparator Trusts (Acute and Acute and Community) we 
are better or the same than the average Trust score in 2 themes (Immediate 
Managers and Morale) and slightly under in the remaining 8 themes. 

The staff survey results are used to inform workforce priorities for 2021/22.   
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4  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The key highlights for the Trust’s financial performance for the year were:  
 
• Actual performance - against a challenging year responding to the impact of 
Covid-19, the Trust delivered a deficit for the year of £7.98m. After adjusting the 
performance for the impact of impairments and donated asset movements, the 
adjusted a reported performance is £4k surplus. 
 
• Performance - The performance target as agreed with the Integrated Care 
System (ICS) was a breakeven position, which the Trust delivered.   
 
• Capital - expenditure on capital schemes of £131.71m, including £91.07m on the 
3Ts building development, £10.74m on the backlog and estates, £7.22m on 
Information Technology and £6.67m on replacement equipment. 
 
Summary of the Trust’s 2020/21 financial performance (excluding the charity) 

                 £m 

2020/21 Deficit for the year   (7.98) 
    
Add Back: Impairments      9.21 
 
Remove: Donated Asset Movements   

  
(1.23) 

    

2020/21 Reported Financial Performance  
   
0.004 

 
 
Going Concern  

International Accounting Standards (IAS1) requires the Trust Board to assess, as part 
of the accounts preparation process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
In accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting 
Manual, the accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis unless the 
directors either intend to apply to the Secretary of State for the dissolution of the 
Foundation Trust without the transfer of the services to another entity, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
On 19th March 2021, the Trust Boards of Western Sussex Hospitals and Brighton and 
Sussex Hospitals made a joint application to NHS Improvement for their merger by 
way of the acquisition of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust by 
Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust under section 56A of the NHS Act 
2006. The Grant of Application for the Acquisition took effect on 1st April 2021. On this 
date, Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals was dissolved and Western Sussex 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the assets and business of Brighton and 
Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust. The newly merged Trust is known, from 1st 
April 2021, as University Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.  
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Whilst Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust is therefore not a 
continuing organisation, the transfer of its services to University Hospitals Sussex 
NHS Foundation Trust, which is itself a going concern, satisfies the requirements of 
the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual. For this reason, 
the directors have concluded that the accounts should be prepared on a going 
concern basis. 

Income and Expenditure  

The Trust is reporting Group income of £731.67m in 2020/21 which is an increase 
from the £656.17m reported in 2019/20. This was as a result of the changes in the 
2020/21 financial regime where the Trust received block payments and top up funding 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The majority of the Trust’s income is for patient 
care services and this income grew from £562.51m to £609.53m. The table below 
shows the sources of the Trust’s income.  

Group Income  
 
   
 
 2020/21 2019/20 
 £000 £000  
   
Income from patient care activities 609,527 562,508  
Research and development  5,128 4,684  
Education and training 32,860 31,406  
Provider sustainability / sustainability and transformation fund (PSF / 
STF) 0 26,011  
Reimbursement and top up funding 51,909 0 
Other contract income 10,308 13,882  
Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,940 5,990  
Charitable fund incoming resources 1,284 1,616  
Other income 15,712 10,074  
Total Income 731,668   656,171  

    
 

The table below shows the Trust’s main operating expenses with largest element 
being Staff costs at £452.39m for 2020/21 which is an increase from £412.07m in 
2019/20. The most significant element of this increase relates to increased staffing 
levels to respond to the impact of Covid-19 and the increase in nationally agreed pay 
rates. 

Group Operating Expenditure 

 2020/21 2019/20 
 £000  £000  
   
Staff and executive directors costs 452,386 412,067  
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 74,042 65,836  
Drug costs 72,892 76,137  
Clinical negligence 23,343 22,365  
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 18,118 18,517  
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Premises  26,561 18,420  
Supplies and services - general  6,833 6,444  
Education and training 8,438 7,507  
Research and development 6,617 5,850  
Other expenses including impairments 40,466 46,163   
Total Operating expenditure 729,696 679,306  

 

Efficiency    

The Trust achieved efficiencies of £6.20m in 2020/21 against an opening plan of £5.35m.  

 

Better Payments Practice Code  

The Better Payments Practice Code requires that the Trust pays all invoices within 30 
days of the receipt of a valid invoice. The performance target is 95% and compliance 
with the target is shown below.  

 
 

Revaluations and impairments  

Revaluations and impairments led to an increase in asset values of £2k in the 
revaluation reserve and an impairment of £9.21m recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. The impairment was a result of a change in market value of the 
Trust’s Estate following the valuation exercise as at 31st March 2021. 

 

Measure of Compliance 2020/21 2020/21 2019/20 2019/20
Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables

175,950 526,969 189,072 507,758

156,192 444,014 113,273 341,970

88.77% 84.26% 59.90% 67.30%

NHS Payables

3,067 40,824 3,338 38,006

1,555 29,652 1,496 25,815

50.70% 72.63% 44.80% 67.90%

Total

179,017 567,793 192,410 545,764

157,747 473,666 114,769 367,785

88.12% 83.42% 59.65% 67.39%Percentage of bills paid within target

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target

Total bills paid in the year

Total bills paid within target

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid Within Target
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Capital expenditure  

Additions to fixed assets in 2020/21 were £131.70m. 

 

Commissioning arrangements  

Point to note: 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic National commissioning, contract and payment 
arrangements for 2020/21 changed significantly from April 2020 for the remainder of the 
year.   

In summary: 

• National contracts between commissioners and Trusts and the associated 
compliance with national terms and conditions were suspended.  
 

• The national activity based Payment by Results (PbR) system was also 
suspended and Trust income was largely replaced via a national block funding 
formula based on Trust 2019/20 financial performance and prospective top-up 
payments based on cost. 
 

• Financial flows were further refined between months 7-12 whereby systems were 
issued with fixed funding envelopes composed of revised CCG allocations and 
block contracts addressing previous errors and reflecting changes to: 
 

– The payment of a number of High Cost drugs and devices such as; 
Cancer Drug Fund (CDF) and Hepatitis C medicines which were 
reimbursed on a pass through basis via Specialised Commissioning. 

– Removal of expenditure relating to genomic testing and complex knee 
revision surgery from CCG allocations. 

– The addition of growth funding - which offset reductions in non NHS 
income such as private patient relating revenue and a number of 
inflationary pressures, such as pay uplifts and updated CNST values etc. 

– Covid-19 allocations – which moved from retrospective top up payments 
to an allocation based on anticipated costs for the remainder of the year, 
with the exception of COVID testing and vaccine administration which 
were reimbursed on the basis of actual costs incurred via separate 
national funding streams.      
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

• Local funding arrangements with, the Sussex MSK Partnerships & Brighton 
Local Authority were established using the same national block principles 
adopted in the first half of the year.  

• Local Independent Sector (IS) capacity was also centrally procured via NHSE/I 
during the recovery and restoration phases following in year COVID-19 surges 
and was paid for via a separate national funding source. 

• The above national changes were introduced to simplify contracting, encourage 
partnership working and ensure that Trust and system cash flow during this 
period of significant uncertainty was fully maintained within the context of the 
COVID pandemic. 
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Financial outlook  

On 1st April 2021, Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the 
assets, liabilities and operations of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust, forming University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust through merger by 
acquisition under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. 

It should be noted that in the Full Business Case for the merger, the forecast for 
2021/22 was a break-even position and maintaining a Use of Resource Rating of 1. 

 

Summary 

As at 31st March 2021, the Trust has 

• surpassed the performance target agreed with the ICS delivering a surplus of £4k 
against a target of breakeven, 

• achieved an undershoot on its Capital Resource Limit and delivered the capital 
plan, 

• achieved an undershoot on its External Financing Limit, 
• achieved a capital absorption rate of 3.5%, and 
• significantly improved its BPPC performance against a target of 95%.  

On 1st April 2021 the assets, liabilities, contracts and services of the Trust transferred to 
Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust forming University Hospitals Sussex 
NHS Foundation Trust. The cessation of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 
Trust is not a going concern risk as set out in the 2020/21 DHSC Group Accounting 
Manual. 
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Audit Certificate and Report 2020/21 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF BRIGHTON AND SUSSEX 
UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS TRUST 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals 
NHS Trust for the year ended 31 March 2021 under the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Trust and Group’s Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Trust and Group Statement of Financial Position, the 
Trust and Group Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Trust and Group 
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 45. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2020/21 HM Treasury’s Financial 
Reporting Manual (the 2020/21 FReM) as contained in the Department of Health and 
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2020/21 and the Accounts Direction issued by 
the Secretary of State with the approval of HM Treasury as relevant to the National 
Health Service in England (the Accounts Direction). 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospitals NHS Trust as at 31 March 2021 and of its expenditure and 
income for the year then ended; and 

• have been prepared properly in accordance with the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) and the 
Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
section of our report below. We are independent of the trust in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the 
UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the Comptroller and 
Auditor General’s (C&AG) AGN01 and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Emphasis of matter – Merger with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust, 1 April 2021 
 
We draw attention to Note 1.2 Going concern and Note 39 Events after the reporting 
date of the financial statements, which describes the merger by acquisition of the 
Trust by Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on 1 April 2021 and the 
transfer of the Trust’s assets, liabilities and services to University Hospitals Sussex 
NHS Foundation Trust (the name of the new merged entity). Our opinion is not 
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modified in respect of this matter. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast 
significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 12 
months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going 
concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. However, because not all 
future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to 
the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
Other information 
 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other 
than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are 
responsible for the other information contained within the annual report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other 
information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the National Health Service Act 2006 
 
In our opinion the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006 and the 
Accounts Directions issued thereunder. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
We are required to report to you if: 
 

• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the NHS 
Improvement’s guidance; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 
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• we make a written recommendation to the Trust under section 24 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 

• we are not satisfied that the Trust has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for 
the year ended 31 March 2021. 

 
We have nothing to report in these respects. 
 
We refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30(1)(b) of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the Trust, or an 
officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would 
involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to 
take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely 
to cause a loss or deficiency. 
 
On 7 June 2016 we referred a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of 
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 on the basis that at that time we had 
reason to believe the Trust was likely to breach its “break-even duty”. 
 
We made further referrals under section 30(1)(b) of the 2014 Act to the Secretary of 
State and NHS Improvement on 16 May 2018, 16 May 2019 and 19 May 2020 by 
which time the cumulative deficit was £238 million. In its draft accounts for the year 
ending 31 March 2021 the Trust has reported a £4k surplus for the financial year. This 
has resulted in a failure to meet the break-even duty over a rolling three year period 
and on 8 June 2021 we made another referral to the Secretary of State and NHS 
Improvement. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors and Accountable Officer 
 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the 
Accounts the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
The Directors are responsible for assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
As explained in the statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities, as the 
Accountable Officer of the Trust, the Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring 
that the financial statements are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary of 
State and for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 
use of the Trust's resources. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
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exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to 
detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our procedures are 
capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the 
primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those 
charged with governance of the entity and management. 
 
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are 
applicable to the Trust and determined that the most significant are the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012), as well as 
relevant employment laws of the United Kingdom. In addition, the Trust has to comply 
with laws and regulations in the areas of anti-bribery and corruption, data protection 
and health & safety. 
 
We understood how Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust and Group 
is complying with those frameworks by understanding the incentive, opportunities and 
motives for non-compliance, including inquiring of management, internal audit and 
those charged with governance and obtaining and reviewing documentation relating to 
the procedures in place to identify, evaluate and comply with laws and regulations, and 
whether they are aware of instances of non-compliance. We corroborated this through 
our review of the Trust’s board minutes and through enquiry of employees to verify 
Trust policies, and through the inspection of HR policies and other information. Based 
on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance 
with such laws and regulations. Our procedures had a focus on compliance with the 
accounting framework through obtaining sufficient audit evidence in line with the level 
of risk identified and with relevant legislation. 
 
We assessed the susceptibility of the Trust’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur by understanding the potential 
incentives and pressures for management to manipulate the financial statements, and 
performed procedures to understand the areas in which this would most likely arise. 
Based on our risk assessment procedures, we identified fraud risks in the manipulation 
of reported financial performance through improper recognition of revenue and 
inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure and management override of 
controls. 
 
To address our fraud risk around the manipulation of reported financial performance 
through improper recognition of revenue, we reviewed the Trust’s manual year end 
receivables and payables accruals, challenging assumptions and corroborating the 
income to appropriate evidence. We tested year-end cut-off arrangements by selecting 
samples of income and expenditure from either side of the 31 March 2021 balance 
sheet date and reviewing to supporting evidence to ensure these were recorded in the 
appropriate financial year. We also undertook cut-off testing of expenditure as at 
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month 6 of the financial year to establish whether the Trust had incorrectly included 
expenditure relating to later months that would trigger reimbursement and top-up 
funding for that period of the financial year that it would otherwise not be entitled to. 
 
To address our fraud risk of inappropriate capitalisation of revenue expenditure we 
tested a sample of the Trust’s capitalised expenditure to ensure the capitalisation 
criteria were properly met and the expenditure was genuine. 
 
To address our fraud risk of management override of controls, we tested specific 
journal entries identified by applying risk criteria to the entire population of journals. For 
each journal selected, we tested specific transactions back to source documentation to 
confirm that the journals were authorised and accounted for appropriately. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 
 
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and      effectiveness in the use of resources 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance on the specified reporting criteria issued by the 
Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, as to whether the Trust had proper 
arrangements for financial sustainability, governance and improving economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined these 
criteria as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in 
satisfying ourselves whether the Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2021. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our 
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view 
on whether, in all significant respects, the Trust had put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 
 
We are required under section 21(3)(c), as amended by schedule 13 paragraph 
10(a), of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Trust 
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that 
proper arrangements are in place. 
 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 
Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources are operating effectively. 
 
 
Certificate 
 
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospitals NHS Trust in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Board of Directors of Brighton and Sussex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and for no other purpose. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Directors of the Trust those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Directors, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed. 
 

 
 
Suresh Patel (Key Audit 
Partner) Ernst & Young LLP 
(Local Auditor) Southampton 
18 June 2021 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Operating income from patient care activities 3 609,527 562,508 609,527 562,508 

Other operating income 4 122,141 93,663 122,384 93,723 

Operating expenses 6, 8 (729,696) (679,306) (729,524) (679,149)

Operating surplus/(deficit) from continuing operations 1,972 (23,135) 2,387 (22,918)

Finance income 11 287 576 6 201 

Finance expenses 12 (4,036) (12,937) (4,036) (12,937)

PDC dividends payable (5,993) (4,814) (5,993) (4,814)

Net finance costs (9,742) (17,175) (10,023) (17,550)

Other gains / (losses) 13 1,945 280 (509) 1,429

Corporation tax expense (196) (205) - - 

(Deficit) for the year from continuing operations (6,021) (40,235) (8,145) (39,039)

(Deficit) for the year (6,021) (40,235) (8,145) (39,039)

Other comprehensive income

Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

Impairments 7 (2,538) (19,232) (2,538) (19,232)

Revaluations 19 4,365 8,628 4,365 8,628 

Total comprehensive (expense) for the period (4,194) (50,839) (6,318) (49,643)

(Deficit) for the period attributable to:

Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (6,021) (40,235) (8,145) (39,039)

TOTAL (6,021) (40,235) (8,145) (39,039)

Total comprehensive income/ (expense) for the period attributable to:

Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (4,194) (50,839) (6,318) (49,643)

TOTAL (4,194) (50,839) (6,318) (49,643)

Adjusted financial performance (control total basis):

(Deficit) for the period (6,021) (40,235)

Remove impact of consolidating NHS charitable fund (1,958) 1,215 

Remove net impairments not scoring to the Departmental expenditure limit 9,207 15,900 

Remove I&E impact of capital grants and donations (1,224) (581)

Adjusted financial performance surplus 4 (24,311)

Group Trust
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Statements of Financial Position 

The notes on pages 7 to 56 form part of these accounts.

Name: 

Position: 

Date: 

Dame Marianne Griffiths 

Chief Executive 

18 June 2021 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 15 6,372 3,513 6,372 3,513 

Property, plant and equipment 16,17 655,164 552,806 655,037 552,603 

Other investments / financial assets 20 14,062 11,608 1,100 1,100 

Receivables 24 5,490 5,347 5,490 5,345 

Total non-current assets 681,088 573,274 667,999 562,562 

Current assets

Inventories 23 9,861 10,458 8,982 9,614 

Receivables 24 18,113 44,989 18,045 45,166 

Cash and cash equivalents 25 48,535 8,136 46,828 7,301 

Total current assets 76,509 63,583 73,855 62,081 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 26 (77,399) (59,534) (76,055) (59,583)

Borrowings 28 (4,981) (300,067) (4,981) (300,067)

Provisions 30 (1,199) (101) (1,199) (101)

Other liabilities 27 (1,599) (1,702) (1,599) (1,702)

Total current liabilities (85,178) (361,404) (83,834) (361,452)

Total assets less current liabilities 672,419 275,453 658,020 263,191 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 28 (61,039) (65,864) (61,039) (65,863)

Provisions 30 (4,288) (4,151) (4,264) (4,140)

Total non-current liabilities (65,327) (70,015) (65,303) (70,004)

Total assets employed 607,092 205,438 592,717 193,187 

Financed by 

Public dividend capital 882,837 476,989 882,837 476,988 

Revaluation reserve 45,787 45,785 45,787 45,785 

Income and expenditure reserve (335,089) (328,935) (335,907) (329,586)

Charitable fund reserves 22 13,557 11,599 - - 

Total taxpayers' equity 607,092 205,438 592,717 193,187 

Group Trust



4 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2021

Group

Public 

dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

Charitable 

fund 

reserves Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 - brought 

forward 476,989 45,785 (328,935) 11,599 205,438 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (8,901) 2,880 (6,021)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 

expenditure reserve for impairments arising from 

consumption of economic benefits - (1,825) 1,825 - - 

Other transfers between reserves - - - - - 

Impairments - (2,538) - - (2,538)

Revaluations - 4,365 - - 4,365 

Public dividend capital received 405,848 - - - 405,848 

Other reserve movements - - 922 (922) -

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2021 882,837 45,787 (335,089) 13,557 607,092 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

Group

Public 

dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve

Charitable 

fund 

reserves Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2019 - brought 

forward 403,633 58,460 (291,986) 12,814 182,921 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (39,984) (251) (40,235)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and 

expenditure reserve for impairments arising from 

consumption of economic benefits - (2,071) 2,071 - - 

Other transfers between reserves - - - - - 

Impairments - (19,232) - - (19,232)

Revaluations - 8,628 - - 8,628 

Public dividend capital received 73,356 - - - 73,356 

Other reserve movements - - 964 (964) -

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2020 476,989 45,785 (328,935) 11,599 205,438 
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Information on reserves 

Public dividend capital 

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 

over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may 

also be issued to trusts by the Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflecting the cost of 

capital utilised by the trust, is payable to the Department of Health as the public dividend capital 

dividend. 

Revaluation reserve 

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except 

where, and to the extent that, they reverse impairments previously recognised in operating expenses, 

in which case they are recognised in operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset 

valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised 

unless the downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a reduction in 

service potential. 

Income and expenditure reserve 

The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Group/Trust. 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2021

Trust

Public 

dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 - brought forward 476,988 45,785 (329,586) 193,187 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (8,145) (8,145)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and expenditure reserve for 

impairments arising from consumption of economic benefits - (1,825) 1,825 - 

Other transfers between reserves - - - 

Impairments - (2,538) - (2,538)

Revaluations - 4,365 - 4,365

Public dividend capital received 405,848 - 405,848

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2021 882,836 45,787 (335,906) 592,717 

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2020

Trust

Public 

dividend 

capital

Revaluation 

reserve

Income and 

expenditure 

reserve Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2019 - brought forward 403,633 58,460 (292,617) 169,476 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year - - (39,040) (39,040)

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and expenditure reserve for 

impairments arising from consumption of economic benefits - (2,071) 2,071 - 

Other transfers between reserves - - - 

Impairments - (19,232) - (19,232)

Revaluations - 8,628 - 8,628

Public dividend capital received 73,355 - - 73,355

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2020 476,988 45,785 (329,586) 193,187 
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Charitable funds reserve 

This reserve comprises the ring-fenced funds held by the NHS charitable funds consolidated within 

these financial statements. These reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted; a breakdown is 

provided in note 22. 

Statements of Cash Flows 

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

Note £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities

Operating surplus / (deficit) 1,972 (23,135) 2,387 (22,918)

Non-cash income and expense: - 

Depreciation and amortisation 6 18,665 18,934 18,620 18,894 

Net impairments 7 9,207 15,900 9,207 15,900 

Income recognised in respect of capital donations 4 (668) (46) (668) (980)

(Increase) / decrease in receivables and other assets 28,023 (3,079) 28,067 (3,252)

(Increase) / decrease in inventories 597 (1,107) 632 (1,157)

Increase in payables and other liabilities 12,757 3,590 11,936 4,340

Increase in provisions 1,219 1,637 1,219 1,637

Movements in charitable fund working capital 394 85 - - 

Tax (paid) (175) (203) - - 

Net cash flows from operating activities 71,991 12,576 71,400 12,464 

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 6 201 6 201 

Purchase of intangible assets (3,406) (1,556) (3,406) (1,556)

Purchase of PPE and investment property (122,968) (104,961) (122,968) (104,870)

Sales of PPE and investment property - 34 - 34

Receipt of cash donations to purchase assets - 46 - 980

Net cash flows from charitable fund investing activities 281 374 - - 

Net cash flows from / (used in) investing activities (126,087) (105,862) (126,368) (105,211)

Cash flows from financing activities

Public dividend capital received 405,848 73,356 405,848 73,356 

Movement on loans from DHSC (296,454) 38,225 (296,454) 38,225 

Capital element of PFI  payments (1,861) (1,341) (1,861) (1,341)

Interest on loans (2,619) (9,857) (2,619) (9,857)

Interest paid on PFI obligations (2,997) (2,774) (2,997) (2,774)

PDC dividend (paid) (7,422) (4,469) (7,422) (4,469)

Net cash flows from financing activities 94,495 93,140 94,495 93,140 

Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 40,399 (146) 39,527 393 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought 

forward 8,136 8,282 7,301 6,908 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 25 48,535 8,136 46,828 7,301 

Group Trust
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Notes to the Accounts 

Note 1 Accounting policies and other information 

Note 1.1 Basis of preparation 

The Department of Health and Social Care has directed that the financial statements of the Trust shall 

meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting 

Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequently, the following financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with the GAM 2020/21 issued by the Department of 

Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial 

Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS, as 

determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the 

GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is judged to be most 

appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view 

has been selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been applied 

consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts. 

Accounting convention 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 

revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial 

assets and financial liabilities. 

Note 1.2 Going concern 

International Accounting Standards (IAS1) require the Trust Board to assess, as part of the accounts 
preparation process, the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

In accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual, the 
accounts should be prepared on a going concern basis unless the directors either intend to apply to 
the Secretary of State for the dissolution of the Trust without the transfer of the services to another 
entity, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

On 19th March 2021, the Trust Boards of Western Sussex Hospitals and Brighton and Sussex 
Hospitals made a joint application to NHS Improvement for their merger by way of the acquisition of 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust by Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. The Grant of Application for the Acquisition took effect 
on 1 April 2021. On this date, Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals was dissolved and Western 
Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the assets and business of Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospitals NHS Trust. The newly merged Trust is known, from 1st April 2021, as University 
Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.  

Whilst Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust is therefore not a continuing organisation, 

the transfer of its services to University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust, which is itself a 

going concern, satisfies the requirements of the Department of Health and Social Care Group 

Accounting Manual. For this reason, the directors have concluded that the accounts should be 

prepared on a going concern basis 

Note 1.3 Consolidation 

The entities included in these accounts are Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS 

Trust (Parent entity), Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable Fund 

(wholly owned subsidiary) and Pharm@sea Limited (wholly owned subsidiary). 
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All three organisations have a coterminous year end of 31 March 2021 with aligned 

accounting policies. 

NHS Charitable Fund 

The Trust is the Corporate Trustee to Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Charitable 

Fund. The Trust has assessed its relationship to the charitable fund and determined it to be a 

subsidiary because the Trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns and other benefits for 

itself, patients and staff from its involvement with the charitable fund and has the ability to affect those 

returns and other benefits through its power over the fund. 

The charitable fund’s statutory accounts are prepared to 31 March in accordance with the UK 

Charities Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) which is based on UK Financial Reporting 

Standard (FRS) 102. On consolidation, necessary adjustments are made to the charity’s assets, 

liabilities and transactions to: 

• recognise and measure them in accordance with the Trust's accounting policies and

• eliminate intra-group transactions, balances, gains and losses.

Other subsidiaries 

Subsidiary entities are those over which the Trust is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 

its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 

entity. The income, expenses, assets, liabilities, equity and reserves of subsidiaries are consolidated 

in full into the appropriate financial statement lines.  

The amounts consolidated are drawn from the published financial statements of Pharm@Sea 

Limited, for the year. 

Note 1.4 Revenue from contracts with customers 

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been 

employed. These are as follows;  

The Group does not disclose information regarding performance obligations as part of a contract that 

has an original expected duration of one year or less,  

The Group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the 

practical expedient offered in the Standard, where the right to consideration corresponds directly with 

value of the performance completed to date.  

The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in the Standard that requires 

the Group to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.  

Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under IFRS 15. The GAM 

expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which enables an entity to 

receive cash or another financial asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics 

(ONS). 
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Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations 

are satisfied by transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount 

of the transaction price allocated to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues 

income relating to performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to 

consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a contract receivable will be recognised. 

Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than the passage of time, a 

contract asset will be recognised. Where consideration received or receivable relates to a 

performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised 

as a contract liability.  

Revenue from NHS contracts 

The accounting policies for revenue recognition and the application of IFRS 15 are consistently 

applied. The contracting arrangements in the NHS changed between 2019/20 and 2020/21 affecting 

the application of the accounting policy under IFRS 15. This difference in application is explained 

below. 

2020/21 

The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health care services. In 

2020/21, the majority of the trust’s income from NHS commissioners was in the form of block contract 

arrangements. During the first half of the year the trust received block funding from its commissioners.  

For the second half of the year, block contract arrangements were agreed at a Integrated Care 

System level. The related performance obligation is the delivery of healthcare and related services 

during the period, with the trust’s entitlement to consideration not varying based on the levels of 

activity performed.  

The Trust has received additional income outside of the block and system envelopes to reimburse 

specific costs incurred and other income top-ups to support the delivery of services. Reimbursement 

and top-up income is accounted for as variable consideration. 

Comparative period (2019/20) 

In the comparative period (2019/20), the trust’s contracts with NHS commissioners included those 

where the trust’s entitlement to income varied according to services delivered. A performance 

obligation relating to delivery of a spell of health care was generally satisfied over time as healthcare 

was received and consumed simultaneously by the customer as the Trust performed it. The customer 

in such a contract was the commissioner, but the customer benefited as services were provided to 

their patient. Even where a contract could be broken down into separate performance obligations, 

healthcare generally aligned with paragraph 22(b) of the Standard entailing a delivery of a series of 

goods or services that were substantially the same and had a similar pattern of transfer. At the year 

end, the Trust accrued income relating to activity delivered in that year, where a patient care spell was 

incomplete. This accrual was disclosed as a contract receivable as entitlement to payment for work 

completed was usually only dependent on the passage of time. 

In 2019/20, the Provider Sustainability Fund and Financial Recovery Fund enabled providers to earn 

income linked to the achievement of financial controls and performance targets. Income earned from 

the funds is accounted for as variable consideration. 
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For 2020/21 and 2019/20 

Revenue from research contracts 

Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when performance 

obligations are satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the revenue project constitutes one 

performance obligation over the course of the multi-year contract. In these cases it is assessed that 

the Trust’s interim performance does not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the 

Trust has an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date. It is therefore 

considered that the performance obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust recognises revenue 

each year over the course of the contract. Some research income alternatively falls within the 

provisions of IAS 20 for government grants. 

NHS injury cost recovery scheme 

The Trust receives income under the NHS injury cost recovery scheme, designed to reclaim the cost 

of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has subsequently been paid, for 

instance by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income when performance obligations are satisfied. 

In practical terms this means that treatment has been given, it receives notification from the 

Department of Work and Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and 

confirmed there are no discrepancies with the treatment. The income is measured at the agreed tariff 

for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less an allowance for unsuccessful compensation 

claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 9 requirements of measuring expected credit losses over 

the lifetime of the asset. 

Note 1.5 Other forms of income 

Grants and donations 

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from commissioners or 

trusts for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund 

capital expenditure, it is credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income once 

conditions attached to the grant have been met. Donations are treated in the same way as 

government grants. 

Apprenticeship service income 

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's apprenticeship 

service is recognised as income at the point of receipt of the training service. Where these funds are 

paid directly to an accredited training provider from the Trust’s Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) 

account held by the Department for Education, the corresponding notional expense is also recognised 

at the point of recognition for the benefit. 

Other income 

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale 

have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract. For the year ended 31 

March 2021 there was no sale of non- current assets. 

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations 

are satisfied by transferring promised goods/services to the customer and is measured at the amount 

of the transaction price allocated to those performance obligations. At the year end, the Group 

accrues income relating to performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Group’s 

entitlement to consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a contract receivable will be 

recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor other than the 

passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where consideration received or receivable 
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relates to a performance obligation that is to be satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and 

recognised as a contract liability. 

There are no material contracts for which the performance obligation has not been satisfied as at 31 

March 2021.   

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale 

have been met, and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.  

Note 1.6 Expenditure on employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments such as social security costs and the 

apprenticeship levy are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The 

cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is 

recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward 

leave into the following period. 

Pension costs 

NHS Pension Scheme 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Both 

schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employer, general practices and 

other bodies, allowed under the direction of Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England 

and Wales. The schemes are not designed in a way that would enable employers to identify their 

share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as 

though it is a defined contribution schemes: the cost to the trust is taken as equal to the employer’s 

pension contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period. Employer’s pension cost 

contributions are charged to operating expenses as they become due.  

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except 

where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 

charged to the operating expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of 

the method of payment.  

Note 1.7 Expenditure on other goods and services 

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been 

received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in 

operating expenses except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, 

plant and equipment.  

Note 1.8 Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:    

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes
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• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the

Trust

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably

• the item has cost of at least £5,000, or

• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of

more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous

purchase dates, are anticipated to have similar disposal dates and are under single

managerial control.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly 

different asset lives, eg, plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets 

and depreciated over their own useful lives. 

Subsequent expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an 

increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic 

benefits or service potential deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will 

flow to the enterprise and the cost of the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an 

asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition 

above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that does not 

generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance is 

charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred. 

Measurement 

Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly 

attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their service potential and 

are in use (ie operational assets used to deliver either front line services or back office functions) are 

measured at their current value in existing use. Assets that were most recently held for their service 

potential but are surplus with no plan to bring them back into use are measured at fair value where 

there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet the definitions of 

investment properties or assets held for sale. 

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that 

carrying values are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of the 

reporting period. Current values in existing use are determined as follows: 

 Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use

 Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost on a modern equivalent asset basis.

For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present value of the asset’s 

remaining service potential, which is assumed to be at least equal to the cost of replacing that service 

potential. Specialised assets are therefore valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a 

modern equivalent asset (MEA) basis. An MEA basis assumes that the asset will be replaced with a 

modern asset of equivalent capacity and location requirements of the services being provided. Assets 
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held at depreciated replacement cost have been valued on an alternative site basis where this would 

meet the location requirements. 

Valuation guidance issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors states that valuations are 

performed net of VAT where the VAT is recoverable by the entity. This basis has been applied to the 

trust’s Private Finance Initiative (PFI) scheme where the construction is completed by a special 

purpose vehicle and the costs have recoverable VAT for the trust. 

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less 

any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where capitalised in accordance with IAS 

23, borrowings costs. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought 

into use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery that are held for 

operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short useful lives or 

low values or both, as this is not considered to be materially different from current value in existing 

use.  

An item of property, plant and equipment which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is 

valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5. 

An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an 

impairment for the same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to 

expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does 

not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged 

to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset, and 

thereafter to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as 

other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Depreciation 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful lives in a manner 

consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered 

to have an infinite life and is not depreciated.  

Property, plant and equipment which have been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease to be depreciated 

upon the reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement 

of Financial Position PFI contract assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or 

reverts to the Trust, respectively.  

Revaluation gains and losses 

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, 

they reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been recognised in operating expenses, in 

which case they are recognised in operating expenditure. 

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available 

balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.  

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 
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Impairments 

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or 

of service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made 

from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower 

of (i) the impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve 

attributable to that asset before the impairment. 

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service potential is 

reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss is reversed. 

Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the extent that the asset is restored to the 

carrying amount it would have had if the impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining 

reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a 

transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is 

transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other impairments’ are treated as 

revaluation gains. 

De-recognition 

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once the criteria in IFRS 5 are met. The 

sale must be highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in its present condition. 

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and 

their fair value less costs to sell.  Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, 

except where the 'fair value less costs to sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-

recognised when all material sale contract conditions have been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition 

as ‘held for sale’ and instead is retained as an operational asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. 

The asset is de-recognised when scrapping or demolition occurs. 

Donated and grant funded assets 

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on 

receipt. The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a 

condition that the future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner 

specified by the donor, in which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried 

forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met. 

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other 

items of property, plant and equipment. 

In 2020/21 this includes assets donated to the trust by the Department of Health and Social Care as 

part of the response to the coronavirus pandemic. As defined in the GAM, the trust applies the 

principle of donated asset accounting to assets that the trust controls and is obtaining economic 

benefits from at the year end.  
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Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions 

PFI  transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM 

Treasury’s FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust. In 

accordance with HM Treasury’s FReM, the underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and 

equipment, together with an equivalent liability. Subsequently, the assets are accounted for as 

property, plant and equipment and/or intangible assets as appropriate. 

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost, 

the charges for services and lifecycle replacement of components of the asset. The element of the 

annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is treated as contingent rent and is 

expensed as incurred.  

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to finance 

costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The annual unitary payment is separated into the following component parts, using appropriate 

estimation techniques where necessary: 

 payment for the fair value of services received

 repayment of the finance lease liability, including finance costs, and

 payment for the replacement of components of the asset during the contract ‘lifecycle

replacement’.

PFI assets, liabilities and finance costs 

The PFI assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment when they come into use. The 

assets are measured initially at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, in accordance with the principles of IAS 17. Subsequently, the assets are measured at 

current value in existing use.  

A PFI liability is recognised at the same time as the PFI assets are recognised. It is measured initially 

at the same amount as the initial value of the assets and is subsequently measured as a finance 

lease liability in accordance with IAS 17.  

An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate in the lease to the opening 

lease liability for the period, and is charged to ‘Finance Costs’ within the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. 

The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finance lease rental is applied to 

meet the annual finance cost and to repay the lease liability over the contract term.  

The element of the annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is treated as 

contingent rent and is expensed as incurred. In substance, this amount is a finance cost in respect of 

the liability and the expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. 

Lifecycle replacement 

Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract (‘lifecycle replacement’) are 

capitalised where they meet the Group’s criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the 

time they are provided by the operator and are measured initially at cost.  
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The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for 

each year of the contract from the operator’s planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the 

lifecycle component is provided earlier or later than expected, a short-term accrual or prepayment is 

recognised respectively.  

Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount determined in the contract, 

the difference is recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided. If the fair value is 

greater than the amount determined in the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a 

deferred income balance is recognised. The deferred income is released to operating income over the 

shorter of the remaining contract period or the useful economic life of the replacement component. 

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. The range of useful 

lives is shown in the table below: 

Min life Max life 

Years Years 

Land - - 

Buildings, excluding dwellings 1 89 

Dwellings 14 64 

Plant & machinery 1 15 

Transport equipment 1 15 

Information technology 1 10 

Furniture & fittings 1 15 

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or the lease 

term, unless the Trust expects to acquire the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the 

assets are depreciated in the same manner as owned assets above. 

Note 1.9 Intangible assets 

Recognition 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being 

sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal 

rights. They are recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or 

service potential be provided to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Internally generated intangible assets 

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items 

are not capitalised as intangible assets. 

Expenditure on research is not capitalised.  Expenditure on development is capitalised when it meets 

the requirements set out in IAS 38. 

Software 

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, eg an operating system, is capitalised as part 

of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of 

hardware, eg application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. 
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Measurement 

Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to 

create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner 

intended by management. 

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active 

market exists, intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value 

in use where the asset is income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are 

treated in the same manner as for property, plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus 

with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at 

the reporting date and where they do not meet the definitions of investment properties or assets held 

for sale. 

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less 

costs to sell. 

Amortisation 

Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner consistent with the 

consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 

Useful lives of intangible assets 

Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.  The range of useful 

lives is shown in the table below: 

Min life Max life 

Years Years 

Intangible assets - internally generated 

Information technology 1 10 

Intangible assets - purchased 

Software 1 10 

Note 1.10 Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is 

measured using the first in, first out (FIFO) method except drugs which are valued at average cost. 

In 2020/21, the Trust received inventories including personal protective equipment from the 

Department of Health and Social Care at nil cost. In line with the GAM and applying the principles of 

the IFRS Conceptual Framework, the Trust has accounted for the receipt of these inventories at a 

deemed cost, reflecting the best available approximation of an imputed market value for the 

transaction based on the cost of acquisition by the Department.  

Note 1.11 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of 

not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the 

date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of 

change in value. 
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In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are 

repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s cash management. Cash, bank and 

overdraft balances are recorded at current values. 

Note 1.12 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

Recognition  

Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the contractual provisions of a 

financial instrument, and as a result has a legal right to receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or 

another financial instrument. The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and 

regulations which give rise to arrangements that in all other respects would be a financial instrument 

and do not give rise to transactions classified as a tax by ONS. 

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or services), which are 

entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, sale or usage requirements and are 

recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery of the 

goods or services is made. 

Classification and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or minus directly 

attributable transaction costs except where the asset or liability is not measured at fair value through 

income and expenditure. Fair value is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by 

reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques. 

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance 

leases are recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described 

below. 

Financial assets are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 

income and expenditure or fair value through other comprehensive income.  

Financial liabilities classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through 

income and expenditure.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the objective of 

collecting contractual cash flows and where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. 

This includes cash equivalents, contract and other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and 

obligations under lease arrangements and loans receivable and payable. 

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method less any impairment (for financial assets). The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset 

or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 

amount of a financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and recognised in the Statement of 
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Comprehensive Income and a financing income or expense.  In the case of loans held from the 

Department of Health and Social Care, the effective interest rate is the nominal rate of interest 

charged on the loan.  

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 

A financial asset is measured at fair value through other comprehensive income where business 

model objectives are met by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets and 

where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. Movements in the fair value of 

financial assets in this category are recognised as gains or losses in other comprehensive income 

except for impairment losses. On derecognition, cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified from equity to income and expenditure, except where 

the Trust elected to measure an equity instrument in this category on initial recognition.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through income and expenditure 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss are those that are not otherwise 

measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. This category also 

includes financial assets and liabilities acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term 

(held for trading) and derivatives. Derivatives which are embedded in other contracts, but which are 

separable from the host contract are measured within this category. Movements in the fair value of 

financial assets and liabilities in this category are recognised as gains or losses in the Statement of 

Comprehensive income.  

The Trust has irrevocably elected to measure the following financial assets / financial liabilities at fair 

value through income and expenditure:  

Impairment of financial assets 

For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, contract receivables 

and contract assets or assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the Trust 

recognises an allowance for expected credit losses.  

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other receivables, contract 

assets and lease receivables, measuring expected losses as at an amount equal to lifetime expected 

losses. For other financial assets, the loss allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-

month expected credit losses (stage 1) and subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected 

credit losses if the credit risk assessed for the financial asset significantly increases (stage 2). 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), expected 

credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s 

original effective interest rate.  

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income and reduce the net carrying value of the financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position. 

De-recognition 

Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets 

have expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
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Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

Note 1.13 Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

The Trust as lessee 

Finance leases 

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the 

asset is recorded as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The 

value at which both are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of 

the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit 

interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability. 

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asset is 

accounted for an item of property, plant and equipment.  

The annual rental charge is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to 

achieve a constant rate of finance over the life of the lease. The annual finance cost is charged to 

finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Operating leases 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Lease incentives are recognised initially in other liabilities on the statement of financial position and 

subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

Leases of land and buildings 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building 

component and the classification for each is assessed separately.  

The Trust as lessor 

Finance leases 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the 

Trust’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods to 

reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the 

leases. 

Operating leases 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
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amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 

term. 

Note 1.14 Provisions 

The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive obligation of uncertain 

timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources; 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of 

Financial Position is the best estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation.  

Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are 

discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rates effective for 31 March 2021: 

Nominal rate 

Short-term Up to 5 years Minus 0.02% 

Medium-term After 5 years up to 10 years 0.18% 

Long-term Exceeding 10 years 1.99% 

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general provisions on a nominal rate basis. Expected future 

cash flows are therefore adjusted for the impact of inflation before discounting using nominal rates. 

The following inflation rates are set by HM Treasury, effective 31 March 2021: 

Inflation rate 

Year 1 1.20% 

Year 2 1.60% 

Into perpetuity 2.00% 

Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions both use the HM Treasury’s pension discount 

rate of minus 0.95% in real terms. 

Clinical negligence costs 

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to 

NHS Resolution, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is 

administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. 

The total value of clinical negligence provisions carried by NHS Resolution on behalf of the Trust is 

disclosed at note 30.2 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.  

Non-clinical risk pooling 

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. 

Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution 

and in return receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership 

contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 

expenses when the liability arises.  

Note 1.15 Public dividend capital 

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets 

over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has 
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determined that PDC is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32. 

The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the Trust. PDC 

is recorded at the value received. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public dividend capital 

dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average 

relevant net assets of the Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the 

value of all assets less the value of all liabilities, with certain additions and deductions as defined in 

the PDC dividend policy issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. This policy is available 

at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-and-

foundation-trusts.  

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care (as the 

issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set 

out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual accounts. The dividend calculated is not revised should 

any adjustment to net assets occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts. 

Note 1.16 Value added tax 

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not 

apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant 

expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is 

charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

Note 1.17 Corporation tax 

The corporation tax disclosed in the Group accounts relates to tax on the activities of the wholly 

owned subsidiary, Pharm@Sea Limited. Tax is charged at 20% on the taxable profits of Pharm@Sea 

Limited. Deferred tax has been provided on the remaining unwound capital allowances.  

The Trust has determined that it is has no corporation tax liability because it is not engaged in activity 

that is subject to corporation tax. 

Note 1.18 Climate change levy 

Expenditure on the climate change levy is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as 

incurred, based on the prevailing chargeable rates for energy consumption. 

Note 1.19 Foreign exchange  

The functional and presentational currency of the Trust is sterling. 

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at 

the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction.  

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of 

Financial Position date: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts
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• monetary items are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot

exchange rate at the date of the transaction and

• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange

rate at the date the fair value was determined.

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-

translation at the Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the 

period in which they arise. 

Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner 

as other gains and losses on these items. 

Note 1.20 Third party assets 

Assets belonging to third parties in which the Trust has no beneficial interest (such as money held on 

behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts. However, they are disclosed in a separate note 

to the accounts in accordance with the requirements of HM Treasury’s FReM.  

Note 1.21 Losses and special payments 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed 

funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not 

arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of 

payments. They are divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 

handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure 

on an accruals basis.  

The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations 

register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses. 

Note 1.22 Gifts 

Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any 

return. Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, 

such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below 

market value. 

As at 31 March 2021 no gifts were made. 

Note 1.23 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations 

No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2020/21. 
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Note 1.24 Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not yet effective or adopted 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an arrangement contains a 

lease and other interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 April 

2022.  The standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, recognising a right of use asset 

and obligation in the statement of financial position for most leases: some leases are exempt through 

application of practical expedients explained below. For those recognised in the statement of financial 

position the standard also requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific circumstances 

after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the distinction between operating and finance 

leases will remain and the accounting will be largely unchanged.  

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The trust will apply this 

definition to new leases only and will grandfather its assessments made under the old standards of 

whether existing contracts contain a lease. 

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the trust will apply the standard retrospectively with the 

cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve 

at that date. For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term of more than 12 months and an 

underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised equal to the value of 

remaining lease payments discounted on transition at the trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The 

trust’s incremental borrowing rate will be a rate defined by HM Treasury. Currently this rate is 0.91% 

but this may change between now and adoption of the standard. The related right of use asset will be 

measured equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments. For existing 

peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a right of use asset will be measured at current 

value in existing use or fair value. The difference between the asset value and the calculated lease 

liability will be recognised in the income and expenditure reserve on transition. No adjustments will be 

made on 1 April 2022 for existing finance leases. 

For leases commencing in 2022/23, the trust will not recognise a right of use asset or lease liability for 

short term leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases of low value assets (less than 

£5,000).  Right of use assets will be subsequently measured on a basis consistent with owned assets 

and depreciated over the length of the lease term.  

The implementation date for IFRS 16 in the NHS was revised to 1 April 2022 in November 2020. Due 

to the need to reassess lease calculations, together with uncertainty on expected leasing activity from 

April 2022 and beyond, a quantification of the expected impact of applying the standard in 2022/23 is 

currently impracticable. However, the trust does expect this standard to have a material impact on 

non-current assets, liabilities and depreciation.  

From 1 April 2022, the principles of IFRS 16 will also be applied to the Trust’s PFI liabilities where 

future payments are linked to a price index representing the rate of inflation. The PFI imputed lease 

liability will be remeasured when a change in the index causes a change in future imputed lease 

payments and that change has taken effect in the cash flow. Under existing accounting practices, 

amounts relating to changes in the price index are expensed as incurred. This is expected to increase 

the PFI liability on the statement of financial position upon transition to IFRS 16. The effect of this has 

not yet been quantified. 
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Note 1.25 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

 

The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that 

management has made in the process of applying the Trust’s accounting policies and that have the 

most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

 

As at 31 March 2021 there was one critical judgment made with regards to the implementation of 

IFRS 15. This is set out in note 1.4 above. 

 

Valuation of Buildings 

Department of Health guidance specifies that the Group’s land and buildings should be valued on the 

basis of depreciated replacement cost, applying the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) concept. The 

MEA is defined as “the cost of a modern replacement asset that has the same productive capacity as 

the property being valued.” Therefore the MEA is not a valuation of the existing land and buildings 

that the Group holds, but a theoretical valuation for accounting purposes of what the Group could 

need to spend in order to replace the current assets. In determining the MEA, the Group has to make 

assumptions that are practically achievable, however the Group is not required to have any plans to 

make such changes. 

The Group is satisfied that the assumptions underpinning the MEA valuation are practically 

achievable, would not change the services provided by the Group, and would not impact on service 

delivery or the level and volume of service provided. The Group does not intend to implement any of 

the theoretical assumptions that underpin the MEA valuation. 

For the purpose of the MEA valuation, the Group has defined all of the Royal Sussex County Hospital, 

The Royal Alexandra Children's Hospital, the Sussex Eye Hospital and the Royal Princess Royal 

Hospital as buildings that provide specialist health care services. The MEA valuation in the accounts 

assumes that the Brighton based hospitals could theoretically be provided from a location on the 

outskirts of Brighton. 

The MEA valuations used by the Group have been provided to the Group by the external valuers, 

Gerald Eve LLP. The Group has used component lives based upon contractual information provided 

by Gerald Eve LLP to depreciate buildings and dwellings on a component basis. 

PFI 

The Group uses the standard Department of Health model to account for its PFI scheme. This is a 

standard template that adjusts for the change in Retail Price Index on the annual unitary charge. The 

estimation provided from the model is used to adjust for the actual charge.  

Assets Under Construction 

The costs of the 3T's project (the redevelopment of the Royal Sussex County Hospital), which 

represent costs capitalised on assets not currently complete, are included in Assets Under 

Construction. At 31 March 2021 these amounted to £337.2m (2019-20 - £245.0m). The project which 

has a cost of £486m, based on the full business case and contractual obligations, was approved by 

HMT in December 2015. There are three phases to the build. The Group has taken the judgement 

that capitalised expenditure will be classified as Assets Under Construction until completion of each 

stage of the phases of the build, at which point the assets will be reclassified as operational buildings. 

Changes in the valuation basis between cost and fair value, when these reclassifications occur, may 

result in significant changes in the carrying value of the assets. 

The Trust has submitted an addendum FBC for the completion of Stage 1.  
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The Addendum FBC is currently with HM Treasury awaiting approval. Once approval is received the 

Trust will then enter a Deed of Variation with Laing O’Rourke.  

With the agreement of the DHSC the Trust is currently proceeding on the basis that HM Treasury 

approval will be given. 

Provision for Pensions 

The Group has estimated the provision for pensions relating to former staff using estimates provided 

by the NHS Pensions provided at the time of the member's early retirement. These are updated 

annually using national life expectancy tables and if it becomes apparent that the provision is not 

sufficient to meet the liability. 

 

Note 1.26 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 31, unless the probability of a 

transfer of economic benefits is remote.  

 

Contingent liabilities are defined as: 

 

 possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the 

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or 

 

 present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of 

economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 

with sufficient reliability. 

 

 

Note 1.27 Sources of estimation uncertainty 

The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty that 

have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year: 

 

Depreciation 

The reported amounts for depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of non-

current intangible assets can be materially affected by the judgements exercised in determining their 

estimated economic lives. Economic lives are determined in a number of different ways such as 

valuations (external professional opinion) and physical asset verification exercises. 

The estimated economic lives of each class of asset are disclosed in notes 1.8, and the carrying 

values of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in notes 15 to 17.3.   

Land and Buildings Valuations 

All land and buildings are restated at current value by way of annual professional valuations carried 

out by an independent external valuer.   

Fully Depreciated Plant and Equipment 

The Group is in the process of reviewing fully depreciated items of plant and equipment held on the 

capital asset register which may no longer exist. Based on the work undertaken the group continues 
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to estimate that it holds approximately £113m of fully depreciated assets of its capital asset register 

which no longer exist that are excluded from the financial statements. 

Provision for impairment of receivables 

Provisions are based on a combination of the age of the debt and disputes with debtors. The Group 

follows the guidance issued in the Department of Health Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 in 

relation to the recommended rate for Injury Cost Recovery receivables.  

 

Note 2 Operating segments 

 

The Group operates as a single segment. 

 

The nature of the Trust's services is the provision of healthcare. Similar methods are used to provide 

services across all locations and all policies, procedures and governance arrangements are Trust 

wide. As an NHS Trust, all services are subject to the same regulatory environment and standards set 

by the Trust's external performance managers. Accordingly, the Trust operates one segment and in 

2020-21 reported to the Board in this format. No discrete activities of the business have individual 

revenue exceeding 10% of the total combined revenue, profit or assets. 

 

Income from transactions with a single external customer which amount to 10% or more of total 

income is as follows: 

 

 
 

This income all relates to patient activity. 

 

* As commissioners are under common control they are classed as a single customer for this 

purpose. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

222,318 209,876 

CCG * 357,674 317,436 

579,992 527,312 

NHS England
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Note 3 Operating income from patient care activities 

 

All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line with accounting 

policy 1.4. 

 

 
 

The table above is also for the results of the Trust 

 

*As part of the coronavirus pandemic response, transaction flows were simplified in the NHS and 

providers and their commissioners moved onto block contract payments at the start of 2020/21. In the 

second half of the year, a revised financial framework built on these arrangements but with a greater 

focus on system partnership and providers derived most of their income from these system 

envelopes. Comparatives in this note are presented to be comparable with the current year activity. 

This does not reflect the contracting and payment mechanisms in place during the prior year. 

 

**The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% (excluding 

administration charge) from 1 April 2019. Since 2019/20, NHS providers have continued to pay over 

contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid over by NHS England on 

providers' behalf. The full cost and related funding have been recognised in these accounts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Restated
2020/21 2019/20 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 

Acute services 

Block contract / system envelope income* 493,914 450,025 - 
High cost drugs income from commissioners (excluding pass-through 

costs) 84,171 80,740 80,740 

Other NHS clinical income 381 1,500 160,817 

Elective income - - 78,832 

Non elective income - - 139,252 

First outpatient income - - 21,714 

Follow up outpatient income - - 24,281 

A & E income - - 26,629 

All services

Private patient income 2,413 5,666 5,666 

Additional pension contribution central funding** 17,135 16,272 16,272 

Other clinical income 11,513 8,305 8,305 

Total income from activities 609,527 562,508 562,508 

Group and Trust
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Note 3.1 Income from patient care activities (by source) 

 

 
 

 

Non NHS: other comprises mainly income from two local MSK Partnerships totalling £21,950k 

(2019/20 £21.438m). 

 

 

Note 3.2 Overseas visitors (relating to patients charged directly by the provider) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020/21 2019/20

Income from patient care activities received from: £000 £000 

NHS England 222,318 209,876 

Clinical commissioning groups 357,674 317,436 

Department of Health and Social Care 29 84 

Other NHS providers 85 1,134 

NHS other 215 280 

Local authorities 3,299 3,726 

Non-NHS: private patients 2,413 5,666 

Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient) 160 858 

Injury cost recovery scheme 1,337 1,942 

Non NHS: other 21,997 21,506 

Total income from activities 609,527 562,508 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 609,527 562,508 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Income recognised this year 160 858 

Cash payments received in-year 237 367 

Amounts added to provision for impairment of receivables - 51 

Amounts written off in-year - - 
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Note 4 Other operating income (Group) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contract 

income

Non-contract 

income Total

Contract 

income

Non-contract 

income Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Research and development 5,128 - 5,128 4,684 - 4,684 

Education and training 32,312 548 32,860 30,947 459 31,406 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,940 4,940 5,990 5,990 

Provider sustainability fund (2019/20 only) - 11,204 11,204 

Financial recovery fund (2019/20 only) - 14,807 14,807 

Marginal rate emergency tariff funding (2019/20 only) - 1,848 1,848 

Reimbursement and top up funding 51,909 51,909 - 

Income in respect of employee benefits accounted on a gross basis 6,049 6,049 6,128 6,128 

Receipt of capital grants and donations 668 668 46 46 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 8,959 8,959 171 171 

Rental revenue from operating leases 262 262 451 451 

Charitable fund incoming resources 1,284 1,284 1,616 1,616 

*Other income 10,308 (226) 10,082 13,882 1,430 15,312 

Total other operating income 110,646 11,495 122,141 89,490 4,173 93,663 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 122,141 93,663 

*Other income

Car Parking income 333 1,493 

Catering 462 857 

Pharmacy sales 221 361 

Staff accommodation rental 431 526 

Crèche services 747 880 
Clinical tests 2,037 2,418 

Clinical excellence awards 1,480 1,751 

Other income not already covered 4,371 7,026 

10,082 15,312 

2020/21 2019/20
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Note 4.1 Other operating income (Trust) 

 
 

 

 

Note 5 Additional information on contract revenue (IFRS 15) recognised in the period 

 

 
 

 

Note 5.1 Fees and charges (Group/Trust) 

 

HM Treasury requires disclosure of fees and charges income. The following disclosure is of income 

from charges to service users where income from that service exceeds £1 million and is presented as 

the aggregate of such income. The cost associated with the service that generated the income is also 

disclosed.     

 

2020/21 2019/20

Total Total

£000 £000 

Research and development 5,128 4,684 

Education and training 32,860 31,406 

Non-patient care services to other bodies 4,940 5,990 

Provider sustainability fund (2019/20 only) - 11,204 

Financial recovery fund (2019/20 only) - 14,807 

Marginal rate emergency tariff funding (2019/20 only) - 1,848 

Reimbursement and top up funding 51,909 - 

Income in respect of employee benefits accounted on a gross basis 6,049 6,128 

Receipt of capital grants and donations 1,560 46 

Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 8,959 171 

Rental revenue from operating leases 262 451 

*Other income 10,717 16,928 

Total other operating income 122,384 93,663 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 122,384 93,663 

*Other income

Car Parking income 333 1,493 

Catering 462 857 

Pharmacy sales 221 361 

Staff accommodation rental 431 526 

Crèche services 747 880 

Clinical tests 2,037 2,418 

Clinical excellence awards 1,480 1,751 

Other income not already covered 5,006 8,642 

10,717 16,928 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Revenue recognised in the reporting period that was included in within contract 

liabilities at the previous period end 156 147 

Revenue recognised from performance obligations satisfied (or partially 

satisfied) in previous periods

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Income - 1,251 

Full cost - (349)

Surplus / (deficit) - 902 
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There were no services over £1m in the year ended 31 March 2021. 

 

 

Note 6 Operating expenses 

 

 
 

 

Note 6.1 Other auditor remuneration (Group and Trust) 

 

  
 

 

Note 6.2 Limitation on auditor's liability (Group) 

 

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2 million (2019/20: £2 million). 

    

 

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 3,794 5,866 3,794 5,866 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 7,631 9,798 7,568 9,778 

Staff and executive directors costs 452,386 412,067 451,836 411,488 

Remuneration of non-executive directors 96 57 96 57 

Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 74,042 65,836 74,042 65,836 

Supplies and services - general 6,833 6,444 6,833 6,444 

Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase of non-inventory drugs) 72,892 76,137 74,943 77,867 

Inventories written down 115 197 115 197 

Consultancy costs 161 384 161 384 

Establishment 4,639 4,363 4,485 4,261 

Premises 26,561 18,420 26,546 18,420 

Transport (including patient travel) 1,559 2,131 1,555 2,102 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 18,118 18,517 18,073 18,477 

Amortisation on intangible assets 547 417 547 417 

Net impairments 9,207 15,900 9,207 15,900 

Movement in credit loss allowance: contract receivables / contract assets 2,794 (384) 2,794 (384)

Change in provisions discount rate(s) 84 127 84 127 

Audit fees payable to the external auditor

audit services- statutory audit 221 109 194 83 

other auditor remuneration (external auditor only) 11 23 11 23 

Internal audit costs 90 69 90 69 

Clinical negligence 23,343 22,365 23,343 22,365 

Legal fees 293 370 293 370 

Insurance 500 344 487 344 

Research and development 6,617 5,850 6,617 5,850 

Education and training 8,438 7,507 8,435 7,505 

Rentals under operating leases 2,891 2,942 2,891 2,942 

Redundancy 9 66 9 66 

Charges to operating expenditure for on-SoFP IFRIC 12 schemes (e.g. PFI) 1,037 1,014 1,037 1,014 

Car parking & security 285 349 285 349 

Losses, ex gratia & special payments 9 17 9 17 

Other NHS charitable fund resources expended 1,127 1,082 - -

Other 3,366 922 3,144 915 

Total 729,696 679,306 729,524 679,149 

Of which:

Related to continuing operations 729,696 679,306 729,524 679,149 

Group Trust

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Other auditor remuneration paid to the external auditor:

 Audit-related assurance services 11 23 

Total 11 23 
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Note 7 Impairment of assets (Group) 

 

The impairment of £9,207k relates to a change in value of the Trust's estate following the annual 

review carried out by the external valuer, Gerald Eve LLP.   

  

Note 8 Employee benefits 

 

 

 

Note 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health (Group) 

During 2020/21 there were 5 early retirements from the Trust agreed on the grounds of ill-health (2 in 

the year ended 31 March 2020).  The estimated additional pension liability of these ill-health 

retirements is £127k (£58k in 2019/20).          

These estimated costs are calculated on an average basis and will be borne by the NHS Pension 

Scheme.       

 

Note 9 Pension costs 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  

Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website 

at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS 

employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in 

England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 

identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is 

accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in 

each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period. 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit resulting from:

Loss as a result of catastrophe - 1 

Changes in market price 9,207 15,899 

Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit 9,207 15,900 

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve 2,538 19,232 

Total net impairments 11,745 35,132 

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

Total Total Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Salaries and wages 353,462 318,736 352,912 318,157 

Social security costs 34,729 32,424 34,729 32,424 

Apprenticeship levy 1,654 1,554 1,654 1,554 

Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 56,353 53,218 56,353 53,218 

Temporary staff (including agency) 17,163 15,829 17,163 15,829 

Total gross staff costs 463,361 421,761 462,811 421,182 

Total staff costs 463,361 421,761 462,811 421,182 

Of which

Costs capitalised as part of assets 1,994 980 1,994 980 

        461,367         420,781         460,817         420,202 

Group Trust
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In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ 

materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, 

the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate 

assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows: 

 

a) Accounting valuation 

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the 

Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial 

assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial 

data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial 

reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation 

data as at 31 March 2020, updated to 31 March 2021 with summary global member and accounting 

data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 

interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.  

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, 

which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on 

the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The 

Stationery Office. 

 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 

schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates 

payable by employees and employers.  

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 

March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 at 

20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended accordingly. 

 

c) NEST 

The Pensions Act 2008 and 2001 Automatic Enrolment Regulations required all employers to enrol 

workers meeting certain criteria into a pension scheme and pay contributions toward their retirement. 

Employees who are unable to join the NHS Pensions Scheme are covered by the National Employers 

Savings Trust ("NEST"). 

The auto enrolment "staging" date for the Trust compliance was 1 April 2013. This was followed by a 

re-enrolment date of 1 April 2016 and then again on the 1 April 2019. For those staff not entitled to 

join the NHS Pension Scheme, the Trust utilised an alternative pension scheme called NEST to fulfil 

its automatic enrolment obligations. NEST is a defined contribution pension scheme established by 

law to support the introduction of auto enrolment. 

Contributions are taken from qualifying earnings, which are currently from £6,240 up to £50,270 but 

are reviewed every year by the government. The initial contribution was 1% of qualifying earnings, 

with an employer contribution of 1%. This has been increased by the stages below which were set by 

the government. 
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Note 10 Operating leases (Group) 

Note 10.1 Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust as a lessor  

This note discloses income generated in operating lease agreements where Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospitals NHS Trust is the lessor. 

The Trust leases space to third parties to provide food, beverages and newspapers, the swimming 

pool on the St Mary's Hall site in Brighton, office space and use of sites for the location of aerials. The 

Trust also leases space to the wholly owned subsidiary, Pharm@Sea Limited. The terms of these 

leases vary between one and fifteen years. 

 

Note 10.2 Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust as a lessee  

This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where Brighton 

and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust is the lessee. 

The Trust leases four properties which are for periods of between eighteen and twenty five years. The 

leases cannot be cancelled unless through agreed break clauses. There are no contingent rents and 

the Trust may not assign any of the leases without the landlord's permission. 

 

Date
Employee 

Contribution

Employer 

Contribution

Total 

Contribution

1st March 2013 1% 1% 2%

6th April 2018 3% 2% 5%

6th April 2019 5% 3% 8%

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Operating lease revenue

Minimum lease receipts 262 451 

Total 262 451 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease receipts due: 

- not later than one year; 491 482 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 1,660 1,738 

- later than five years. - 37 

Total 2,151 2,257 

Details of the leases are set out below:

Term in 

years Start date End date Break clause

Break clause 

notice

Sussex House, Brighton 18 29/03/2007 28/03/2025 N/A N/A

Freshfield, Brighton 19 24/06/2003 23/06/2022 23/06/2017 12 months

Preston Road, Brighton 20 21/05/2013 11/02/2038 10/02/2022  6 months

Radiotherapy Centre, Eastbourne 25 24/07/2017 23/01/2042 N/A 12 months

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Operating lease expense

Minimum lease payments 2,891 2,942 

Total 2,891 2,942 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Future minimum lease payments due: 

- not later than one year; 2,704 2,538 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 7,113 9,098 

- later than five years. 14,475 19,119 

Total 24,292 30,755 

Future minimum sublease payments to be received - - 
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Note 11 Finance income  

Finance income represents interest received on assets and investments in the period. 

 

 

Note 12 Finance expenditure (Group) 

Finance expenditure represents interest and other charges involved in the borrowing of money. 

  

The table above pertains to the Trust and the Group as neither the Charitable funds nor Pharm@Sea 

Limited have any borrowings.    

 

Note 12.1 The late payment of commercial debts (interest) Act 1998 / Public Contract 

Regulations 2015 (Group) 

 

 

Note 13 Other gains  

 

 

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Interest on bank accounts 6 201 6 201 

NHS charitable fund investment income 281 375 - - 

Total finance income 287 576 6 201 

Group Trust

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Interest expense:

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 1,023 9,863 

Main finance costs on PFI and LIFT schemes obligations 1,501 1,581 

Contingent finance costs on PFI and  LIFT scheme obligations 1,496 1,193 

Total interest expense 4,020 12,637 

Unwinding of discount on provisions 16 300 

Total finance costs 4,036 12,937 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Total liability accruing in year under this legislation as a result of late payments - - 

Amounts included within interest payable arising from claims made under this 

legislation - - 

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation - - 

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Gains on disposal of assets - 1,429 - 1,429 

Losses on disposal of assets (509) - (509) - 

Total gains / (losses) on disposal of assets (509) 1,429 (509) 1,429 

Fair value gains / (losses) on charitable fund investments & investment properties 2,454 (1,149) - - 

Total other gains / (losses) 1,945 280 (509) 1,429 

Group Trust
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Note 14 Trust income statement and statement of comprehensive income 

In accordance with Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Trust is exempt from the requirement 

to present its own income statement and statement of comprehensive income. The Trust’s deficit for 

the period was £8 million (2019/20: deficit £39 million).  The Trust's total comprehensive expense for 

the period was £6 million (2019/20:  expense £49 million).       

 

Note 15 Intangible assets - 2020/21 (Group and Trust) 

 

 

 

 

Note 15.1 Intangible assets - 2019/20 (Group and Trust) 

 

 

 

 

 

Group and Trust

Software  

licences

Internally 

generated 

information 

technology Total 

£000 £000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2020 - brought forward 2,630 2,752 5,382 

Additions 3,406 - 3,406 

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2021 6,036 2,752 8,788 

Amortisation at 1 April 2020 - brought forward 748 1,121 1,869 

Provided during the year 226 321 547 

Amortisation at 31 March 2021 974 1,442 2,416 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 5,062 1,310 6,372 

Net book value at 1 April 2020 1,882 1,631 3,513 

Group and Trust

Software  

licences

Internally 

generated 

information 

technology Total 

£000 £000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2019 - as previously 

stated 1,440 2,355 3,795 

Additions 1,190 366 1,556 

Reclassifications - 31 31 

Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2020 2,630 2,752 5,382 

Amortisation at 1 April 2019 - as previously stated 640 812 1,452 

Provided during the year 108 309 417 

Amortisation at 31 March 2020 748 1,121 1,869 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 1,882 1,631 3,513 

Net book value at 1 April 2019 800 1,543 2,343 
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Note 16 Property, plant and equipment - 2020/21 (Group) 

 

 

Note 16.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2019/20 (Group) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Group Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2020 - brought 

forward 24,397 217,463 583 252,494 132,811 217 55,377 4,322 687,664 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Additions - 18,806 - 96,741 8,555 - 4,198 - 128,300 

Impairments (43) (5,315) - - - - - - (5,358)

Reversals of impairments 1,221 1,592 7 - - - - - 2,820 
Revaluations 482 (12,733) (15) - - - - - (12,266)

Reclassifications - 1,836 - (3,511) 1,641 - 34 - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (509) - - - (509)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2021 26,057 221,649 575 345,724 142,498 217 59,609 4,322 800,651 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2020 - 

brought forward - - - - 95,106 217 35,222 4,312 134,857 

Provided during the year - 7,408 15 - 5,938 - 4,751 6 18,118 

Impairments 1 12,067 - - - - - - 12,068 

Reversals of impairments (480) (2,381) - - - - - - (2,861)

Revaluations 479 (17,095) (15) - - - - - (16,631)

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (65) - - - (65)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2021 - (0) - - 100,979 217 39,973 4,318 145,487 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 26,057 221,649 575 345,724 41,519 - 19,636 4 655,164 

Net book value at 1 April 2020 24,397 217,463 583 252,494 37,705 - 20,155 10 552,807 

Group Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2019 - as 

previously stated 34,947 216,597 617 197,040 122,896 217 47,736 4,322 624,372 

Additions - 10,032 - 74,821 8,908 - 5,877 - 99,638 

Impairments (5,126) (14,060) (46) - - - - - (19,232)

Revaluations (5,424) (9,732) 12 - - - - - (15,144)

Reclassifications - 14,626 - (19,367) 2,946 - 1,764 - (31)

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (1,939) - - - (1,939)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2020 24,397 217,463 583 252,494 132,811 217 55,377 4,322 687,664 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2019 - as 

previously stated - - - - 90,571 217 31,066 4,297 126,151 

Provided during the year - 7,857 16 - 6,473 - 4,156 15 18,517 

Impairments 5,447 21,594 - - - - - - 27,041 

Reversals of impairments - (11,121) (20) - - - - - (11,141)

Revaluations (5,447) (18,330) 4 - - - - - (23,773)

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (1,938) - - - (1,938)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2020 - - - - 95,106 217 35,222 4,312 134,857 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 24,397 217,463 583 252,494 37,705 - 20,155 10 552,807 

Net book value at 1 April 2019 34,947 216,597 617 197,040 32,325 - 16,670 25 498,221 
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Note 16.2 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2020/21 (Group) 

 

 

Note 16.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2019/20 (Group) 

 

 

Note 17 Property, plant and equipment - 2021/20 (Trust) 

 

 

 

 

 

Group Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2021

Owned - purchased 26,057 185,400 575 344,196 38,794 - 19,636 4 614,662 

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other 

service concession arrangements - 33,945 - - - - - - 33,945 

Owned - donated/granted - 2,304 - 1,528 2,725 - - - 6,557 

NBV total at 31 March 2021 26,057 221,649 575 345,724 41,519 - 19,636 4 655,164 

Group Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2020

Owned - purchased 24,397 180,326 583 251,223 36,021 - 20,148 9 512,707 

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other 

service concession arrangements - 34,722 - - - - - - 34,722 

Owned - donated/granted - 2,414 - 1,271 1,684 - 7 1 5,377 

NBV total at 31 March 2020 24,397 217,462 583 252,494 37,705 - 20,155 10 552,806 

Trust Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2020 - brought 

forward 24,397 217,463 583 252,367 132,403 217 55,377 4,322 687,129 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Additions - 18,806 - 96,832 8,496 - 4,198 - 128,332 

Impairments (43) (5,315) - - - - - - (5,358)

Reversals of impairments 1,221 1,592 7 - - - - - 2,820 

Revaluations 482 (12,733) (15) - - - - - (12,266)

Reclassifications - 1,836 - (3,511) 1,641 - 34 - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (509) - - - (509)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2021 26,057 221,649 575 345,688 142,031 217 59,609 4,322 800,148 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2020 - 

brought forward - - - - 94,775 217 35,222 4,312 134,526 

Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - - - 

Provided during the year - 7,408 15 - 5,893 - 4,751 6 18,073 

Impairments 1 12,067 - - - - - - 12,068 

Reversals of impairments (480) (2,381) - - - - - - (2,861)

Revaluations 479 (17,095) (15) - - - - - (16,631)

Reclassifications - - - - - - - - - 

Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - - - - 

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (65) - - - (65)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2021 - (0) - - 100,603 217 39,973 4,318 145,111 

Net book value at 31 March 2021 26,057 221,649 575 345,688 41,428 - 19,636 4 655,037 

Net book value at 1 April 2020 24,397 217,463 583 252,367 37,628 - 20,155 10 552,603 
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Note 17.1 Property, plant and equipment - 2019/20 (Trust) 

 

Note 17.2 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2020/21 (Trust) 

 

 

Note 17.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2019/20 (Trust) 

 

 

Note 18 Donations of property, plant and equipment 

The value of assets donated by the Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable 

Funds during the year was £892k (31 March 2020, £980k).  There are no restrictions or conditions 

imposed by the donations.        

The value of medical equipment donated by DHSC as part of the coronavirus pandemic response in 

2020/21 was £668k.        

       

Note 19 Revaluations of property, plant and equipment 

The Trust undertakes an estates revaluation annually. This year the valuation was carried out as at 31 

March 2021 by the external valuer, Gerald Eve LLP, a regulated firm of Chartered Surveyors. The 

Trust Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2019 - as 

previously stated 34,947 216,597 617 197,040 122,488 217 47,736 4,322 623,964 

Additions - 10,032 - 74,694 8,908 - 5,877 - 99,511 

Impairments (5,126) (14,060) (46) - - - - - (19,232)

Revaluations (5,424) (9,732) 12 - - - - - (15,144)

Reclassifications - 14,626 - (19,367) 2,946 - 1,764 - (31)

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (1,939) - - - (1,939)

Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2020 24,397 217,463 583 252,367 132,403 217 55,377 4,322 687,129 

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2019 - as 

previously stated - - - - 90,280 217 31,066 4,297 125,860 

Provided during the year - 7,857 16 - 6,433 - 4,156 15 18,477 

Impairments 5,447 21,594 - - - - - - 27,041 

Reversals of impairments - (11,121) (20) - - - - - (11,141)

Revaluations (5,447) (18,330) 4 - - - - - (23,773)

Disposals / derecognition - - - - (1,938) - - - (1,938)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2020 - - - - 94,775 217 35,222 4,312 134,526 

Net book value at 31 March 2020 24,397 217,463 583 252,367 37,628 - 20,155 10 552,603 

Net book value at 1 April 2019 34,947 216,597 617 197,040 32,208 - 16,670 25 498,104 

Trust Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2021

Owned - purchased 26,057 185,400 575 344,196 38,667 - 19,636 4 614,535 

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service 

concession arrangements - 33,945 - - - - - - 33,945 

Owned - donated - 2,304 - 1,528 2,725 - - - 6,557 

NBV total at 31 March 2021 26,057 221,649 575 345,724 41,392 - 19,636 4 655,037 

Trust Land

Buildings 

excluding 

dwellings Dwellings

Assets under 

construction

Plant & 

machinery

Transport 

equipment

Information 

technology

Furniture & 

fittings Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Net book value at 31 March 2020

Owned - purchased 24,397 180,327 583 251,096 35,944 - 20,148 9 512,504 

On-SoFP PFI contracts and other service concession 

arrangements - 34,722 - - - - - - 34,722 

Owned - donated - 2,414 - 1,271 1,684 - 7 1 5,377 

NBV total at 31 March 2020 24,397 217,463 583 252,367 37,628 - 20,155 10 552,603 
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valuation was carried out in accordance with the requirements of the RICS valuation - Global 

Standard 2020 and the national standards and guidance set out in the UK national supplement 

(November 2018 edition), and the International Valuation Standards and IFRS as adapted and 

interpreted by the Financial Reporting Manual (FReM). The valuation of the non-specialised 

properties was undertaken on a Fair Value basis, on the assumption of continuation of the existing 

use. Specialised properties were valued by reference to Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC), with 

other in-use properties reported on an Existing Use Value Basis. 

The valuation was carried out on the basis of Fair Value. Fair value is determined as the price that 

would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between 

participants at the measurement date. The Fair Value of land and buildings is determined from market 

based evidence and is therefore akin to Market Value. For non-specialised operational assets in 

accordance with the FReM adaptations this equates to Existing Use Value and for specialised 

operational assets Fair Value estimated using Depreciated Replacement Cost method subject to the 

assumption of continuing use. 

Most of the Trust's assets qualify as specialised operational assets and therefore fall to be assessed 

using the Depreciated Replacement Cost approach and have been valued on an optimal site modern 

equivalent asset basis. That is the current cost of replacing an asset with its modern equivalent asset 

less deductions for physical deterioration and all relevant forms of obsolescence and optimisation. 

Non-operational assets, including surplus land, are valued on the basis of Market Value on the 

assumption that the property is no longer required for existing operations, which have ceased. 

For the avoidance of doubt, the valuation is not reported as being subject to ‘material valuation 

uncertainty’ as defined by VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Valuation – Global Standards. 

      

The estimated remaining lives of the buildings have been adjusted in line with the Gerald Eve's 

valuation. The estimated remaining lives of the Trust's assets are as follows:   

     

 

The book value of fully depreciated assets as at 31 March 2021 was £113m.  

 

Note 20 Other investments / financial assets (non-current) 

 

Min life Max life

Years Years

Buildings excluding dwellings 1 89

Dwellings 14 64

Plant & machinery 1 15

Transport equipment 1 15

Information technology 1 10

Furniture & fittings 1 15

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Carrying value at 1 April - brought forward 11,608 12,757 1,101 1,101 

Movement in fair value through income and 

expenditure 2,454 (1,149) - - 

Carrying value at 31 March 14,062 11,608 1,101 1,101 

Group Trust
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£1,101k represents the cost of investment in Pharm@Sea Limited, the wholly owned subsidiary of the 

Trust. The company is registered in the UK, company no. 08842973 with a share capital of 1,101,000 

of £1 each. The company trades as an outpatients dispensary service at the Royal Sussex County 

Hospital site. The figures in the note below are based on the audited accounts to the 31 March 2021. 

 

£14,062k represents the investment in unit trusts held by the Charity (31 March 2020, 11,608k). 

       

Note 21 Disclosure of interests in other entities 

The Trust's investment of £1,101k represents the cost of investment in Pharm@Sea Limited, the 

wholly owned subsidiary of the Trust. The company is registered in the UK, company no. 08842973 

with a share capital of 1,101,000 of £1 each. The company trades as an outpatients dispensary 

service at the Royal Sussex County Hospital site.  

 

Note 22 Analysis of charitable fund reserves 

The Trust has consolidated the Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Charitable Funds draft 

accounts as at 31 March 2021 as part of these accounts. The analysis of funds is noted below. 

 

Unrestricted income funds are accumulated income funds that are expendable at the discretion of the 

Trustees in furtherance of the charity's objects.  Unrestricted funds may be earmarked or designated 

for specific future purposes which reduce the amount that is readily available to the charity. 

Restricted funds may be accumulated income funds which are expendable at the Trustee's discretion 

only in furtherance of the specified conditions of the donor and the objects of the charity.  They may 

also be capital funds (e.g. endowments) where the assets are required to be invested, or retained for 

use rather than expended. 

 

 

 

 

 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Total gross assets of the entity 4,658 4,337 

Total gross liabilities of the entity (3,434) (2,607)

Total revenues (21,286) (20,593)

Profit for the year 1,162 18 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Unrestricted funds:

Unrestricted income funds 11,844 9,752 

Restricted funds:

Endowment funds 471 471 

Other restricted income funds 1,242 1,376 

13,557 11,599 
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Note 23 Inventories 

 

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £137,214k (2019/20: £120,543k).  Write-down 

of inventories recognised as expenses for the year were £115k (2019/20: £197k).    

The write down of inventories relates to primarily to expired and damaged drugs 

In response to the COVID 19 pandemic, the Department of Health and Social Care centrally procured 

personal protective equipment and passed these to NHS providers free of charge. During 2020/21 the 

Trust received £8,801k of items purchased by DHSC.       

These inventories were recognised as additions to inventory at deemed cost with the corresponding 

benefit recognised in income. The utilisation of these items is included in the expenses disclosed 

above.  

       

Note 24 Receivables 

 

 

 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Drugs 3,427 3,751 2,548 2,907 

Consumables 6,434 6,707 6,434 6,707 

Total inventories 9,861 10,458 8,982 9,614 

of which:

Held at fair value less costs to sell - - - - 

Group Trust

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Current

Contract receivables 18,531 42,612 19,283 43,438 

Contract assets - - - - 

Capital receivables 1,330 1,395 1,330 1,395 

Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (6,956) (4,162) (6,956) (4,162)

Deposits and advances 70 58 70 58 

Prepayments (non-PFI) 2,839 3,335 2,839 3,335 

PDC dividend receivable 1,265 - 1,265 - 

VAT receivable 923 1,701 214 1,102 

Other receivables - 29 - - 

NHS charitable funds receivables 111 21 - - 

Total current receivables 18,113 44,989 18,045 45,166 

Non-current

Contract receivables - - - - 

Contract assets 2,879 3,479 2,879 3,477 

Prepayments (non-PFI) 734 306 734 306 

Other receivables 1,877 1,562 1,877 1,562 

NHS charitable funds receivables - - - - 

Total non-current receivables 5,490 5,347 5,490 5,345 

Of which receivable from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 9,665 31,507 9,665 31,528 

Non-current 1,877 1,562 1,877 1,562 

Group Trust
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Note 24.1 Allowances for credit losses – 2020/21 

 

Note 24.2 Allowances for credit losses – 2019/20 

 

Note 24.3 Exposure to credit risk 

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group is required to measure the loss allowance of lifetime expected 

credit losses at initial recognition of the debt being raised.    

The expected credit loss is only applied to Non NHS debt. NHS organisations are excluded from the 

calculation as NHS transactions are considered to be part of DHSC group accounts eliminated on 

consolidation.        

The Group has used the ageing profile to assess the level of risk. The percentages applied to each 

class derives from both historic data accumulated as well as current and future projections. 

       

Note 25 Cash and cash equivalents movements  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents 

are readily convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change 

in value.  

 

  

 

Contract receivables 

and contract assets All other receivables

£000 £000 

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2020 - brought forward 4,162 - 

Changes in existing allowances 2,794 - 

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2021 6,956 - 

Group and Trust

Contract receivables 

and contract assets All other receivables

£000 £000 

Allowances as at 1 Apr 2019 - as previously stated 4,546 - 

Changes in existing allowances (384) - 

Allowances as at 31 Mar 2020 4,162 - 

Group and Trust

2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 8,136 8,282 7,301 6,908 

Net change in year 40,399 (146) 39,527 393 

At 31 March 48,535 8,136 46,828 7,301 

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 5 129 5 4 

Cash with the Government Banking Service 48,530 8,007 46,823 7,297 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 48,535 8,136 46,828 7,301 

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF 48,535 8,136 46,828 7,301 

Group Trust
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Note 25.1 Third party assets held by the Trust 

Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust held cash and cash equivalents which relate to 

monies held by the Trust on behalf of patients or other parties. This has been excluded from the cash 

and cash equivalents figure reported in the accounts.       

No amount was held on behalf of patients as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020, £1,208). 

 

Note 26 Trade and other payables 

 

 

Note 26.1 Early retirements in NHS payables above 

The payables note above does not include amounts in relation to early retirements. 

 

Note 27 Other liabilities  

 

 

 

 

 

 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Current 

Trade payables 14,527 15,308 13,266 16,956 

Capital payables 15,554 10,869 15,554 10,869 

Accruals 40,454 18,859 41,219 17,676 

Social security costs 17 4,659 3 4,632 

Other taxes payable 261 3,867 32 3,648 

PDC dividend payable - 164 - 164 

Other payables 5,947 5,653 5,981 5,638 

NHS charitable funds: trade and other payables 639 155 - - 

Total current trade and other payables 77,399 59,534 76,055 59,583 

Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies: 

Current 9,822 7,799             9,822 7,799 

Group Trust

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Current 

Deferred income: contract liabilities 428 156 

Other deferred income 1,171 1,546 

Total other current liabilities 1,599 1,702 

Group and Trust
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Note 28 Borrowings 

 

On 2 April 2020, the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) and NHS England and NHS 

Improvement announced reforms to the NHS cash regime for the 2020/21 financial year. During 

2020/21 existing DHSC interim revenue and capital loans as at 31 March 2020 were extinguished and 

replaced with the issue of Public Dividend Capital (PDC) to allow the repayment. The affected loans 

totalling £293,435k are classified as current liabilities as at 31 March 2020. As the repayment of these 

loans was funded through the issue of PDC, this does not present a going concern risk for the Trust.

        

Note 29 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (Group and Trust) 

 

 

 

 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Current 

Loans from DHSC 3,125 298,206 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service 

concession contracts (excl. lifecycle) 1,856 1,861 

Total current borrowings 4,981 300,067 

Non-current

Loans from DHSC 36,767 39,736 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service 

concession contracts 24,272 26,128 

Total non-current borrowings 61,039 65,864 

Group and Trust

2020/21

Loans 

from 

DHSC

PFI  

schemes Total

£000 £000 £000 

Carrying value at 1 April 2020 337,942 27,989 365,931 

Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of 

principal (296,454) (1,861) (298,315)

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (2,619) (1,501) (4,120)

Non-cash movements:

Application of effective interest rate 1,023 1,501 2,524 

Carrying value at 31 March 2021 39,892 26,128 66,020 

2019/20

Loans 

from 

DHSC

PFI  

schemes Total

£000 £000 £000 

Carrying value at 1 April 2019 299,711 29,329 329,040 

Cash movements:

Financing cash flows - payments and receipts of 

principal 38,225 (1,341) 36,884 

Financing cash flows - payments of interest (9,857) (1,580) (11,437)

Non-cash movements:

Application of effective interest rate 9,863 1,581 11,444 

Carrying value at 31 March 2020 337,942 27,989 365,931 
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The Tables above reflect the liabilities arising from financing activities for the Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospitals NHS Trust alone which draws down loans from DHSC and has taken out the PFI 

transaction. 

 

Note 30 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis (Group) 

 

 

The provision for Injury Benefits is for the reimbursement of injury benefit allowances to the NHS 

Pensions Agency and the timing of these payments is based the on age of the recipients.   

The provision for Legal Claims provides for the Liability to Third Party Schemes (LTPS) and Public & 

Employers Liability Scheme (PES). This provision covers the excess amount payable by the Trust 

and not the full liability of claims which is covered by NHS Resolution under the non-clinical risk 

pooling scheme. The timings of the cash flows are based on estimated dates for the finalisation of the 

claims. 1 case is not covered by NHS Resolution.     

Clinicians who are members of the NHS Pension Scheme and who as a result of work undertaken in 

this tax year (2019/20) face a tax charge in respect of the growth of their NHS pension benefits above 

their pension savings annual allowance threshold will be able to have this charge paid by the NHS 

Pension Scheme (by completing and returning a ‘Scheme Pays’ form before 31 July 2021). The Trust 

estimates that all consultants will take advantage of this offer. NHS England has used information 

provided by the Government Actuaries Department and NHS Business Services Authority to calculate 

an ‘average discounted value per nomination’. A provision broadly equal to the tax charge owed by 

clinicians who want to take advantage of the 2019/20 Commitment. This will be offset by the 

commitment from NHS England and the Government to fund the payments to clinicians as and when 

they arise. This has been disclosed under other provisions and totals £1,877k. 

 

 

 

 

 

Group

Pensions: 

injury 

benefits

Legal 

claims Restructuring Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2020 2,014 317 - 1,921 4,252 

Change in the discount rate 84 - - - 84 

Arising during the year - 19 1,097 342 1,458 

Utilised during the year (101) - - - (101)

Reversed unused - - - (222) (222)

Unwinding of discount 16 - - - 16 

At 31 March 2021 2,013 336 1,097 2,041 5,487 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

- not later than one year; 102 - 1,097 - 1,199 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 417 336 - 164 917 

- later than five years. 1,494 - - 1,877 3,371 

Total 2,013 336 1,097 2,041 5,487 
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Note 30.1 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis (Trust)  

 

     

Note 30.2 Clinical negligence liabilities 

At 31 March 2021, £315,212k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of clinical 

negligence liabilities of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust (31 March 2020: 

£291,697k).  

       

Note 31 Contingent assets and liabilities 

 

 

The contingent liability for Legal Claims represents the Liability to Third Party Schemes (LTPS) and 

Public & Employers Liability Scheme (PES) notified to the Trust by NHS Resolution. The timings of 

the cash flows are based on estimated dates for the finalisation of the claims. 

 

Note 32 Contractual capital commitments 

 

Trust

Pensions: 

injury 

benefits Legal claims Restructuring Other Total 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

At 1 April 2020 2,014 317 - 1,912 4,243 

Change in the discount rate 84 - - - 84 

Arising during the year - 19 1,097 318 1,434 

Utilised during the year (101) - - - (101)

Reversed unused - - - (222) (222)

Unwinding of discount 16 - - - 16 

At 31 March 2021 2,013 336 1,097 2,008 5,454 

Expected timing of cash flows: 

- not later than one year; 102 - 1,097 - 1,199 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 417 336 - 164 917 

- later than five years. 1,494 - - 1,844 3,338 

Total 2,013 336 1,097 2,008 5,454 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Value of contingent liabilities 

NHS Resolution legal claims (75) (68)

Gross value of contingent liabilities (75) (68)

Net value of contingent liabilities (75) (68)

Net value of contingent assets - - 

Group

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Property, plant and equipment 86,862 137,675 

Total 86,862 137,675 

Trust only
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Note 33 Other financial commitments 

The Trust is committed to making payments under non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases, 

PFI contracts or other service concession arrangement), analysed by the period during which the 

payment is made: 

 

 

Note 34 On-SoFP PFI arrangements 

PFI scheme details 

Valuation of PFI as at 31 March 2021 £33,945k 

Contract start date 10-Jun-04 

Contract end date 08-Jun-34 

Length of project 30 years 

 

The PFI Scheme relates to the Royal Alexandra Children’s Hospital. The Trust is entitled to provide 

healthcare services within the facility for the period of the PFI arrangement. The contract contains 

payment mechanisms providing for deductions in the unitary payment made by the Trust for poor 

performance and unavailability. The unitary charge for the scheme is subject to an annual uplift for 

future price increases. The operator Kajima is responsible for providing a managed maintenance 

service for the length of the contract, after such time these responsibilities revert to the Trust. During 

the reported period there were no changes to the contractual arrangements of the scheme. 

 

Note 34.1 On-SoFP PFI arrangement obligations 

The following are obligations in respect of the finance lease element of on-Statement of Financial 

Position PFI schemes: 

 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

not later than 1 year 393 393 

after 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,571 1,571 

paid thereafter 392 785 

Total 2,356 2,749 

Trust only

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Gross PFI liabilities 36,619 39,982 

Of which liabilities are due

- not later than one year; 3,256 3,362 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 11,810 12,313 

- later than five years. 21,553 24,307 

Finance charges allocated to future periods (10,491) (11,993)

Net PFI obligation 26,128 27,989 

- not later than one year; 1,856 1,861 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 7,235 7,339 

- later than five years. 17,037 18,789 
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Note 34.2 Total on-SoFP PFI arrangement commitments 

Total future commitments under these on-SoFP schemes are as follows: 

 

 

Note 34.3 Analysis of amounts payable to service concession operator 

This note provides an analysis of the unitary payments made to the service concession operator: 

  

 

 

Note 35 Financial instruments 

Note 35.1 Financial risk management 

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had 

during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.  Because 

of the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with commissioners and the way 

those commissioners are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by 

business entities.  Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing 

risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply.  

The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are 

generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the 

Trust in undertaking its activities. 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020

£000 £000 

Total future payments committed in respect of 

the PFI arrangement 94,731 100,722 

Of which payments are due:

- not later than one year; 6,140 5,991 

- later than one year and not later than five years; 26,135 25,498 

- later than five years. 62,456 69,233 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Unitary payment payable to service concession 

operator 6,279 6,119 

Consisting of:

- Interest charge 1,501 1,581 

- Repayment of balance sheet obligation 1,861 1,341 

- Service element and other charges to operating 

expenditure 1,037 1,014 

- Capital lifecycle maintenance 384 990 

- Contingent rent 1,496 1,193 

Other amounts paid to operator due to a 

commitment under the service concession 

contract but not part of the unitary payment - 37 

Total amount paid to service concession 

operator 6,279 6,156 
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The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within 

parameters defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial instructions and policies agreed by 

the board of directors.  The Trust treasury activity is subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors. 

Currency risk 

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and 

liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.  The Trust has no overseas operations.  The Trust 

therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk 

The Trust borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to capital schemes supported by 

DHSC and NHSI.  The borrowings are for 1 – 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, 

and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan.  The Trust 

therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

The Trust may also borrow from government for revenue financing subject to approval by NHS 

England and Improvement.  Interest rates are confirmed by the Department of Health and Social Care 

(the lender) at the point borrowing is undertaken. 

The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

Credit risk 

Because the majority of the Trust’s revenue comes from contracts with other public sector bodies, the 

Trust has low exposure to credit risk.  Amounts due from DHSC healthcare providers is underwritten 

by DHSC thereby reducing the exposure to credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 

The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with Clinical Commissioning Groups and 

NHS England, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its 

capital expenditure from internally generated resources and any exceptional capital schemes are 

supported by loans and public dividend capital issued by DHSC.  The Trust is not, therefore, exposed 

to significant liquidity risks. 

 

Note 35.2 Carrying values of financial assets (Group)  

 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through 

I&E

Held at 

fair value 

through 

OCI

Total book 

value

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 17,661 - - 17,661 

Cash and cash equivalents 48,512 - - 48,512 

Consolidated NHS Charitable fund financial assets 134 14,062 - 14,196 

Total at 31 March 2021 66,307 14,062 - 80,369 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2020

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through 

I&E

Held at 

fair value 

through 

OCI

Total book 

value

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 44,915 - - 44,915 

Cash and cash equivalents 8,011 - - 8,011 

Consolidated NHS Charitable fund financial assets 146 11,608 - 11,754 

Total at 31 March 2020 53,072 11,608 - 64,680 
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Note 35.3 Carrying values of financial assets (Trust) 

 

  

Note 35.4 Carrying values of financial liabilities (Group) 

 

 

 

Note 35.5 Carrying values of financial liabilities (Trust) 

 

 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2021

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through 

I&E

Held at 

fair value 

through 

OCI

Total book 

value

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 18,413 - - 18,413 

Other investments / financial assets - - 1,101 1,101 

Cash and cash equivalents 46,828 - - 46,828 

Total at 31 March 2021 65,241 - 1,101 66,342 

Carrying values of financial assets as at 31 March 2020

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at 

fair value 

through 

I&E

Held at 

fair value 

through 

OCI

Total book 

value

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Trade and other receivables excluding non financial assets 45,679 - - 45,679 

Other investments / financial assets - - 1,101 1,101 

Cash and cash equivalents 7,301 - - 7,301 

Total at 31 March 2020 52,980 - 1,101 54,081 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at fair 

value 

through I&E

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 39,892 - 39,892 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions 26,128 - 26,128 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 76,482 - 76,482 

Total at 31 March 2021 142,502 - 142,502 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at fair 

value 

through I&E

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 337,942 - 337,942 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions 27,989 - 27,989 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 45,500 - 45,500 

Total at 31 March 2020 411,431 - 411,431 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2021

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at fair 

value 

through I&E

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 39,892 - 39,892 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions 26,128 - 26,128 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 76,020 - 76,020 

Total at 31 March 2021 142,040 - 142,040 

Carrying values of financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020

Held at 

amortised 

cost

Held at fair 

value 

through I&E

Total 

book value

£000 £000 £000 

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 337,942 - 337,942 

Obligations under PFI, LIFT and other service concessions 27,989 - 27,989 

Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 45,950 - 45,950 

Total at 31 March 2020 411,881 - 411,881 
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Note 35.6 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

The fair value for obligations under PFI contracts as at 31 March 2021 is £33,945k (31 March 2020, 

£34,722k)  

  

Note 35.7 Maturity of financial liabilities 

The following maturity profile of financial liabilities is based on the contractual undiscounted cash 

flows. This differs to the amounts recognised in the statement of financial position which are 

discounted to present value.         

   

 

* This disclosure has previously been prepared using discounted cash flows. The comparatives have 

therefore been restated on an undiscounted basis.       

  

Note 36 Losses and special payments 

 

The losses relate to Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust alone 

 

Note 37 Gifts 

As at 31 March 2021 no gifts were made (31 March 2020, nil).     

    

 

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020 

restated*

31 March 

2020

31 March 

2021

31 March 

2020 

restated*

31 March 

2020 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

In one year or less 82,863 347,068 345567 82,401 347518 346017

In more than one year but not more than five years 24,310 24,813 7339 24310 24813 7339

In more than five years 47,741 53,620 58525 47,741 53620 58525

Total 154,914 425,501 411,431 154,452 425,951 411,881 

TrustGroup

Group and trust

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Total 

number of 

cases

Total value 

of cases

Number £000 Number £000 

Losses

Stores losses and damage to property 6 266 4 197 

Total losses 6 266 4 197 

Special payments

Compensation under court order or legally binding 

arbitration award 1 - - - 

Ex-gratia payments 39 9 52 17 

Total special payments 40 9 52 17 

Total losses and special payments 46 275 56 214 

Compensation payments received - - 

2020/21 2019/20
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Note 38 Related parties  

There were no related party transactions with individuals reported during the year. 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year the Trust has had a 

significant number of material transactions with the Department, and with other entities for which the 

Department is regarded as the parent Department.  For example: 

NHS England    NHS East Sussex CCG 

Health Education England  NHS West Sussex CCG 

Brighton & Hove City CCG  East Sussex Healthcare NHS Trust 

Western Sussex Hospitals NHS FT  

The Trust entered into a management contract with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

from 1 April 2017. The Executive Team and Chairman of Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust are also the Executive Team and Chairman of the Trust.       

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other government departments 

and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with Brighton 

and Hove City Council, East Sussex County Council and West Sussex Council in respect of clinical 

services.      

Jon Furmston is an Associate Non-Executive Director for the Trust and is also a Director of 

Openreach Limited, a subsidiary of BT Group plc. The Trust spent £50k with BT Group companies in 

2020-21 (£134k 2019-20).         

     

Note 39 Events after the reporting date 

On 1 April 2021, Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the assets, liabilities and 
operations of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust, forming University Hospitals 
Sussex NHS Foundation Trust through merger by acquisition under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. 
 

Note 40 Final period of operation as a Trust providing NHS healthcare 

On 1 April 2021, Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust acquired the assets, liabilities and 

operations of Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust, forming University Hospitals 

Sussex NHS Foundation Trust through merger by acquisition under section 56A of the NHS Act 2006. 
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Note 41 Better Payment Practice code 

 

 

The Better Payment Practice code requires the NHS body to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due 

date or within 30 days of receipt of valid invoice, whichever is later.      

 

Note 42 External financing 

The Trust is given an external financing limit against which it is permitted to underspend 

 

 

Note 43 Capital Resource Limit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020/21 2020/21 2019/20 2019/20

Non-NHS Payables Number £000 Number £000 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 175,950 526,969 189,072 507,758 

Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 156,192 444,014 113,273 341,970 

Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within 

target 88.8% 84.3% 59.9% 67.3%

NHS Payables

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 3,067 40,824 3,338 38,006 

Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 1,555 29,652 1,496 25,815 

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 50.7% 72.6% 44.8% 67.9%

Total

Total bills paid in the year 179,017 567,793 

Total bills paid within target 157,747 473,666 

Percentage of bills paid within target 88.1% 83.4%

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Cash flow financing 67,032 110,404 

External financing requirement 67,032 110,404 

External financing limit (EFL) 114,176 126,065 

Under / (over) spend against EFL 47,144 15,661 

2020/21 2019/20

£000 £000 

Gross capital expenditure 131,706 101,194 

Less: Disposals (444) (1)

Less: Donated and granted capital additions (1,560) (980)

Charge against Capital Resource Limit 129,702 100,213 

Capital Resource Limit 135,190 110,441 

Under / (over) spend against CRL 5,488 10,228 
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Note 44 Breakeven duty financial performance 

 

Note 45 Breakeven duty rolling assessment 

 

Due to the introduction of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) accounting in 2009-10, 

the Trust’s financial performance measurement needs to be aligned with the guidance issued by HM 

Treasury measuring Departmental expenditure.  Therefore, the incremental revenue expenditure 

resulting from the application of IFRS to IFRIC 12 schemes (which would include PFI schemes), 

which has no cash impact and is not chargeable for overall budgeting purposes, is excluded when 

measuring Breakeven.        

2020/21

£000 

Adjusted financial performance surplus / (deficit) (control total basis) 4 

Remove impairments scoring to Departmental Expenditure Limit - 

Add back non-cash element of On-SoFP pension scheme charges - 

IFRIC 12 breakeven adjustment - 

Breakeven duty financial performance surplus / (deficit) 4 

1997/98 to 

2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Breakeven duty in-year financial performance 10,227 4,512 42 3,325 5,114 (450)

Breakeven duty cumulative position (17,834) (7,607) (3,095) (3,053) 272 5,386 4,936 

Operating income 415,950 439,750 574,218 606,074 558,555 520,765 

Cumulative breakeven position as a percentage of operating income (1.8%) (0.7%) (0.5%) 0.0% 1.0% 0.9%

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Breakeven duty in-year financial performance (44,819) (68,501) (55,558) (50,804) (23,701) 4 

Breakeven duty cumulative position (39,883) (108,384) (163,942) (214,746) (238,447) (238,443)

Operating income 529,475 550,369 563,153 587,328 655,519 731,306 

Cumulative breakeven position as a percentage of operating income (7.5%) (19.7%) (29.1%) (36.6%) (36.4%) (32.6%)
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Part 1: Statement on Quality from the Chief 
Executive Officer 
What we do 
On 1st April 2021, Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals Trust (BSUH) merged with Western 
Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT) to form University Hospitals Sussex NHS 
Foundation Trust (UHSUSSEX).  

Prior to 1st April 2021 BSUH was an acute teaching hospital working across two main sites: the 
Royal Sussex County Hospital (RSCH) in Brighton and the Princess Royal Hospital (PRH) in 
Haywards Heath. The Brighton campus also includes the Royal Alexandra Children’s Hospital 
(RACH) and the Sussex Eye Hospital (SEH) and is the major trauma centre for the region.  

BSUH provided district general hospital services to our local populations in and around Brighton 
and Hove, Mid Sussex and the western part of East Sussex; and more specialised and tertiary 
services for patients from across Sussex and the South East of England. The RSCH has a 24/7 
Emergency Department (ED) for its local population and is also our centre for emergency and 
tertiary care. The PRH also has a 24/7 ED for its local population and is our centre for elective 
surgery. 

BSUH specialised and tertiary services include neurosciences, arterial vascular surgery, neonatal, 
paediatrics, cardiac, cancer, renal, infectious diseases and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) 
medicine. In addition to our two main hospital sites we also provide services from Brighton General 
Hospital (BGH), Hove Polyclinic, Lewes Victoria Hospital, the Park Centre for Breast Care and a 
renal dialysis satellite service in Bexhill, East Sussex.  

BSUH worked in partnership with Brighton and Sussex Medical School, Health Education England, 
Kent, Surrey and Sussex Postgraduate Deanery and the Universities of Brighton and Sussex.  

Purpose of the Quality Account  
A Quality Account is a report to the public from providers of NHS healthcare services about the 
quality and standard of services they provide. Every acute NHS trust is required by the 
Government to publish a Quality Account annually. They are an important way for trusts to show 
improvements in the services they deliver to local communities and stakeholders. The quality of the 
services is measured by looking at patient safety, the effectiveness of treatments that patients 
receive and patient feedback about the care provided.   
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Statement on Quality from the Chief Executive Officer 

Welcome to the 2020/2021 Quality Account for Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals 

This document will review our progress over the last twelve months and forms part of a suite of 
legacy documents that have been developed for the organisation as we look forward to the next 
year as part of our new organisation, merged with Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust, to form University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust.  

I am hugely proud to be part of this organisation, as we continue to work with colleagues, 
determined to further improve the services we provide.  

The year 2020/2021 will be remembered as a traumatic one for much of the world. In its 73 years, 
the NHS has never known anything like it. We have been tested as never before, as a National 
Health Service, as a Trust, and as individuals. Many families, and our own staff caring for the most 
unwell patients, will have been deeply affected by the impact of the pandemic.  

Faced with this challenge, staff across the Trust have continued to demonstrate their compassion 
and courage, striving to innovate and improve quality. 

This dedication has led to some significant achievements in the past year including the continued 
implementation of use of new technology to support quality and patient safety, improvement in the 
care of deteriorating patients and the increased implementation of Treatment Escalation Plans.  

We were last inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) in January of 2019, where we 
achieved a ‘Good’ overall rating with ‘Outstanding’ for caring, the inspection recognised the ‘huge 
improvements’ made at the Trust since its last inspection. Despite the impact of the pandemic, we 
are proud to have maintained many of the improvements over the last year and continue to build 
upon this success as we move into the new financial year and our new organisation.  

Our Patient First programme is central to this progress, equipping staff to make improvements in 
line with our organisational priorities, something we describe as our True North. Despite the impact 
of COVID-19 the Trust sought to continue to capture the voices of patients and ensure that such 
feedback was intrinsic to improvement activities. Active engagement with patients, carers, 
community representatives and the public in how our services are planned, delivered and 
evaluated continues, as we strive to make co-design the norm. 

Whilst we have seen improvement, as we move out of the pandemic, we still have a significant 
journey to make as we restore services and continue to meet with the challenges beyond Covid 19. 
Our Patient First approach, combined with the hard-work and dedication of our staff, means I am 
confident that we will make excellent progress through 2021 and beyond.  

The information contained within the Quality Account is, to the best of my knowledge, accurate. 

Dame Marianne Griffiths – Chief Executive. 
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Part 2: Priorities for improvement and statements 
of assurance from the Board 
2.1 Priorities for improvement in 2021/22  
On 1st April 2021, Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals Trust (BSUH) merged with Western 
Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHFT) to form University Hospitals Sussex NHS 
Foundation Trust (UHSUSSEX). Therefore, this year’s Quality Accounts has been written as a legacy 
document for BSUH, the sole purpose here is to summarise the previous year rather than to look 
forwards; the forward plan will be included in the newly merged UHSUSSEX Quality Account.  

This year’s Quality Accounts and quality improvement programme has for a second year been 
shaped by the Covid-19 pandemic. As discussed in last year’s Quality Accounts because of the 
first wave of Covid-19 the plan of work for 2020-21 was based primarily on the Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) programme. The emphasis on CQUINs came about because the 
usual processes, discussions and collaborations that occur during a normal year were 
compromised during the first quarter of 2020 and this was compounded by the suspension of the 
Clinical Outcomes and Effectiveness Group (COEG) which would normally have responsibility for 
the development and approval of the Quality Accounts programme of work.  

When last year’s Quality Accounts were approved by the Board in June 2020 it was anticipated 
that the CQUINs programme would commence in the second quarter of 2020-21. However, the 
commencement of the programme did not materialise and is currently on-hold until the second 
quarter of 2021-22. 

Initiatives that were outlined in last year’s Quality Accounts were based on the Darzi framework in 
which quality includes the following aspects: 

• Patient safety. The first dimension of quality must be that we do no harm to patients. This 
means ensuring the environment is safe and clean, reducing avoidable harm such as 
excessive medication errors, rates of healthcare associated infections, falls, pressure ulcers 
etc. 

• Patient experience. Quality of care includes the quality of caring. This means how personal 
care is – the compassion, dignity and respect with which patients are treated. This can only 
be improved by analysing and understanding patient satisfaction from their own experience 
of hospital care.  

• Effectiveness of care. This means understanding success rates from different treatments 
for different conditions. Assessing this will include clinical measures such as mortality or 
survival rates, complication rates and measures of clinical improvement. Just as important 
is the effectiveness of care from the patient’s own perspective which will be measured 
through patient-reported outcomes measures (PROMs). Examples include improvement in 
pain-free movement after a joint replacement, or returning to work after treatment for 
depression. Clinical effectiveness may also extend to people’s well-being and ability to live 
independent lives.  

The cancellation of the February’s COEG meeting curtailed discussions that had begun at the start 
of the year. Consequently, no explicit targets were set for the patient safety initiatives of falls and 
pressure ulcers, etc. Whilst no targets were established, falls and pressure ulcers were continually 
monitored and reviewed during the year, further information can be found in section 3.1 of this 
document.  

The programme on falls, which is now in its 10th year, was recognised in a number of national 
publications during the past year – the British Journal of Nursing, NHE Digital and the Nursing 
Standard. During 2020-21 the adult inpatients falls rate was 3.71 falls per 1000 bed stay days, 
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which was marginally higher than the previous year’s rate of 3.68. The last available national data 
for falls reported a rate of 6.6 falls per 1000 bed days. 

The rate of acquired pressure ulcers was 1.09 per 1000 bed days, exactly the same rate as in 
2019-20. 

The other two Patient Safety initiatives planned last year were both CQUIN’s projects:  

• Supporting the anti-microbial resistance agenda by better targeting the usage of 
antifungals, and  

• Screening and treatment of iron deficiency anaemia in patients listed for major elective 
blood loss surgery.  

It is anticipated that both these projects will commence latter in 2021. 

Similarly, the two Patient Experience projects - finding patients who are living with Hepatitis C and 
cirrhosis and fibrosis tests for alcohol dependent patients are also scheduled to start in 2021. 

Despite the impact of COVID-19 the trust sought to continue to capture the voices of patients and 
ensure that such feedback was intrinsic to improvement activities. Active engagement with 
patients, carers, community representatives and the public in how our services are planned, 
delivered and evaluated continues - making co-design the norm. 

The COVID -19 pandemic required adaptive and intuitive responses and necessitated a shift in 
emphasis from responding to patient feedback to proactively creating positive experiences. A 
number of initiatives were quickly introduced to enable patients stay in contact with their families 
and loved ones.  

As with the patient safety projects, whilst no explicit targets were set for the Effectiveness of Care 
initiatives, work continued on the sepsis, acute kidney injury (AKI) and ‘improving the quality of 
care of people at the end of life’ work stream’s under the deteriorating patient programme umbrella. 
The reducing mortality programme of work also continued under the supervision of the Trust Wide 
Mortality Review Group (TMRG). Again, further information can be found in section 3.1 of this 
document.  

Although standardised mortality ratio’s like HSMR and SHMI are not designed to model pandemic 
activity, mortality rates have been continuously monitored during the past 12 months. A review of 
mortality in 2020 highlighted that:  

• 1547 patients died in BSUH during 2020, of these 234 (15%) died within 28 days of having 
a positive swab for Covid-19 

• The annual number of deaths in 2020 was lower than the previous five years with 53 fewer 
deaths in 2020 compared to 2019 

• The number of deaths in March and April were higher than predicted and the rate of crude 
mortality was also higher in these months 

• Deaths in July and October were lower than predicted 
• The proportion of male deaths as a result of Covid-19 was statistically significantly high at 

63%  
• 65% of the Covid-19 deaths occurred in patients aged 80 or above, this compares to 55% 

of the non Covid-19 deaths 
• In total 140 patients died in the first wave of Covid-19 
• In the 12 months to December 20 the rolling SHMI was 108.3 
• In the 12 months to January 21 the rolling HSMR was 96.3 
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Three new CQUIN projects were also included in the Effectiveness of Care programme, these 
were: 

• Rapid rule out protocol for ED patients with suspected acute myocardial infraction,  
• Appropriate antibiotic prescribing for urinary tract infections (UTI) in adults aged 16+. 
• Treatment of community acquired pneumonia (CAP) in line with British Thoracic Society 

(BTS) care bundle.  

Again it is anticipated that these will also commence at some point in 2021, 

Getting it Right First Time (GIRFT)  

The Getting it Right First Time (GIRFT) initiative continued intermittently during 2020-21 and has 
now undertaken a review in 28 clinical specialties in BSUH since January 2019. 
Every review undertaken by GIRFT results in the development of an implementation plan. A paper 
presented to COEG summarised some of the main themes that have cut across clinical 
specialities. The most frequently noted theme in 17 of the reviews was the issue of service 
development and space, for example in the Emergency Department (ED) review, GIRFT 
commented on the ED estate in Brighton and Haywards Heath noting them both to be inadequate 
with insufficient clinical examination and treatment spaces for the volume of work and a 
resuscitation room that is too small for the task required of it.  

Recruitment and extended roles were identified in 14 of the reviews, for example, in ophthalmology 
it was suggested that additional failsafe officers would also be beneficial in providing a safer 
service. 

Pathways were cited in 13 reviews; in orthopaedic surgery referral to treatment (RTT) times were 
noted to be an average of 15 weeks, significantly higher than the England average of 8 weeks 

Coding issues were also noted in 13 reviews, in lung cancer it was suggested that coding of 
oncology patients admitted with lung cancer should be explored as the identified number of 40 per 
annum appears disproportionately low. 

Clinical audits were proposed in 12 reviews among the topics proposed was an audit in 
ophthalmology to determine whether day case patients who stay overnight are being kept in 
hospital for medical or social reasons.  

National audit  
Participation in national audits enables trusts and services to measure the performance of their 
own services against those of others elsewhere across the country. Many national audits produce 
a summary report with recommendations that can be used by trusts to develop their own action 
plans for improvement. 

Trusts are not necessarily expected to participate in all national audits, however, each year NHS 
England publish a list of national audits where involvement is mandatory. 

Participation in mandatory national audits has been good, in 2019/20, the participation rate 
reached 100% for this first time.  

As with GIRFT, Covid-19 has also impacted on the National Audit programme, with a number of 
audits temporarily suspended, in order to ensure that frontline staff would not be diverted away 
from providing essential care. There were exceptions for those audits that were deemed highly 
relevant in providing useful data during the surge period, e.g. the Intensive Care National Audit and 
Research Centre (INARC) Case Mix Programme, which runs in critical care units. In these cases, 
trusts were encouraged to continue to submit data. 
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While many non- National Clinical Audit and Patient Outcomes Programme (NCAPOP) national 
audits have been suspended due to COVID, trusts have been encouraged to continue to collect 
and input data where capacity has allowed them to do so. In other cases, the scheduled dates for 
undertaking the audits have been revised and we are still awaiting confirmation of some of the new 
schedules.  

In the past 12 months, more clinical teams have been expressing their concerns about a lack of 
capacity to engage fully with the national audits, consequently in 2020/21, the participation rate 
was 96%. 

Finally, the Covid-19 did afford the opportunity to undertake work not originally scheduled into last 
year’s works programme, during 2020 a collaborative project was undertaken with Digestives 
Diseases to pull data from multiple data sets into one scorecard for monthly review at their 
governance meeting. A similar piece of work applying the same methodology has also been 
applied to tracking clinical outcomes for patients with diabetes. Both projects will be evaluated in 
2021 with a view to seeing whether there is merit in expanding this initiative.   

2.2 Statements of Assurance from the Board 
All NHS trusts are required in accordance with the statutory regulations to provide prescribed 
information in their Quality Account. This enables the Trust to inform the reader about the quality of 
their care and services during 2020/21 according to the national requirements. The data used in 
this section of the report has been gathered within the Trust from many different sources or 
provided to us from the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC). The information, 
format and presentation of the information in this part of the Quality Account is as prescribed in the 
National Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 and Amendment Regulations 2012 / 
2017. 

Relevant Health Services and Income 
During 2020/21 Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust provided a wide spectrum of 
acute and specialised services to NHS patients through our contracts with Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, NHS England and other commissioning organisations to the value of “data not yet 
available”. Service delivery was underpinned by the regular monitoring of metrics reflecting patient 
safety, clinical effectiveness and patient experience. 

Participation in clinical audits and confidential enquiries  
During 2020/21 49 national clinical audits and 1 national confidential enquiry covered relevant 
health services that Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust provides. 

During that period Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust participated in 96% national 
clinical audits and 100% national confidential enquiries of the national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries which it was eligible to participate in.  

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Brighton & Sussex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust was eligible to participate in during 2020/21 are as follows: 

The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Brighton & Sussex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust participated in during 2020/21 are as follows:  

T The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Brighton & Sussex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed during 2020/21, 
are listed below alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage 
of the number of registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry. 
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National clinical audits  Eligible 2020/21 
Participation 

status 

Percentage of 
relevant cases 
submitted/ or 

reason for non-
participation  

Antenatal and newborn national audit 
protocol 2019 to 2022 Yes Yes Ongoing 

BAUS Urology Audit – Cytoreductive 
Radical Nephrectomy 

Yes Yes 100% 

BAUS Urology Audit – Nephrectomy Yes Yes 100% 

BAUS Urology Audit - Percutaneous 
Nephrolithotomy Yes Yes 100% 

British Spine Registry Yes Yes Ongoing 

Case Mix Programme (CMP)  Yes Yes 100% 

Elective Surgery - National PROMs 
Programme: Hip & Knee Replacement Yes Yes 96.7% 

Emergency Medicine: Fractured Neck of 
Femur Yes Yes 100% 

Emergency Medicine: Infection Control Yes Yes 100% 

Emergency Medicine: Pain in Children Yes Yes 100% 

National Audit of Inpatient Falls Yes Yes 100% 

National Hip Fracture Database Yes Yes Approx. 99% 

Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD) 
Registry Yes Yes Ongoing 

Major Trauma Audit  Yes Yes Ongoing 

Mandatory Surveillance of bloodstream 
infections and clostridium difficile 
infection 

Yes Yes 100% 

National Adult Asthma Audit Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary 
Disease (COPD) Audit Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Children and Young People 
Asthma Audit Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Audit of Breast Cancer in Older 
People (NABCOP)  Yes Yes 100% 

National Audit of Cardiac Rehabilitation 
(NACR) Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Audit of Seizures and Epilepsies 
in Children and Young People (Epilepsy)  Yes No Insufficient 

capacity 

National Cardiac Arrest Audit (NCAA) Yes Yes 100% 
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National clinical audits  Eligible 2020/21 
Participation 

status 

Percentage of 
relevant cases 
submitted/ or 

reason for non-
participation  

National Cardiac Audit Programme 
(NCAP): Adult Cardiac Surgery Yes Yes 100% 

National Cardiac Audit Programme 
(NCAP): Cardiac Rhythm Management 
(CRM) 

Yes Yes 100% 

National Cardiac Audit Programme 
(NCAP): CHD Yes Yes 100% 

National Cardiac Audit Programme 
(NCAP): Coronary Angioplasty (PCI) Yes Yes 100% 

National Cardiac Audit Programme 
(NCAP): Heart Failure Yes Yes 100% 

National Cardiac Audit Programme 
(NCAP): MINAP Yes Yes 100% 

National Diabetes Audit – Adults Yes Yes 100% 

National Early Inflammatory Arthritis 
Audit (NEIAA) Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Emergency Laparotomy Audit 
(NELA) Yes Yes 85.2% 

National Gastro-intestinal Cancer 
Programme: National Bowel Cancer 
Audit 

Yes Yes 32% 

National Gastro-intestinal Cancer 
Programme: Oesophago-Gastric Cancer 
Audit 

Yes Yes 75-84% 

National Joint Registry (NJR) Yes Yes Approx. 98% 

National Lung Cancer Audit (NLCA) Yes Yes 100% 

National Maternity and Perinatal Audit 
(NMPA)  Yes Yes 100% 

National Neonatal Audit Programme - 
Neonatal Intensive and Special Care 
(NNAP) 

Yes Yes 100% 

National Ophthalmology Audit Database Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Paediatric Diabetes Audit 
(NPDA)  Yes Yes 100% 

National Prostate Cancer Audit Yes Yes Ongoing 

National Vascular Registry Yes Yes Approx 95% 

Neurosurgical National Audit Programme  Yes Yes 100% 
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National clinical audits  Eligible 2020/21 
Participation 

status 

Percentage of 
relevant cases 
submitted/ or 

reason for non-
participation  

Perioperative Quality Improvement 
Programme (PQIP) Yes Yes Ongoing 

Sentinel Stroke National Audit 
programme (SSNAP) Yes Yes 100% 

Serious Hazards of Transfusion: UK 
National Haemovigilance Scheme Yes Yes 100% 

Society for Acute Medicine's 
Benchmarking Audit (SAMBA Yes No Insufficient 

capacity 

Surgical Site Infection Surveillance 
Service Yes Yes 100% 

UK Cystic Fibrosis Registry Yes Yes Ongoing 

UK Renal Registry Yes Yes Ongoing 
 

National confidential enquiries Eligible  Participated Percentage 
submitted 

Maternal, Newborn and Infant Clinical 
Outcome Review Programme Yes Yes 100% 

 

The reports of 31 national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2020/21 and Brighton & 
Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality 
of healthcare provided: 

Title Action taken or planned 

National Audit of 
Inpatient Falls 

Nurse falls risk assessments are undertaken daily on at risk patients 
using a screening tool. However, physio and OT walking assessments 
are not routinely offered 7 days a week. We will implement a multi-
factorial risk assessment (MFRA) to reduce the likelihood of inaccurate 
falls risk assessment. We will also review the Trust’s falls policy, making 
changes to reflect and incorporate guidelines around MRFA.   

National Hip Fracture 
Database 

We will take steps to ensure as many patients as possible are managed 
on the dedicated Orthopaedic ward (Twineham). This will facilitate 
prompt assessment (one day post-surgery) by Physiotherapists.  
Patient First Improvement System and Safety Huddle focus areas to 
include pressure damage identification and prevention, completion of 
Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool scores and dietetics referral. 

National Oesophago-
Gastric Cancer Audit 

There is currently no endotherapy service within the Trust.  Patients are 
referred out to another trust which is causing significant delays in their 
pathways. A new Oesophago-Gastric Consultant will be joining the 
team in July, already trained in providing this service but the appropriate 
infrastructure needs to be put into place. We are therefore writing a 
business case to build this service within the trust. 
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Title Action taken or planned 

National Cardiac Audit 
Programme (NCAP): 
Coronary Angioplasty 
(PCI) 

In the last report, 68% of our STEMI cases had a call to balloon time of 
less than 150 minutes. This is below the recommended standard of 
75% but is consistent with the national average of 69%. Most of the 
delays would be due to pre-hospital care/ambulance transfers. We 
intend to look at these specific cases in more detail in order to 
determine where there is room for improvement.   

National Cardiac Audit 
Programme (NCAP): 
MINAP 

We have timely cardiology review and decision making taking place on 
both hospital sites within the trust. RSCH Emergency Department 
NSTEMI admissions are admitted straight to a cardiac bed. PRH 
admissions are referred to cardiology for consultation and then 
transferred to RSCH if required.  Patients for cardiac rehabilitation are 
automatically identified from ward handover sheets by the cardiac rehabilitation 
team. 

National Audit of 
Cardiac Rehabilitation 
(NACR) 

The RSCH site achieved national certification this year. However the 
PRH site did not, due to delays for assessments with the 
physiotherapist. To achieve more timely assessment, an increase in 
physiotherapy hours are required, and the service will therefore explore 
whether there are avenues available to fund the additional hours that 
would be required. 

National Diabetes 
Audit – Adults 

Although Diabetes-Harms cases are discussed, there are no full root-
cause analyses performed on these incidents. We therefore wish to 
establish a trust-level Diabetes Safety Board, which could provide 
support to undertake root-cause analysis of diabetes-Harms. 
We have a Diabetes peri-operative pathway that is used in the Trust 
and we hold peri-operative diabetes meetings to try to improve the 
management of diabetes peri-operatively. A business case is being 
submitted to employ a peri-operative DiSN to improve the adherence to 
the pathway. 
We are also developing a diabetes scorecard to bring together 
numerous strands of data and information that will allow the team to 
monitor performance and identify issues that would benefit from 
directed quality improvement projects. 

National Emergency 
Laparotomy Audit 
(NELA) 

A recurring NELA slot is timetabled at anaesthetic and general surgical 
Quality Safety & Patient Experience (QPE) meetings. Joint QSPE 
meetings with general surgeons and 'generalist' anaesthetists would 
allow further discussion and will be put in place. A working group is to 
be convened to discuss methods of input for the wider MDT, to include 
geriatricians, radiologists, emergency department. A quality 
improvement project is underway to redesign/revise the emergency 
laparotomy pathway and emergency department prompt cards.  

National Vascular 
Registry 

Fewer operations than the national average were carried out in the 
presence of Consultants. However, this is due to a well-trained registrar 
cadre in vascular surgery who have become highly competent in these 
procedures. The Consultants at BSUH have previously led the 
development and delivery of a training course on amputations at the 
Royal College of surgeons and have trained the registrars well. This is 
confirmed by the excellent outcomes seen. 
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Title Action taken or planned 

National Paediatric 
Diabetes Audit 
(NPDA) 

We discuss our Patient Recorded Experience Measures results in our 
MDT business meetings and take on board family comments and the 
wishes of family and young people in improving the service as per their 
needs. We recently sought input from our families on how they viewed 
our way of incentivising pump therapy, and we then revisited our 
practice on this basis making it more young-person-friendly. In addition, 
our families expressed a wish for a more comprehensive transition 
process and we are therefore now planning to organise opportunities to 
meet with our young people and families to discuss their wishes and 
improve our transition service. This is being implemented with the 
addition of a new consultant and more Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) 
staff to re-shape our transition service. 
Training for school staff is developed, organised and delivered by our 
CNS staff. During the pandemic this has been happening virtually via 
Zoom. 

National Neonatal 
Audit Programme - 
Neonatal Intensive 
and Special Care 
(NNAP) 

Guidelines, expressing and breast feeding support and facilities are 
already in place to maximise breast feeding.  
A business case has been submitted and is under review for improved 
nursing staffing levels. 
Regarding reducing the proportion of babies affected by 
bronchopulmonary dysplasia, a new guideline was introduced in 2020, 
monitoring is taking place using Vermont Oxford Neonatal Database. 
We have already met the target for incidence of necrotising 
enterocolitis, (NEC) however we wish to continue to improve if possible. 
Hence a new NEC prevention guideline is in preparation. 

British Thoracic 
Society National Audit 
of Non-Invasive 
Ventilation (NIV) 

Significant improvements have been achieved since NIV 
teaching/competency has been delivered by and appointed NIV critical 
care nurse. Teaching and a proforma were implemented in 2020 so we 
will look to the next audit cycle to see whether there are improvements 
in domains for uptitrating NIV/ABG monitoring. 
Critical care outreach 24/7 has significantly improved rate of patients on 
acute NIV being assessed within 2 hours of initiation which should 
improve outcomes/mortality. 
We have plans for NIV inreach to allow subspeciality NIV input for all 
patients on NIV. 
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Title Action taken or planned 

National Audit of Care 
at the End of Life 
(NACEL) 

BSUH has developed an 'Individualised Care Plan for a Dying Person' 
with associated training. This can be found on the BSUH 'microguide'. It 
is monitored via the BSUH End Of Life Care Steering Group 
(EOLCSG). 
The EOLCSG will work with Medical Examiners, Chaplaincy and 
Bereavement Office and develop a business case to support 
Bereavement Services at BSUH. This is to enable the service to provide 
the best support to people important to the dying person through their 
bereavement, with the aim of better meeting people’s needs and 
preferences. 
To support staff in gaining competence and confidence in 
communicating effectively and sensitively with the dying person and 
people important to them, BSUH uses nationally recognised Sage & 
Thyme Communication Tool in its communication workshop. Clinical 
Fellows will work with BSMS post graduate centre on the Second 
Conversation initiative. 
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The reports of 48 local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2020/21 and Brighton & 
Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality 
of healthcare provided: 

Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Acute Floor  Oxygen therapy for acutely 

ill medical patients 
• Develop trust guidelines for: (i) when to 

start oxygen therapy and (ii) when to 
attempt oxygen weaning.  

• Introduce training/cheat sheets to nurses 
summarising the above guidelines and 
prompting the need for oxygen prescribing 
by a Clinician. 

• Consider changing drug chart oxygen 
prescription pre-set targets from 94-98% 
to 94-96%. 

Acute Medicine Non-Invasive Ventilation 
(NIV) – A quality 
improvement project 

• Education programme to up skill staff on 
the acute floor on when to do an arterial 
blood gas and to educate them around the 
ineffective use of NIV in the treatment for 
pneumonia, and the need to consider ITU 
or palliation 

And/or 
• Need for an early respiratory review of 

patients starting NIV on the acute floor 
and to discuss every patient starting NIV 
with a senior respiratory Consultant.  

Acute Medicine An initiative to improve 
National Early Warning 
Score 2 (NEWS2) 
documentation for patients 
presenting to acute 
medicine to enhance 
quality, safety and efficiency 
of care. 

To ascertain if a new type of visual prompt 
(Weebles) can improve NEWS2 
documentation:  
• There was a significant improvement on 

the reporting of NEWS & temperature at 1 
week, but not at 3 months. 

• Weebles proved to be an inexpensive, fun 
and effective visual prompt for clinicians in 
the short term 

• Future work needs to focus on long-term 
retention and comparison between 
different visual prompts, such as Weebles 
versus posters. 
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Acute Medicine Management of non-

surgically acquired cellulitis 
• Skin swabs frequently yield negative 

results, particularly if the skin is intact, and 
should be reserved for cases where the 
skin is broken, or there is a history of 
penetrating injury, or exposure to water-
borne organisms or travel outside the UK. 

• We have designed and implemented 
clinical prompt cards to address key 
aspects of cellulitis management where 
improvement is most needed; specifically 
reducing unnecessary investigation and 
optimising antibiotic stewardship.  

• The audit cycle will be repeated after 2 
months to assess the impact on patient 
management. 

Breast Surgery Breast symptom referral 
audit 

The introduction of a  local breast symptom 
referral proforma: 
• Enhanced service efficiency and service 

optimisation.  
• Enhanced collaboration and networking 

with Primary Care, Cancer Alliance, 
Clinical Commissioning and in-service 
colleagues.  

• Saved costs in both primary and 
secondary care  

• Improved the patient journey, as a 
consequence enhanced management of 
patients with low risk symptoms. 

Cardiology Improving interpretation of 
coronary angiography: a 
pilot quality improvement 
project 

The introduction of a newly written digital 
guide has demonstrated increased ability in 
interpreting coronary angiogram in the small 
number of candidates recruited into this pilot 
study. The basic digital guide was presented 
to the local trust medical education committee 
who endorsed incorporating the guide into an 
e-learning module for wider dissemination. 

Cardiothoracic Surgery Concomitant surgical atrial 
fibrillation (AF) ablation 
follow-up against best-
practice standards at a 
tertiary cardiac surgery 
centre in Brighton. 

A nurse-led arrhythmia clinic can prevent AF-
related hospital admissions by ensuring cost-
effective review, optimal anticoagulation and 
rate/rhythm control. 

Cardiothoracic Surgery Evaluation of the 
management of sternal 
wound infections in 
cardiothoracic surgery 
patients 

Based on the findings of this audit and the 
evidence-based recommendations found in 
the international literature we formed a list of 
17 suggestions for the management of sternal 
wound infection in cardiothoracic surgery 
patients.  

Diabetes/Endocrinology Diabetes & frailty Poster developed with supplementary 
education sessions. 
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Diabetes/Endocrinology Audit of patient experience 

& outcomes from 
hydrocortisone patient 
education sessions.  

• Continue sessions.  
• Encourage patients to attend with 

partner/other.  
• Remind patients to inform nurse specialist 

if admitted with adrenal crisis.  
Diabetes/Endocrinology Patient preferences for 

telephone or face to face  
follow up appointments in 
the metabolic bone clinic 

• Supports telephone follow up for this 
clinic.  

• Continue current follow up arrangements. 

Diabetes/Endocrinology Tolvaptan use at PRH for 
syndrome of inappropriate 
antidiuretic hormone 
secretion (SIADH) 

• Continue limited use under Endocrine 
Consultant supervision.  

• Await further outcome data from clinical 
trials and review local use accordingly. 

Ear Nose & Throat 
(ENT) 

Audit looking at consent in 
functional endoscopic sinus 
and septal surgery.  

• Teaching session on consent factors for 
each surgery at departmental teaching. 

• Summary of findings emailed to ENT team 
with bullet points on consent points that 
need to be included for each surgery 

• Clarify if any specific reason some factors 
in consent were included/ not included 

• Plan for re-audit and closing the audit 
cycle once elective surgery recommences 
with same ENT department. 

Elderly Medicine Malnutrition screening in 
elderly care wards  

• Results discussed with elderly care 
consultants 

• Relayed findings to Dietetics department 
(consistent with previous audit in 2018 of 
42%).  

• Presentation to elderly care junior doctors 
planned 

• Elderly care consultant to relay findings to 
safety, quality and performance meeting. 

• Development of a flow chart and/ or 
updated screening questions for use in the 
acute admissions unit (AAU) to ensure at 
risk patients have prompt referral and oral 
nutritional support can be started while 
awaiting assessment by a dietician. 

General Surgery Timing of surgery following 
Covid-19 infection - 
Digestive Diseases 

• Recommend a 7 week-delay between 
COVID and surgery 
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
General Surgery Performance of an 

Emergency Ambulatory 
Care Unit (EACU) for 
surgical patients (and re-
audit).  
 
 
 

• Process-driven EACU can be the most 
effective way   

• Missed opportunities and waste categories 
account for almost one-fourth of EACU 
referrals. Consultant delivered acute 
surgical care may eventually help to 
improve both these areas. 

• A re-audit found; more senior review than 
before; more number of same day 
discharges (72% vs 60%); more complete 
discharge letters (94% vs 82%). Process 
was still the major provider effort category 
though marginally lower (52% vs 60%). 

General Surgery Management of pancreatitis • Patient information leaflets need updating  
• Pancreatitis pathway established. 
• Scoring to identify high risk patients and 

early liaison with ITU. 
• Re-audit in 3 months. 

General Surgery Clerking & prescribing audit • Cascading the results of this audit to the 
doctors, pharmacists, and nurses on L9a 
to raise awareness of the issues identified 
through posters. 

• Pharmacists and doctors informing each 
other when clerking and prescribing of a 
patient is required, respectively.  

• The findings of this audit and a review of 
good prescribing guidelines to be set-up 
and delivered as an online teaching 
session. 

• A re-audit to be performed in 6-8 weeks’ 
time to check the improvement of these 
factors. 
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
General Surgery Ward round documentation: 

Are we adhering to Royal 
College of Surgeons (RCS) 
good surgical practice? 

Created an Access database proforma that 
allows all patient details, observations and 
recent investigations to be automatically 
updated in a single A4 sheet. Having a single 
sheet with all the data present meant more 
time could be spent with the patient forming 
clearer plans which also made it easier for 
continuity of care. Doctors were updated on 
how to use the database and the need to print 
them off before the ward round.  
Ward notes were then re-audited against the 
same RCS Good Surgical Practice Criteria. 
Overall, a significant improvement in 
documentation and criteria met. All 
documentation was legible with the date, time 
and patient details stated. 
Plans to: 
• Continue to develop the proforma and 

database to make it as easy to use as 
possible. For those struggling to use it, we 
have offered further training. 

• Plan is to re-audit this again and continue 
to develop the proforma. In some hospitals 
this electronic system is integrated already 
with the observations and bloods and this 
could be a potential area to look at further. 

General Surgery Management of Acute 
Kidney Injury (AKI) in a 
surgical unit 

The incidence of AKI in acute surgical 
patients is common (approximately 7% of 
admissions to this department). Most of these 
admissions had pre-existing medical or 
surgical co-morbidities. Guidance on 
intravenous (IV) fluids and holding 
medications was adhered to, which may have 
spared most patients from operative 
morbidity. However, nearly all patients 
received contrast for a CT scan, which may 
have been unavoidable in diagnosis and 
surgical planning. It is important to rationalise 
the use of contrast in such patients. Accepted 
as an E-poster at ASGBI Centenary meeting 
2020 

Intensive Care Unit Antiretroviral drug 
Prescribing in the Intensive 
Care Unit (ICU): An audit 
and quality improvement 
project 

• Addition of learning resources on critical 
care intranet site 

• Teaching session (online/in person) for 
new cohort of clinicians joining in August 

• Re-audit and re-assessment 
Intensive Care Unit Compliance of the Intensive 

Care Unit (ICU) with the 
NHS Healthy Working 
Environment Framework 

• BSUH should invest in providing nutritious 
food across all areas 24/7, and make 
changes to provide staff rest areas in line 
with new social distancing guidance. 
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Intensive Care Unit Covid blood tests audit PCT is probably the most helpful parameter 

when assessing inflammatory state in Covid-
19, the recommendation is therefore to limit 
the use of other tests that may be less 
specific. 

Intensive Care Unit Rib fracture management 
audit in Critical Care 

Highlight need to engage with rib fracture 
pathway at Trauma Governance. 

Intensive Care Unit Secondary/tertiary survey 
audit 

Completion of secondary/tertiary survey in 
polytrauma is poor: 
• Quality improvement project commenced 
• Emergency Department to also audit 
• Orthopaedic team made aware 

Intensive Care Unit Psychological morbidity in 
ICU admissions 

• Increase education in relation to risk 
factors  

• Bid for an ICU psychologist role 
Intensive Care Unit Burnout in ICU We learnt that there are significant levels of 

burnout in ICU, especially during the Covid-
19 pandemic. We have implemented simple 
improvements as suggested by the 
participants and scheduled a re-audit. 
Accepted to present poster at Bristol Patient 
Safety Conference national online conference 
June 2021 

Neuro Medicine  Audit of prescribing and 
treatment response of 
Erenumab in chronic 
migraine 

To continue use, although this has been 
superseded by NICE guidance in 2021. 
Erenumab is now available on the NHS 
together with other CGRP monoclonal 
antibodies. We will re-audit again towards the 
end of 2021. 

Maxillofacial/Oral 
Surgery 

Post-op documentation of 
oral and maxillofacial 
surgery free flap procedures 

• Roll out new proforma 
• Re-audit data after 3 months of use 
• Emphasize importance of efficient 

documentation at induction 
Paediatric Orthodontics An audit to assess the re-

exposure rates of impacted 
teeth: are we doing it right? 

• Orthodontics to supply more information 
on position of tooth, desired exposure and 
chain position in referral letter. Adoption of 
e-proforma could be considered. 

• Surgeons to ensure details of both 
open/closed exposures and position of 
bracket are included in the operative notes 
for the staff completing discharge 
summaries to ensure consistency with 
operative records. 

• It’s recommended that there is attendance 
at all joint clinics by both surgical and 
orthodontic teams to facilitate improved 
communication and outcomes for patients.  
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Paediatric Orthodontics An audit to assess the 

number of replacement 
orthodontic retainers made 

• Review retention regime and consider 
retainer consent policy at de-bond.  

• To consider reducing full time wear from 3 
months to 1 month as most replacements 
due to wear and tear, thus if patients are 
wearing the retainers part time for longer, 
fewer retainer remakes may be required. 

Paediatric Orthodontics Orthodontic service 
evaluation 

• To inform patients during the consent 
process that the average treatment 
duration is 2 1/2 years within the 
department.  

• Re-audit annually and ensure patients 
undergoing interceptive orthodontic 
treatment with removable appliances are 
included. 

Paediatric Orthodontics Quality of orthodontic 
photographs: re-audit 

• An improvement in the quality of 
photographs was seen since the teaching 
session carried out post 1st audit. 

• Further improvements are still required on 
intra oral buccal views.  

• Re-audit 12/12 and include a section on 
whether the photos are clinically 
acceptable as well as the grade. 

Paediatric Orthodontics A re- audit to assess 
orthodontic health records 

• Clinicians to ensure health questionnaire 
is completed annually 

• Amendments in the notes to be signed 
and dated. 

• Details of the clinician and nurse to be 
added to the clinical notes.  

• In line with trust policy to re-audit annually. 
Paediatric Orthodontics Consent for treatment in an 

Orthodontic department 
• Training undertaken on the completion of 

consent forms 
• To ensure clinicians complete all sections 

of the form and document consent and 
discussion in the case notes. 

• Discussion on deciding a reasonable time 
frame for confirmation of consent. 

• Re-audit in 12 months’ time 
Paediatric Orthodontics Evaluating clinical and 

patient-centred outcomes in 
an Orthodontic Department 

• Review de-bond form layout 
• Clinicians to fully complete form 
• Improve communication re: clinics running 

late 
• Improve communication re: treatment 

duration 
• Analyse data on a yearly basis 
• Next audit: August 2021 for July 2020 – 

June 2021 
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Paediatric Orthodontics Health Records in an 

Orthodontic Department: a 
three cycle re-audit 

• Clinicians to ensure alterations are 
acknowledged as per trust guidelines. 

• Study model box numbers are written on 
the front cover; all entries are legible, 
written in black ink and correctly signed off 
with designation and printed name; to 
complete the orthodontic summary sheet 
and ensure the medical history is updated 
at each visit and the health questionnaire 
updated annually. 

• The use of existing stamps with the 
clinician’s name and designation should 
be utilised regularly. 

• Administrative staff to ensure case notes 
are in a good condition with an 
orthodontics sticker; only appropriate 
information is present on the front cover; 
all case notes have a patient identification 
sheet with emergency contact details 
present. 

• As per the trusts health record policy, a re-
audit should take place within 12 months 
of implementing the action plan. 

Paediatric Surgery Paediatric emergency 
airway and foreign body Ear 
Nose & Throat (ENT) 
equipment audit 

• The new guidelines will be addressed and 
presented to the ENT department as there 
was not an awareness that these had 
changed and what the expectations were. 

• Theatre equipment lead will get in contact 
with manufacturers to identify how to order 
the specific new sizes of bronchoscopes. 

• Theatre equipment lead will clarify which 
model numbers of paediatric 
tracheostomies we have currently present. 

• We also highlighted that there was 
currently only one ENT equipment lead 
who knew about ordering the equipment 
and about the ENT emergency airway 
equipment. It was suggested that there 
should be a refresher for the rest of the 
ENT theatre team on how to order the 
emergency equipment should the need 
arise. 

Renal Medicine Renal procedures audit • Removal of duplicate entries of vascular 
access from electronic patient records.  

• CVC insertion care bundle to be replaced 
by new one page proforma. 

• To make it policy for documented one 
week reviews when re-prescribing and 
discontinued if no growth.  
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Renal Medicine Acute kidney injury audit • There is an ongoing review of late 

presenters to the service (known <90 days 
before starting dialysis) to identify any 
themes as to how to identify these patients 
sooner.   

• Support to deliver NephWork submission 
streamline collection of outcomes data 

• Address missing data  
Renal Surgery Renal transplant audit • Development of an annual review 

proforma/checklist. 
• Explore availability of algorithm for 

predicting eGFR decline and if this can be 
incorporated into reporting.  

Thoracic/Respiratory 
Medicine 

British Thoracic Society 
(BTS) local bronchiectasis 
audit 

• Review and redesign of bronchiectasis 
data capture, specifically around capturing 
which patients have received a self-
management plan and which have been 
referred to pulmonary rehabilitation. 

• Education of patients of the importance of 
providing regular sputum samples prior to 
commencing antibiotics. This will allow a 
targeted approach to treatment and early 
recognition of chronic infections. 

Trauma & 
Orthopaedics 

Open lower limb fractures: 
Are we following the British 
Orthopaedic Association 
Standards for Trauma and 
Orthopaedics (BOASTs) 
guidelines on photography 
and soft tissue coverage? 
Retrospective closed-loop 
audit 

Findings from 1st audit presented in poster 
format to the orthopaedics governance 
meeting.  
Re-audited showed an improvement in the 
pre-debridement photographs in comparison 
to the first cycle. Also, the post debridement 
photograph increased dramatically in 
comparison to the first cycle.  

Trauma & 
Orthopaedics 

Ankle fractures: Are we 
offering patients adequate 
rehabilitation advice after 
open reduction internal 
fixation surgery? 
Retrospective closed-loop 
audit 

A new leaflet was introduced in March 2020 
as a result of the 1st audit cycle. These 
changes were introduced during the COVID-
19 period when patients had virtual 
appointments. The 2nd cycle showed that 
most indicators were positively improved, 
indicating higher adherence to the guidelines. 
The total percentile of adherence to 
guidelines improved in the second cycle.  

Trauma & 
Orthopaedics 

Thromboprophylaxis and 
Venous thromboembolism  
(VTE) rates following 
accelerated functional 
rehabilitation for Achilles 
tendon rupture 

• Discussion with haematology department 
regarding the optimal VTE prophylaxis 
protocol.  

• Addition of VTE risk assessment on virtual 
fracture clinic proforma.  
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Speciality Project Title Actions to improve the quality of care 
Trauma & 
Orthopaedics 

Re-audit of tip-apex 
distance for fixation of 
extracapular neck of femur 
fracture.  

• A couple of patient’s intraoperative 
fluoroscopy images where not loaded onto 
the local imaging review system. This 
should be highlighted to the radiology 
department  

• Surgeons must be made aware to double 
check the data entered into the template 
on Bluespier prior to completing the 
operation notes. 

Trauma & 
Orthopaedics 

Fracture related infections - 
Communication with 
patients and primary care 

• To embed proper communication via 
discharge paper work. 

Vascular Surgery Pain management in critical 
limb ischaemia: a clinical 
audit (and re-audit) 

• Analgesia education sessions for incoming 
Senior House Officers (SHOs). 

• Inclusion of the analgesia dosing table in 
the vascular clerking proforma. 

• A simplified version of the analgesia table 
being formatted into a poster for the 
vascular doctor's office. 

• Re-audit: Recommendation to continue 
the above interventions. 

Vascular Surgery Port-a-cath insertion audit • Post-operative booklet developed.  
 

Participation in Clinical Research  
The number of patients receiving relevant health services provided or sub-contracted by Brighton 
and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust in 2020/21 that were recruited during that period to 
participate in research approved by a research ethics committee was 2802.  

Goals agreed with Commissioners: Use of the Commissioning for 
Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) Payment Framework  
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the operation of the CQUIN (both CCG and specialised) framework 
was suspended for the whole of 2020/21; providers did not need to implement CQUIN 
requirements, carry out CQUIN audits nor submit CQUIN performance data. For Trusts, an 
allowance for CQUIN will continue to be built into nationally-set block payments.  

Statements from the Care Quality Commissioner (CQC)  
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust was required to register with the Care Quality 
Commission and its current registration status came to an end on the 31st March following the 
acquisition by Western Sussex Hospitals Foundation Trust 

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospitals NHS Trust during 2020/21. 

Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has not participated in any special reviews or 
investigations by the CQC during the reporting period.  
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NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity  
Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust submitted records during 2020/21 to the 
Secondary Users Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics which are included in the 
latest published data.  

The percentage of records in the published data (April 2020 – February 2021): 

Which included the patient’s valid NHS number was: 

99.6% for admitted patient care: 

99.9% for outpatient care and 

98.2% for accident and emergency care  

Which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was: 

100% for admitted patient care; 

100% for outpatient care; and 

99.8% for accident and emergency care 

Data Security and Protection Toolkit Attainment Levels 
Each year the Trust completes and submits the Data Security and Protection Toolkit (DSPT) to 
demonstrate its compliance against the National Data Guardian’s National Data Security 
Standards. As organisations continue to focus on the operational priorities associated with the 
outbreak of COVID-19, NHS Digital (NHSD) agreed that the publication date for the 2020-21 
submission would be 30th June 2021. Given that the Trust merged with Western Sussex Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust to form the University Hospitals Sussex NHS Foundation Trust from 1st 
April 2021 the decision was taken to make the BSUH toolkit submission before the merger. A 
compliant DSPT submission was therefore made on 30th March 2021. 

Clinical Coding Error Rate  
Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust was not subject to the Payment by Results 
clinical coding audit during 2020-21 by the Audit Commission. 

Data Quality  
Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust will be taking the following actions to improve 
data quality 

• Continue to log DQ related incidents on DATIX and encourage all departments to log these 
incidents. Monitor these cases and provide training and support to areas that would benefit 
from this most. 

• Demographic Batch Service (DBS) processes to run as normal twice a day. Introduce a 
new monthly DBS tracing of ‘Dates of Death’ and ‘Name Aliases of new-borns’ for the entire 
PAS Index from the NHS Spine (~1.5 million records). 

• Continue to actively promote and push for all staff to utilize the available resources (DQ 
Information Pack) as well as the two e-modules (Patient Identification and Data Quality 
Awareness). 

• Continue working with data owners and system managers to address the Data Quality 
Improvement Strategy actions. 
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Learning from Deaths 
Deaths in 2020/21 
During 2020/21 1644 of Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust patients died (of which 
16 were neonatal deaths/stillbirths, 1 were people with learning disabilities and 3 had a severe 
mental illness). This comprised the following number of deaths which occurred in each quarter of 
that reporting period:  

• 375 in the first quarter (of which 3 were neonatal deaths/stillbirths, 0 were people with 
learning disabilities and 0 had a severe mental illness). 

• 288 in the second quarter (of which 6 were neonatal deaths/stillbirths, 0 were people with 
learning disabilities and 0 had a severe mental illness). 

• 415 in the third quarter (of which 2 were neonatal deaths/stillbirths, 1 were people with 
learning disabilities and 1 had a severe mental illness). 

• 566 in the fourth quarter (of which 5 were neonatal deaths/stillbirths, 0 were people with 
learning disabilities and 2 had a severe mental illness). 

Mortality Reviews 
By 31 March 2021, 21 case record reviews and 142 investigations have been carried out in relation 
to 162 of the deaths.  

In 1 case a death was subjected to both a case record review and an investigation. The number of 
deaths in each quarter for which a case record review or an investigation was carried out was: 

• 51 in the first quarter;  

• 11 in the second quarter;  

• 50 in the third quarter; 

• 51 in the fourth quarter.  

Patient deaths judged to be more likely than not to have been due to problems in the care 
provided to the patient 
142 representing 8.6% of the patient deaths during the reporting period are judged to be more 
likely than not to have been due to problems in the care provided to the patient. This reflects the 
139 patients diagnosed with nosocomial COVID-19 infection and who had COVID-19 recorded on 
either part 1 or part 2 of their death certificate in this timeframe.   

In relation to each quarter, this consisted of:  

• 50 representing 13% for the first quarter;  
• 6 representing 2% for the second quarter;  
• 42 representing 10% for the third quarter;  
• 44 representing 8% for the fourth quarter.  

 
These numbers have been estimated using the mortality review and serious incident investigation 
framework. 

Investigations into 34 (31 relating to nosocomial COVID-19 infection) deaths in the reporting period 
remain ongoing at the time of writing.  

Learning from case record reviews and investigations 
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Missed acute coronary syndrome in the Emergency Department (ED) – unexpected deaths 
following patient discharge from the ED. Identified care issues included misinterpretation of the 
chest pain pathway, a failure to review and/or repeat critical blood test results and the impact 
of reduced senior medical staffing levels. 

Action following our learning 
Human Factors refresher training and education has been rolled out in the ED for Foundation and 
senior trainee (Registrar) staff.  

The cases have been presented at junior doctors’ induction to illustrate the wide potential 
diagnoses for similar presentations and the importance of following up on all investigation results. 
One case study is now included in the junior doctor induction handbook. 

The Pathology and the ED teams are working together for the introduction of an automated system 
to alert clinicians when results are pending to ensure that all blood requested tests will 
automatically be visible on ICE once received by the laboratory. 

Work remains ongoing in addressing ED middle grade and above doctor shortages.  

An Advanced Care Practitioner programme is under development.  

The impact of our actions 
The action plan was commended by the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and will be 
monitored via the Quality Review Meeting to provide assurance on the medical staffing levels in 
the ED.  

Mortality reviews relating to deaths during the previous reporting period 
59 case record reviews and 2 investigations completed after 31 March 2020 which related to 
deaths which took place before the start of the reporting period  

Patient deaths judged to be more likely than not to have been due to problems in care during 
the previous reporting period 
0 representing 0% of the patient deaths before the reporting period, are judged to be more likely 
than not to have been due to problems in the care provided to the patient.  

Revised estimate of deaths judged to be more likely than not to have been due to problems 
in care during the previous reporting period 
0 representing 0% of the patient deaths during 2019/20 are judged to be more likely than not to 
have been due to problems in the care provided to the patient.  
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Implementing the Priority Clinical Standards for 7 Day Services  
This programme of work was not carried out by NHS England during 2020/21. From 2019 the 
reporting of 7 Day Services was moved to a Board Assurance framework with Acute Trusts being 
required to use a self-assessment template to report on their performance twice yearly. However, 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic Trusts were instructed to suspend the self-cert statement. 

Staff Who Speak Out 
Staff members have a number of channels available to them to speak up about issues or concerns 
they have, particularly those relating to quality of care, patient safety, and bullying or harassment. 
Brighton and Sussex University Hospital NHS Trust worked to a Patient First Strategy across the 
organisation, which is based on a localised version of the Virginia Mason Production System (a 
methodology designed to transform health care). The objective of the strategy is to embed and 
sustain a culture of continuous improvement. The trust actively invites staff to speak up and 
contribute to discussions and activities to improve both patient and staff experience. 

The trust’s present Freedom to Speak Up Guardian has been in post since November 2020 and 
works with individuals, teams and groups to promote speaking up including, for example, attending 
events such as: staff inductions; junior doctor inductions; staff training and development events; 
local staff conferences and diversity and inclusion events. In addition to this the Freedom to Speak 
Up Guardian works collaboratively with staff from Patient Safety and Human Resources, and 
reports twice yearly to the Trust Board.  

During 2020, the Freedom to Speak Up Guardian’s annual (calendar year) report showed an 
overall increase of over 50% in the number of staff speaking up directly to the Freedom to Speak 
Up Guardian. This increase mirrored the experience of many other Guardians throughout the 
COVID-19 pandemic as did the large increase in staff safety matters related to the pandemic 
including about: personal protective equipment (PPE) issues; social distancing and COVID working 
arrangements. 

The 2020 staff survey has shown a 0.5% increase in staff saying they feel secure raising a concern 
about unsafe clinical practice at 70.6%; 1.2% below the National Average. The Trust continues to 
exceed the national average with its 1.7% year on year increase in response to “my organisation 
treats staff who are involved in an error, near miss or incident fairly.”  Our safety culture score of 
6.5 is 0.3 behind the National Average score of 6.8. 

BSUH promoted a culture which encourages staff to speak up. As part of embedding speaking up 
as ‘business as usual’ throughout the trust, for most situations, staff are encouraged to approach 
their line manager/supervisor/team leader. Because of the importance manager’s play at this stage 
and the value of good communication, training has been put in place to support these key staff 
members to have quality conversations with staff with further training currently being embedded 
within the trust. Staff can also access support from a number of parties including: directly from the 
Freedom to Speak Up Guardian; Connections team; HELP a psychotherapy service; staff 
networks; and the Diversity and Inclusion Team.  
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Rota Gaps and Plans for Improvement  
The Guardian of Safe Working Hours engages closely and regularly with trainee doctors across the 
organisation to identify and escalate any areas of concern relating to training, supervision and 
workload. These are then systematically reported to the Medical Director through regular meetings, 
and to the Trust Board through quarterly exception reports. This active monitoring enables issues 
related to the training and pastoral care of junior doctors to be actively monitored as per the 
requirements of the 2016 Junior Doctor Contract.  

All safety concerns raised by junior medical staff, either through Datix (the trust’s incident reporting 
system) or verbally, undergo prompt investigation under the direction of a Consultant Specialty 
Lead, and are reported through existing Divisional Governance channels to the Patient Safety 
Quality Management Group by exception. 

A clear standard operating procedure for managing both predictable and short notice rota 
vacancies is embedded in all specialities. This is coordinated and supervised daily by the 
Divisional Rota Management Teams with support from the relevant Chief of Service and Divisional 
Director of Operations. The importance of active leave management is reinforced by the Divisional 
Chiefs and Postgraduate Education Training Leads.  

The 2020/21 Quarter 2 (July to September) report highlighted that 69 exception reports had been 
submitted, compared to 350 in the same period in 2019.  
 
The 2020/21 Quarter 3 (October to December) report highlighted that 92 exception reports had 
been submitted compared to 268 in the same period in 2019. Which is remarkable given the 
pandemic and is testament to a number of positive factors across the trust.  
 
It was noted that a common feature within the 2020 quarterly reports was the provision of hot food 
available to the Junior Doctors at night and the trust is working to support this, largely through the 
3Ts programme.  
 
In common with previous quarterly reports, a number of exceptions were raised due to late 
finishes. Whilst the rostering aims to reduce the need for late stays by providing someone to 
handover to, it would seem that some late finishes are unavoidable. The hours worked in excess of 
a maximum 13 hour shift are paid at 1.5 x standard rate. 
 
Junior doctors working in medical specialties and in general surgery are now on Healthrota. Since 
the introduction of Healthrota in December 2019 the numbers of exception reports have been 
reduced. A causal relationship is difficult to prove, however, it seems likely that the new rostering 
system which ensures more consistent staffing is at least partly responsible.  
 
The other factor throughout 2020 has been the way the Covid19 pandemic has affected rostering 
and attitudes towards exception reporting. The reduction in exception reporting appears to be a 
regional (if not national) phenomenon. 
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2.3 Reporting Against Core Indicators  
Since 2012/13 NHS Trusts have been required to report performance against a core set of 
indicators using data made available to the Trust by NHS Digital. These core indicators align 
closely with the NHS Outcomes Framework (NHSOF).  

The majority of core indicators are reported by financial year, e.g. from 1st April 2020 to 31st 
March 2021, however some indicators report on a calendar year or partial year basis. Where 
indicators are report on a non-financial year time period this is stated in the data table. It is 
important to note that some national data sets report in significant arrears and therefore not all data 
presented are available to the end of the current reporting period (31st March 2021).  

Summary Hospital-Level Mortality Indicator  
The Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator (SHMI) reports on mortality at Trust level across 
the NHS in England. The SHMI is the ratio between the actual number of patients who died 
following hospitalisation at the trust and the number that would be expected to die on the basis of 
average England figures, given the characteristics of the patients treated there. The SHMI gives an 
indication for each non-specialist acute NHS trust in England on whether the observed number of 
deaths within 30 days of discharge from hospital was 'higher than expected' (SHMI banding=1), 'as 
expected' (SHMI banding=2) or 'lower than expected' (SHMI banding=3) when compared to the 
national baseline. 

Indicator  
Domain 

Summary Hospital-level Mortality Indicator  
Preventing people from dying prematurely  

BSUH 
2020 

National 
average 2020 

Best 
performing 
Trust 2020 

Worst 
performing 
Trust 2020 

BSUH 
2019 

BSUH 
2018 

105.77 
As expected 

100.00 
As expected 

69.51 
Lower than 
expected 

118.69 
Higher than 

expected 

97.68 
As expected 

97.94 
As expected 

Data Source Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) and HES-ONS Linked Mortality Dataset 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-
indicators/shmi/current/shmi-data 

Table based on latest available data (December 2019 - November 2020) 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reason that it is taken from a well-established national source. 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this score, and so the quality of its services by routinely monitoring mortality rates at the 
Trust Mortality Review Group (TMRG). This monitoring includes looking at mortality rates by 
specialty, diagnosis and procedure. A systematic approach is adopted whenever an early warning 
of a problem is detected. This work is supported by our coding department to ensure any clinical 
and non-clinical concerns are identified.  

Palliative care indicators are included below to assist in the interpretation of SHMI by providing a 
summary of the varying levels of palliative care coding across non-specialist acute providers. 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/shmi/current/shmi-data
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/shmi/current/shmi-data
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Indicator   

Domain 

Percentage of patient deaths with palliative care coded at either diagnosis or 
specialty level  
Preventing people from dying prematurely  

BSUH 
2020 

National 
average 2020 

Highest 
performing 
Trust 2020 

Lowest 
performing 
Trust 2020 

BSUH 
2019 

BSUH 
2018 

2.3% 1.9% 3.8% 0.5% 2.4% 1.8% 

Data Source Hospital Episode Statistics (HES) and HES-ONS Linked Mortality Dataset 

Table based on latest available data (September 2019 - August 2020) 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons it is taken from a well-established national source. 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this score, and so the quality of its services by regularly monitoring mortality data at the 
Trust Mortality Review Group. 

Patient Reported Outcome Measures 
Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) are a means of collecting information on the 
effectiveness of care delivered to NHS patients as perceived by the patients themselves for the 
following procedures:  

Hip replacement surgery;  
Knee replacement surgery. 

Indicator 
Domain 

Patient Reported Outcome Measures EQ 5D Index (casemix adjusted health gain)  
Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury  

Type of 
Surgery 

BSUH 
2019/20 

National 
average 
2019/20 

Best 
performing 

Trust 
2019/20 

Worst 
performing 

Trust 
2019/20 

BSUH 
2018/19 

BSUH 
2017/18 

 

Hip 
replacement 0.437 0.453 0.524 0.411 0.464 0.439 

Knee 
replacement 0.314 0.334 0.359 0.264 0.314 0.317 

Data 
Source 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-
services/patient-reported-outcome-measures-proms 

The most recently published adjusted health gain figures available are finalised data covering the 
period 2019/20.  

Above are the adjusted average health gain figures for the EQ5D outcome measures. 

Latest available data (2019/20, finalised data published Feb 2021) 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reason: it has been taken from a national data set and the Trust’s participation rate 
is high, meaning that the data is reliable. 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/patient-reported-outcome-measures-proms
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/patient-reported-outcome-measures-proms
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The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this score, and so the quality of its services by continuing to carry out dedicated washing 
and dressing assessments in the Orthopaedic Treatment Centre and providing additional patient 
education in this area.  

Patients readmitted to a hospital  
The percentage of patients aged:  

• 0 to 17; and 
• 18 or over 
readmitted to a hospital which forms part of the trust within 30 days of being discharged from a 
hospital which forms part of the trust during the reporting period.  

Indicator 

Domain 

Crude Readmission Rate for patients readmitted to a hospital within 30 days of 
being discharged 
Helping people to recover from episodes of ill health or following injury 

Age Group BSUH 
2020 

National 
average 

2020 

Best 
performing 
Trust 2020 

Worst 
performing 
Trust 2020 

BSUH 
2019 

BSUH 
2018 

Patients 
aged 0 to 
17 years 

9.70% 12.30% 0.00% 44.10% 8.28% 8.90% 

Patients 
aged >18 
years  

13.49% 14.63% 0.00% 27.23% 8.58% 8.56% 

Data 
Source 

Activity and Readmission Data produced using Healthcare Evaluation Database 

Table based on latest available data (January 2020 – December 2020) 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons it is taken from a national provider. 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this percentage, and so the quality of its services, by continuing to work closely with 
commissioners to identify patients at risk of readmission. When individual groups of patients are 
identified action is taken to reduce the likelihood of the patient being readmitted. The Trust 
routinely monitors this data for accuracy. 
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Responsiveness to the personal needs of patients  
The Trusts responsiveness to the personal needs of its patients during the reporting period is 
based on the average score of five questions from the National Inpatient Survey, which measures 
the experiences of people admitted to NHS hospitals.  

Indicator 
Domain 

Responsiveness to the personal needs of patients 
Ensuring people have a positive experience of care 

BSUH 
2020/21 

National 
average 
2020/21 

Best 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

Worst 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

BSUH 
2019/20 

BSUH 
2018/19 

68.2% 67.1% 84.2% 59.5% 67.6% 67.8% 

Data Source NHS Digital 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-
outcomes-framework/current/domain-4-ensuring-that-people-have-a-positive-
experience-of-care-nof/4-2-responsiveness-to-inpatients-personal-needs   

Table based on latest available data (February 2021) 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons it is produced by the Picker Institute in accordance with strict criteria.  

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this percentage, and so the quality of its services, by developing an action plan that 
addresses the issues raised in the National Patient Survey which will focus on improvements in 
food and drinks rounds, privacy and dignity, discharge planning and information for patients. 

Staff who would recommend the trust to their family or friends 
The percentage of staff employed by, or under contract to, the trust during the reporting period who 
would recommend the trust as a provider of care to their family or friends. 

Indicator  
Domain 

Percentage of staff who would recommend the Trust as a provider of care to 
their family or friends  
Ensuring people have a positive experience of care 

BSUH 
2020 

National 
average 2020 

Best 
performing 
Trust 2020 

Worst 
performing 
Trust 2020 

BSUH 
2019 

BSUH 
2018 

 

68.4% 73.4% 92.0% 50.0% 66.1% 67.7% 

Data Source NHS  
NHS Staff Survey Results – NHS Staff Survey Results   

Table based on latest available data (2020) 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons it is produced by the Picker Institute in accordance with strict criteria.  

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this percentage, and so the quality of its services, by continuing to focus on staff 
engagement as part of the Leadership, Culture & Workforce programme with the overall aim of 
improving staff engagement across the Trust. We have a True North objective to be in the top 20% 
of NHS employers in future staff survey results.  

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-outcomes-framework/current/domain-4-ensuring-that-people-have-a-positive-experience-of-care-nof/4-2-responsiveness-to-inpatients-personal-needs
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-outcomes-framework/current/domain-4-ensuring-that-people-have-a-positive-experience-of-care-nof/4-2-responsiveness-to-inpatients-personal-needs
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/clinical-indicators/nhs-outcomes-framework/current/domain-4-ensuring-that-people-have-a-positive-experience-of-care-nof/4-2-responsiveness-to-inpatients-personal-needs
https://www.nhsstaffsurveyresults.com/


32 

Patients who would recommend the trust to their family or friends  
Patients who use inpatient areas are asked a single question about whether they would 
recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and family who need similar treatment.  

Indicator  

Domain 

Percentage of patients who would recommend the Trust as a provider of care 
to their family or friends  
Ensuring people have a positive experience of care 

BSUH 
2020/21 

National 
average 
2020/21 

Best 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

Worst 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

BSUH 
2019/20 

BSUH 
2018/19 

 

93.1% Data not yet 
available 

Data not yet 
available 

Data not yet 
available 

93.8% 93.3% 

Data Source NHS England 
Table based on latest available data (December 2020 to March 2021, the FFT test was suspended 
between April and November) 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reason that the data is captured by an external company.  

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this percentage, and so the quality of its services, by using data received from the FFT 
survey and other patient experience data to drive improvement work in line with the Trust’s true 
north objective of achieving 96% of inpatients who would recommend the Trust to their family and 
friends. 

Patients admitted to hospital who were risk assessed for venous 
thromboembolism (VTE) 
This indicator looks at the percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and who were risk 
assessed for VTE during the reporting period.  

Indicator  
Domain 

The percentage of patients who were admitted to hospital and who were risk 
assessed for venous thromboembolism  
Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from 
avoidable harm 

BSUH 
2020/21 

National 
average 
2020/21 

Best 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

Worst 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

BSUH 
2019/20 

BSUH 
2018/19 

* * * * 91.2% 92.6% 

Data Source NHS Digital 
NHS England » Venous thromboembolism (VTE) risk assessment 2019/20 

* The VTE data collection and publication is currently suspended to release capacity in 
providers and commissioners to manage the COVID-19 pandemic 

Rate of C.difficile infection  
The rate per 100,000 bed days of cases of C. difficile infection reported within the trust amongst 
patients aged 2 or over during the reporting period.  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/patient-safety/venous-thromboembolism-vte-risk-assessment-19-20/
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Indicator 

Domain 

The rate per 100,000 bed days of trust apportioned cases of C. difficile 
infection that have occurred within the Trust amongst patients aged 2 or over  
Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from 
avoidable harm 

BSUH 
2020/21 

National 
average 
2020/21 

Best 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

Worst 
performing 

Trust 2020/21 

BSUH 
2019/20 

BSUH 
2018/19    

 

16.42 17.08 0.00 76.01 18.52 16.1 

Data Source https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/c-difficile-infection-monthly-data-by-
prior-trust-exposure   

Table based on latest available data February 2020 to January 2021  

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons every case is scrutinised using a Root Cause Analysis (RCA) process to 
determine whether the case was linked with a lapse in the quality of care provided to patients.  

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve this rate, and so the quality of its services, by systematically undertaking RCA reviews into 
every case. 

Patient safety incidents and the percentage that resulted in severe harm 
or death  
The number and, where available, rate of patient safety incidents reported within the trust during 
the reporting period, and the number and percentage of such patient safety incidents that resulted 
in severe harm or death. . 

i) rate of incidents reported per 1000 bed days  
ii) rate of incidents that resulted in severe harm or death per 1000 bed days  
iii) number of incidents resulting in severe harm or death  
iv) % of severe harm or death over number of reported incidents.  

Indicator  
Domain 

Patient safety incidents and the percentage that resulted in severe harm or death   
Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from 
avoidable harm  

BSUH 
2019/20 

National 
average 
2019/20 

Best 
performing 

Trust 
2019/20 

Worst 
performing 

Trust 
2019/20 

BSUH 
2018/19 

BSUH 
2017/18 

 

I 44.51 49.06 106.95 26.90 41.76 38.95 

Ii 0.07 0.15 0.55 0.01 0.04 0.07 

iii  22 39 183 1 13 20 

Iv 0.16 0.31 1.13 0.02 0.10% 0.17% 

Data 
Source 

NHS Improvement 
https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/organisation-patient-safety-incident-
reports-data/ 

Table based on latest available data April 2019 to March 2020 

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/c-difficile-infection-monthly-data-by-prior-trust-exposure
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/c-difficile-infection-monthly-data-by-prior-trust-exposure
https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/organisation-patient-safety-incident-reports-27-march-2019/
https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/organisation-patient-safety-incident-reports-27-march-2019/
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The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust considers that this data is as described 
for the following reasons the data is derived from the National Reporting and Learning System for 
patient safety incidents and a panel of consultants reviews this data weekly in order to ensure 
every incident is correctly graded in accordance with guidance issued by the National Patient 
Safety Agency. 

The Brighton and Sussex University Hospitals NHS Trust has taken the following actions to 
improve these scores, and so the quality of its services, by continually encouraging staff to support 
the development of individual specialist and incident type reporting pages to make it easier for staff 
to report incidents. As a consequence, despite a significant reduction in the number of incidents 
reported in the second half of March 2020, the number of incidents reported has risen from 12,196 
in 2018-19 to 13,743 in 2019-20. 

Additional note requested by auditors * There is no ‘correct’ or ‘safe’ number of patient safety 
incidents: a ‘low’ reporting rate should not be interpreted as a ‘safe’ organisation, and may 
represent under-reporting; a ‘high’ reporting rate should not be interpreted as an ‘unsafe’ 
organisation, and may represent a culture of greater openness. It is generally regarded as better to 
have a high rate and for this reason we have assigned the tag of best to the highest reporting rate.  
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Part 3: Other Information relevant to the quality of 
care.  
3.1 Other Quality Information 
The following section contains a listing of the projects planned in 2020-21, as discussed in section 
2.1 the majority of initiatives were suspended due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  
Patient Safety 
Elimination of severe pressure ulcers  
Pressure ulcers are caused when an area of skin and the tissues below it are damaged, as a result 
of being placed under pressure sufficient enough to impair its blood supply.  

All patients are potentially at risk of developing a pressure ulcer. However, they are more likely to 
occur in people who are seriously ill, have a neurological condition, impaired mobility or impaired 
nutrition. Also, the use of equipment such as seating or beds which are not specifically designed to 
provide pressure relief can cause pressure ulcers.  

A recent National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) funded programme of study found that 
patients reported pressure ulcer pain as their most distressing symptom, and pain at pressure 
areas was experienced prior to pressure ulcer manifestation, and that patient's reports of pain were 
ignored by nurses. The study also found that severe pressure ulcers were more likely to develop in 
contexts where clinicians failed to listen to patients/carers or recognise/respond to high risk or the 
presence of an existing pressure ulcer, and also in services which were not effectively co-
ordinated.  

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) notes that significant savings could 
be made by reducing the number of people who develop pressure ulcers, as treating them involves 
a longer and more costly hospital stay. The estimated cost of treatment for this cohort of patients is 
£6m in 2017-18. £1.2m for acquired pressure ulcer damage and £4.8m for patients admitted with 
pressure ulcers. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic no 
objectives were set for 2020/21 for this 
initiative. 

N/A Whilst no targets were established 
pressure ulcers were continually 
monitored and reviewed during 
2020/21, and the rate of acquired 
pressure ulcers was 1.09 per 1000 
bed days, exactly the same rate as 
in 2019-20. 

 
 

Falls prevention  
Patient falls are ubiquitous; in 2009-10 over 1,400 falls were reported at BSUH. Their frequency 
makes them the norm not the exception, and in being the norm, they can appear to be part of a 
patient’s journey to rehabilitation, or part of their deterioration into frailty.  

Since 2009-10, the Falls Prevention Programme has reduced the rate of falls in BSUH by 48% and 
has sustained this improvement over 5 years. To date, it’s estimated that the project has prevented 



36 

over 5200 inpatient falls. In 2017 NHS Improvement published ‘The Incidence and costs of 
inpatient falls in hospital’, this document estimated that the average cost of an inpatient falls was 
£2600 as a result of potentially prolonged hospital stay, diagnostic and surgical and non-surgical 
interventions. Based on this estimate the falls project has produced a saving in excess of £13.5m. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic no 
objectives were set for 2020/21 for this 
initiative. 

N/A Whilst no targets were established 
falls were continually monitored 
and reviewed during 2020/21. The 
programme on falls, which is now 
in its 10th year, was recognised in a 
number of national publications 
during the past year – the British 
Journal of Nursing, NHE Digital 
and the Nursing Standard. During 
2020-21 the adult inpatients falls 
rate was 3.71 falls per 1000 bed 
stay days, which was marginally 
higher than the previous year’s rate 
of 3.68. The last available national 
data for falls reported a rate of 6.6 
falls per 1000 bed days. 

 

Improving the care of patients with venous thromboembolism  
Venous thromboembolism (VTE) is a leading cause of death and disability in the UK. It is a 
condition in which a blood clot forms, most often in the deep veins of the leg, groin or arm (known 
as a deep vein thrombosis or DVT) and travels in the circulation, lodging in the lungs (known as a 
pulmonary embolism or PE). This initiative was designed to undertake a baseline assessment of 
current performance and improve the governance arrangements for reporting hospital associated 
VTE. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic no 
objectives were set for 2020/21 for this 
initiative. 

N/A Whilst no targets were established 
VTE rates were continually 
monitored and reviewed during 
2020/21. During the past 12 
months the VTE team has 
conducted 198 root cause analysis 
investigations and identified 8 
preventable incidents of VTE’s. 

 

Screening and treatment of iron deficiency anaemia in patients listed for 
major elective blood loss surgery  
NICE guidance illustrates the importance of offering iron before surgery to patients with iron-
deficiency anaemia. This project focuses on the importance of screening and treatment in line with 
that guidance.  
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Improved compliance with the guidance would reduce blood transfusion rate for major blood loss 
surgeries and reduce the occurrence of patient safety risks associated with blood transfusion 
including fluid overload, infection and incorrect blood transfusions being given.  

Overall, it is estimated that consistent uptake of screening to 60% would deliver savings of around 
£3m associated with units of blood being saved due to lower transfusion rates, reductions in critical 
care periods, saved bed days and reductions in admission rates. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Ensuring that 60% of major elective blood 
loss surgery patients are treated in line with 
NICE Guideline (NG) 24. 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 panademic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators. 

 
Supporting the anti-microbial resistance agenda by better targeting the 
usage of Antifungals  

This project supports “system-wide improvement, surveillance, infection prevention and control 
practice, and antimicrobial stewardship” by better targeting the usage of antifungals.  

Antifungal spend is in excess of £80 million per year, with inappropriate spend estimated at £11 to 
£25 million. 

In line with World Health Organisation (WHO) estimates on a worldwide build-up of resistance, the 
costs associated with treating patients who have developed fungal resistance will increase rapidly.  

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

75%-90% of patients to have been treated 
by approved anti-fungals as per local 
guidelines, and to have been reviewed 
appropriately by an antifungal stewardship 
team within 7 days. 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 panademic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators. 
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Effectiveness 
Improving care for the deteriorating patient – Sepsis 
Sepsis, a syndrome of physiologic, pathologic, and biochemical abnormalities induced by infection, 
is a major public health concern, accounting for more than 52,000 deaths in the UK in 2018. 
Problems in achieving consistent recognition and rapid treatment are thought to contribute to the 
number of preventable deaths from sepsis every year. 

National contract requirements, outlined in the previous CQUIN framework, aimed to embed a 
systematic approach for prompt identification and appropriate treatment of life-threatening 
infection.  

For 2020/2021 a deteriorating patient CQUIN was planned which would focus on the recording of 
NEWS2 score, escalation time and response time for critical care admissions. The NEWS2 
protocol is evidence based best practice for identifying the signs of deterioration in a patient, 
alongside clinical judgement. Considerable work has been delivered across the country over the 
past few years to improve the identification and treatment of acute illness. Over the past two years 
this work has drawn attention to the importance of timely escalation. This project aimed to improve 
consistency in the recording and response to deterioration across the country, thus enabling swifter 
response, which would in turn reduce the rate of cardiac arrests and the rate of preventable 
deaths. This project is expected to deliver up to a 5% reduction in both length of stay and cardiac 
arrest rate, and a 2% reduction in mortality for this cohort of patients. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Achieving 60% of all unplanned critical care 
unit admissions from non-critical care wards 
of patients aged 18+, having a NEWS2 
score, time of escalation and time of clinical 
response recorded. 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 panademic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators.  
The sepsis project work stream 
continued to be monitored through 
the Deteriorating Patient Steering 
Group (DPSG) which was held 
sporadically over the year, 
progress included pushing the 
screening and reporting of sepsis 
through the use of Patientrack 
(electronic patient observation 
system).  
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Improving care for the deteriorating patient – Acute Kidney Injury 
When your kidneys stop working suddenly, over a very short period of time (usually two days or 
less), it is called acute kidney injury (AKI). AKI is usually diagnosed with a blood test to measure 
your levels of creatinine, a chemical waste product produced by the muscles. If there's a lot of 
creatinine in your blood, it means your kidneys are not working as well as they should. The severity 
of AKI is described by categorising it into three stages, with stage 1 being the least severe and 
stage 3 being the most severe. 

AKI is very serious and requires immediate treatment. It normally happens as a complication of 
another serious illness. This type of kidney damage is usually seen in older people who are unwell 
with other conditions and the kidneys are also affected. 

It's essential that AKI is detected early and treated promptly. Without quick treatment, abnormal 
levels of salts and chemicals can build up in the body, which affects the ability of other organs to 
work properly. If the kidneys shut down completely, this may require temporary support from a 
dialysis machine, or lead to death 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic no 
objectives were set for 2020/21 for this 
initiative. 

N/A Despite no formal targets being set 
for 2020/21, the AKI project work 
stream continued to be monitored 
through the Deteriorating Patient 
Steering Group (DPSG) which was 
held sporadically over the year.  
Progress included working on how 
we would alert Critical Care 
Outreach Teams and GPs about 
AKI; Plans to write SIM scenarios 
for areas with higher patient safety 
incidents involving AKI; looking at 
the potential for Critical Care 
Outreach Team (CCOT) to help 
ease the workload in renal; looking 
at the potential to use IT and the 
education of all healthcare workers 
in reducing the prevalence of AKI. 

 
Reduction in surgical site infections  
A surgical site infection (SSI) is an infection that occurs after surgery in the part of the body where 
the surgery took place. SSI’s can sometimes be superficial infections involving the skin only. 
Others are more serious and can involve tissue under the skin, organs, or implanted material. 

Currently the trust is mandated to undertake surveillance of SSI’s for four orthopaedic procedures. 
This initiative is aimed at expanding the scope of the surveillance programme in collaboration with 
the National ‘Getting it Right First Time’ (GIRFT) programme. It has been designed to undertake a 
baseline assessment of current trust performance and improve the governance arrangements for 
reporting SSI’s. In addition, antibiotic surgical prophylaxis in colorectal surgery was introduced as a 
new national CQUIN in 2019/20.  

 

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/blood-tests/
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Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Implement findings from GIRFT Surgical 
Site Infection Survey 

N/A Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the 
GIRFT work streams were 
intermittently placed on hold and 
our regional GIRFT manager 
redeployed until June 2021.  

 
Reducing mortality  
There are approximately 1600 deaths occurring in BSUH every year. For many people, death 
under the care of the NHS is an inevitable outcome and they experience excellent care. However, 
some patients experience poor care resulting from a variety of factors. The purpose of reviewing 
deaths is to identify areas for improvement so we can learn and provide better care for future 
patients.  

This initiative is designed to implement the National Learning from Deaths Guidance and BSUH 
Learning from Deaths Policy, and to establish improved governance structures around mortality 
reviews. 

The aim of this work stream has been the implementation and embedding of the National 
Guidance on Learning from Deaths and also to be at the forefront of the national Medical Examiner 
programme.  

In March 2019, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) published ‘a review of the first year of NHS 
trusts implementing the national guidance’. The review identified five factors to help trusts put the 
guidance into practice: 

• values and behaviours that encourage engagement with families and carers 
• clear and consistent leadership 
• a positive, open and learning culture 
• staff with resources, training and support 
• positive working relationships with other organisations 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
no objectives were set for 
2020/21 for this initiative. 

N/A Despite no formal targets being set 
for 2020/21, the reducing mortality 
project work stream continued to 
be monitored through the Trust 
wide Mortality Review Group 
(TMRG). Although standardised 
mortality ratio’s like HSMR and 
SHMI are not designed to model 
pandemic activity, mortality rates 
have been continuously monitored 
during the past 12 months. A 
review of mortality in 2020 
highlighted that:  
• 1547 patients died in BSUH 

during 2020, of these 234 
(15%) died within 28 days 
of having a positive swab 
for Covid-19 
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• The annual number of 
deaths in 2020 was lower 
than the previous five years 
with 53 fewer deaths in 
2020 compared to 2019. 

• The number of deaths in 
March and April were 
higher than predicted and 
the rate of crude mortality 
was also higher in these 
months. 

• Deaths in July and October 
were lower than predicted. 

• The proportion of male 
deaths as a result of Covid-
19 was statistically 
significantly high at 63%.  

• 65% of the Covid-19 deaths 
occurred in patients aged 
80 or above, this compares 
to 55% of the non Covid-19 
deaths. 

• In total 140 patients died in 
the first wave of Covid-19. 

• In the 12 months to 
December 20 the rolling 
SHMI was 108.3. 

• In the 12 months to January 
21 the rolling HSMR was 
96.3. 

 
Improving the quality of care of people at the end of life  
The 2018 National Audit of Care at the End of Life (NACEL) focussed on the quality and outcomes 
of care experienced by those in their last hospital admission throughout England and Wales.  

Professor Bee Wee, the National Clinical Director for End of Life Care, stated that “this important 
National Clinical Audit will shine a light on the care that dying people receive in acute, community 
and mental health hospitals. We need to work hard to constantly improve the experience of people 
at the end of their lives, as well as those who matter the most to them. I would strongly encourage 
all trusts to participate.”  

BSUH participated in this audit, which monitored progress against the five priorities for care as set 
out in the ‘One Chance to Get It Right’ report and in NICE Quality Standards around the last year 
of life. These priorities included recognising and communicating about dying; sensitive 
communication; involvement in decisions around care; meeting the needs of loved ones; and 
ensuring an individualised care plan. 

The trust is continuing with this quality improvement work in end of life care. The aim being to:  
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Improve the quality of care for people at the end of life in acute hospitals.  

Increase the opportunity to identify those patients who may benefit from a treatment escalation 
plan (TEP), and to ensure that the wishes of patients and those around them are taken into 
account. This plan may include a palliative and supportive approach, advance care planning and 
handover of key information between healthcare providers (which may reduce unwanted 
readmission and avoidable harm.) 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Embed the process of improving 
and measuring the 5 priorities of 
care.  
Data from the following sources to 
be triangulated to inform the 
improvement process: 

• Rolling case note audit 
• Responses to the bereaved 

carer’s survey 
• Percentage of patients with 

a TEP documented 
• Percentage of patients with 

an Individualised Care Plan 

N/A Despite no formal targets being set for 
2020/21, the quality improvement work 
in end of life care continued to be 
monitored through the Deteriorating 
Patient Steering Group (DPSG) which 
was held sporadically over the year. The 
rolling case note audit was continued; 
Covid mortality reviews were introduced, 
this is the review of patients who 
contracted Covid in hospital and sadly 
died. The reviews performed so far 
provide assurance in terms of the care 
given to these patients; End of life care 
symptom observation chart and alerting 
via Patientrack piloted at RSCH.  

 

Rapid rule out protocol for ED patients with suspected acute myocardial 
infraction (excluding STEMI)  
Since 2014, NICE has recommended the use of high sensitivity troponin assays in conjunction with 
early rule out protocols for acute myocardial infarction in people with chest pain. This project aims 
to raise awareness of the protocol and will lead to improvements in appropriate same day 
discharge, reductions in length of stay and overall patient experience. It is predicted that improved 
compliance could lead to overall national benefits upwards of £20m.  
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Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Achieving 60% of Emergency 
Department  admissions with 
suspected acute myocardial 
infarction for whom two high-
sensitivity troponin tests have 
been carried out in line with 
NICE recommendations. 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 panademic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators. 

 
Appropriate antibiotic prescribing for urinary tract infections (UTI) in 
adults aged 16+ years 
There is well established NICE and Public Health England guidance for the appropriate prescribing 
of antibiotics to treat UTI’s, including pyelonephritis and catheter associated infection (CAUTI). 
Improving the diagnosis and management of UTI’s, including review of catheter use, will reduce 
treatment failure, the risk of healthcare associated bacteraemia, and reduce the associated length 
of stay.  

In particular, better prescribing will improve the diagnosis and treatment of the estimated 38,000 
hospital associated CAUTI’s which lead to a further 2,500 catheter associated blood stream 
infections (CABSI) each year. CAUTI’s incur 46,000 excess bed days and 1,500 deaths each year. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Achieving 60% of all antibiotic 
prescriptions for UTI in patients 
aged 16+ years that meet NICE 
guidance for diagnosis and 
treatment. 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 panademic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators. 
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Treatment of community acquired pneumonia (CAP) in line with British 
Thoracic Society (BTS) care bundle  
The management of CAP, especially in association with winter pressures planning, has been a 
priority across the NHS for many years. 

The care bundle, published by the BTS and aligned with NICE guidelines, sets out the discreet 
steps that providers need to follow and requires no additional investment or complex pathway 
changes. Adherence to this care bundle will reduce 30 day mortality, reduce length of stay (by up 
to 1 day according to estimates by the national team) and improve patient experience. Delivery will 
help to lessen the burden that pneumonia places on acute providers, which is currently associated 
with a spend of £765m and approximately 29,000 deaths each year. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Achieving 70% of patients with 
confirmed community acquired 
pneumonia to be managed in 
concordance with relevant steps 
of BTS CAP Care Bundle. 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators. 

 

Patient Experience 
Frequent attenders in the ED – High intensity users service  
Frequent attenders make up a significant percentage of all attendances. Consistent findings from 
cohort studies show that ‘frequent attenders’ to Accident and Emergency (A&E) Departments tend 
also to be frequent users of other health and social care facilities. Additionally, they tend to have a 
higher triage category, greater rates of admission, and a greater burden of chronic disease, when 
compared to matched groups1 

Between 2017 and 2019, BSUH collaborated on a CQUIN project to improve services for people 
with mental health needs who present to A&E. This project involved mental health and acute 
hospital providers working together with other partners to ensure that people presenting at A&E 
with primary or secondary mental health/underlying psychosocial needs have these needs met 
more effectively, through an improved, integrated community service offer, with the result that 
attendances at A&E are reduced.  

                                                           
1 Frequent Attenders in the Emergency Department – Best Practice Guideline – The Royal College of 
Emergency Medicine - August 2017 
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Following on from this, BSUH implemented a High Intensity Users (HIU) Service to broaden the 
impact of the work of the CQUIN, and apply a multi-agency approach to frequent users to A&E 
(with any diagnosis).  

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
no objectives were set for 
2020/21 for this initiative. 

N/A N/A 

 

Cirrhosis and fibrosis tests for alcohol dependent patients  
In 2016/17, more than 50,000 liver admissions were unplanned and avoidable. Improved cirrhosis 
testing will increase the number of liver disease diagnoses, which in time may change patient 
behaviour and ensure more effective treatment improving the prospects of recovery whilst 
supporting a reduction in the burden that liver disease places on the NHS.  

This project reviews whether effective screening programmes and interventions are in place for 
those drinking at ‘at risk’ levels. This indicator focuses on improved uptake of cirrhosis tests.  

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 

Achieving 35% of all unique 
inpatients (with at least one-
night stay) with a primary or 
secondary diagnosis of alcohol 
dependence who have an order 
or referral for a test to diagnose 
cirrhosis or advanced liver 
fibrosis 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 panademic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators. 

 

Case finding patients who are living with Hepatitis C (HCV) and may not 
be engaged in treatment/aware of their infection to contribute to the 
elimination of the disease by 2025  
Many of the patient groups most affected by HCV are not in regular contact with healthcare 
services and experience significant health inequalities. This project will support the NHS 
commitment to achieve HCV elimination ahead of the World Health Organisation (WHO) target of 
2030 and be the first country in the world to do so.  

Finding and treating patients who are not aware of their HCV infection improves long term 
prognosis for patients and prevents onward transmission. 

Targets set for 2020/21 Status Narrative 
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Co-ordination of Operational 
Delivery Networks to work 
towards Hepatitis C elimination 
by delivering an out of hospital-
based HCV Programme, liaising 
with stakeholders such as 
prisons, probation services, 
community pharmacies, drug 
and alcohol services, GPs and 
patient groups to identify, test 
and engage people living with 
HCV. 

N/A Due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
the operation of CQUINs (both 
CCG and specialised) for Trusts 
was suspended for the period from 
April 2020 to March 2021; 
providers were therefore not 
required to take action to 
implement CQUIN requirements, 
nor carry out CQUIN audits or 
submit CQUIN performance data. It 
should be noted that this approach 
applied to both the CCG and PSS 
CQUIN schemes, inclusive of all 
nationally mandated, and locally 
agreed indicators. 
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Annex 1: Statements from commissioners, local 
Healthwatch organisations and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees 
Sussex and East Surry Clinical Commissioning Groups 
See attached document  

Healthwatch Brighton and Hove  
Because of the impact of COVID-19 on the production of this year’s Quality Accounts there is not 
the normal expectation that there will be comments provided on the content of this year’s report 
and a response from Healthwatch is pending. 
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Annex 2 – Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
for the Quality Account 
The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009, National Health Service (Quality Accounts) 
Regulations 2010 and National Health Service (Quality Account) Amendment Regulation 2011, to 
prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.  

  



49 

Annex 3 –Assurance Report on Quality 
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF BRIGHTON AND 
SUSSEX UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS NHS TRUST ON THE ANNUAL QUALITY ACCOUNT 

Because of the impact of COVID-19 on the production of the Quality Accounts the routine external 
auditor assurance has been suspended this year.  

Based on work undertaken during 2020/21 the Head of Internal Audit has stated in their Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion that they “are able to provide moderate assurance that there is a sound 
system of internal control, designed to meet the Trust’s objectives and that controls are being 
applied consistently” 
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Glossary of terms and acronyms  

Care Bundle A set of interventions that, when used together, significantly improve patient 

outcomes. 

Care Quality Commission (CQC) An independent regulator responsible for monitoring and 
performance measuring all health and social care services in England.  

Clinical Audit The process by which clinical staff measure how well the Trust performs against 
agreed standards. Action plans for improvement are often based on the findings of an audit. 

Clinical Pathways The standardisation of care practices to reduce variability and improve outcomes 
for patients.  

Clostridium Difficile (C.Diff) A form of bacteria that is present naturally in the gut of around 2/3s of 
children and 3% of adults. On their own they are harmless, but under the presence of some 
antibiotics they will multiply and produce toxins (poisons) which cause illness such as diarrhoea 
and fever. At this point, a person is said to be infected with C. difficile.  

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) The CQUIN framework supports improvements 
in the quality of services and the creation of new, improved patterns of care. 

Datix A web-based clinical incident reporting and risk management software for healthcare and 
social care organisations.  

Friends and Family Test (FFT) The FFT is an important feedback tool that supports the 
fundamental principle that people who use NHS services should have the opportunity to provide 
feedback on their experience.  

Governance The systems and processes by which health bodies lead, direct and control their 
functions in order to achieve organisational objectives and by which they relate to their partners 
and wider community.  

Information Governance (IG) Information Governance allows organisations and individuals to 
ensure that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively, in order to 
deliver the best possible care.  

IG Toolkit The Information Governance Toolkit is an online system which allows NHS organisations 
and partners to assess themselves against Department of Health Information, Governance policies 
and standards. It also allows members of the public to view information of participating 
organisations.  

IRIS The Trusts e-learning site 

Major Trauma Centre (MTC) A network of 22 new centres throughout the UK, specialising in 
treating patients who suffer from major trauma.  

Microguide The local medical guidance app for clinicians 

Mortality Review A process in which the circumstances surrounding the care of a patient who died 
during hospitalisation are systematically examined to establish whether the clinical care the patient 
received was appropriate, provide assurance on the quality of care and identify learning, plans for 
improvement and pathway redesign where required. 
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National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) NCEPOD assists in 
maintaining and improving standards of healthcare for adults and children by reviewing the 
management of patients and by undertaking confidential surveys and research. 

National Early Warning Score (NEWS) NEWS is a tool developed by the Royal College of 
Physicians which improves the detection and response to clinical deterioration in adult patients and 
is a key element of patient safety and improving patient outcomes. NEWS2 is the updated version 
of this tool. 

National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) The National Institute for Health and 
Clinical Excellence provides independent, authoritative and evidence-based guidance on the most 
effective ways to prevent, diagnose and treat disease and ill health, reducing inequalities and 
variation.  

National Reporting and Learning System (NRLS) The National Reporting and Learning System 
(NRLS) is a central database of patient safety incident reports. Clinicians and safety experts help 
analyse these reports to identify common risks and opportunities to improve patient safety. 

PatientTrack The software used by the Trust as an electronic observation solution to replace the 

paper process of recording vital signs (e.g. temperature, heart rate), calculating the Early Warning 

Score (EWS) and automatically alerting for a clinical response when required.  

Root Cause Analysis (RCA) RCA is a process designed for use in investigating and categorising 
the root causes of events. When incidents happen, it is important that lessons are learned across 
the NHS to prevent the same incident occurring elsewhere. RCA investigation is a well-recognised 
way of doing this.  

Serious Incidents (SIs) Something out of the ordinary or unexpected. It is an incident – or a series 
of incidents – that, if left unattended, may pose a risk to service users or the health and safety of 
staff, visitors and others.  

Structured Judgement Mortality Review The SJR review methodology has been validated and 
used in practice within a large NHS region. It is based upon the principle that trained clinicians use 
explicit statements to comment on the quality of healthcare in a way that allows a judgement to be 
made that is reproducible. 
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